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Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale of the securities to the
public: As soon as practicable after this Registration Statement becomes
effective.

If the securities being registered on this Form are being offered in connection
with the formation of a holding company and there is compliance with General
Instruction G, check the following box. |_|

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant
to Rule 462 (b) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the
Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective
registration statement for the same offering. |[_|

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462 (d) under
the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act
registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement

for the same offering. |_|

Calculation of Registration Fee

Title of each class of Proposed maximum Proposed maximum
securities to be Amount to be offering price per aggregate offering
registered registered (1) unit price (2) s
Common Stock, par value 257,670 N/A $3,422,494

$.01 per share

1. The maximum number of shares of common stock of Salisbury Bancorp, Inc.
issuable to shareholders of Canaan National Bancorp, Inc. upon
consummation of the merger of Canaan National Bancorp, Inc. with and into
Salisbury Bancorp, Inc.

2. Estimated pursuant to Rule 457 (f) (2) under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, based on the aggregate book value on March 31, 2004 of the shares
of Canaan National Bancorp, Inc. common stock expected to be exchanged in
connection with the merger and computed by multiplying (a) the book wvalue
of Canaan National Bancorp, Inc. common stock on March 31, 2004, 2004 by
(b) 192,708, representing the maximum number of shares of Canaan National
Bancorp, Inc. common stock expected to be exchanged in connection with the
merger. Calculated by multiplying (a) the proposed maximum aggregate
offering price for all securities to be registered, $9,434,984, less the
estimated amount of cash to be paid by Salisbury Bancorp, Inc. in
connection with the merger, $6,012,490, by (b) $126.70 per million.

The Registrant hereby amends this Registration Statement on such date or dates
as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the Registrant shall file
a further amendment which specifically states that this Registration Statement
shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the
Securities Act of 1933 or until the Registration Statement shall become
effective on such date as the Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8 (a),
may determine.

SALISBURY BANCORP, INC. CANAAN NATIONAL BANCORP, INC.
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5 Bissell Street 100 Main Street
Lakeville, CT 06039 Canaan, CT 06018
(860) 435-9801 (860) 824-5423
PROSPECTUS PROXY STATEMENT
The Boards of Directors of Salisbury Bancorp, Inc. ("Salisbury") and
Canaan National Bancorp, Inc. ("Canaan") each have approved an agreement and

plan of merger. This agreement provides that Canaan will merge into Salisbury,
subject to customary conditions such as shareholder and regulatory approvals.

If the merger takes place, you will receive a combination of 1.3371 shares
of Salisbury's common stock and $31.20 in cash for each share of Canaan common
stock you own, unless you exercise your dissenter's rights. As to the stock
received in the merger, in general we expect that for Federal income tax
purposes, Canaan shareholders will not have to recognize gain upon the merger.
Cash received for shares of Canaan common stock and in payment for fractional
shares of Salisbury common stock is typically fully taxable to the extent it
represents gain. Salisbury's common stock is traded on the American Stock
Exchange under the symbol "SAL".

This is a prospectus of Salisbury relating to its offering of up to
192,708 shares of Salisbury common stock to Canaan shareholders in the proposed
merger and a proxy statement of Canaan. This document contains important
information about Salisbury, Canaan, the merger and the conditions that must be
satisfied before the merger can occur. Please give all the information your
careful attention.

Your vote is very important. The merger agreement and the merger must be
approved by the holders of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of
Canaan's common stock. To vote your shares, you may use the enclosed proxy card
or attend the special shareholders meeting we will hold to allow you to consider
and vote on the merger. To approve the merger agreement, you MUST vote FOR the
proposal by following the instructions on the enclosed proxy card. If you do not
vote at all, that will, in effect, count as a vote against the proposal. We urge
you to vote FOR this proposal.

Gerard J. Baldwin
President and Chief Executive Officer
Canaan National Bancorp, Inc.

Salisbury's common stock has not been approved or disapproved by the
Securities and Exchange Commission, any state securities commission, nor have
they passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this proxy statement/prospectus.
Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense. The shares of
Salisbury common stock are not savings deposit accounts or other obligations of
any bank or savings association, and are not insured by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation or any other governmental agency.

The date of this proxy statement/prospectus is June , 2004
and first mailed to shareholders on June , 2004

THIS PROSPECTUS INCORPORATES IMPORTANT BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT
SALISBURY THAT IS NOT INCLUDED IN OR DELIVERED WITH THIS DOCUMENT. THIS
INFORMATION IS AVAILABLE WITHOUT CHARGE TO YOU IF YOU CALL OR WRITE TO JOHN F.
PEROTTI, PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, SALISBURY BANCORP, INC., 5
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BISSELL STREET, P.O. BOX 1868, LAKEVILLE, CONNECTICUT 06039, TELEPHONE (860)
435-9801. IN ORDER TO OBTAIN TIMELY DELIVERY OF DOCUMENTS YOU SHOULD REQUEST
INFORMATION AS SOON AS POSSIBLE, BUT NO LATER THAN JULY __, 2004.

CANAAN NATIONAL BANCORP, INC.
100 Main Street
Canaan, CT 06018

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF
SHAREHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON
July , 2004

A special meeting of shareholders of Canaan National Bancorp, Inc.
("Canaan") will be held on , 2004, at at
, Connecticut, for the following purposes:

1. To consider and vote on a proposal to approve and adopt the
agreement and plan of merger, dated as of November 17, 2003, by and
between Salisbury Bancorp, Inc. ("Salisbury") and Canaan, the merger

of Canaan into Salisbury and the other transactions contemplated by
the merger agreement, as described in the attached proxy
statement/prospectus.

2. To transact any other business that properly comes before the
special meeting, or any adjournments or postponements of the
meeting, including, without limitation, a motion to adjourn the
special meeting to another time and/or place for the purpose of
soliciting additional proxies in order to approve the merger
agreement and the merger or otherwise.

You are entitled to notice of and to vote at the special meeting or any
adjournments or postponements of the meeting only if you were a holder of record
of Canaan's common stock at the close of business on June , 2004.

Canaan's Board of Directors has determined that the merger is advisable
and is fair to and in the best interest of Canaan's shareholders, has approved
the merger agreement and the merger, and recommends that you vote to approve the
merger agreement and the merger.

The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of Canaan's common stock
outstanding on June ____, 2004 is required to approve the merger agreement and
the merger. The required vote of Canaan's shareholders is based on the total
number of shares of Canaan's common stock outstanding and not on the number of
shares which are actually voted. Not returning a proxy card, not voting in
person at the special meeting or abstaining from voting will have the same
effect as voting AGAINST the merger agreement and the merger.

If you hold Canaan common stock on the record date, you are entitled to
dissent from the merger under Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation
Law. A copy of this section is attached to the proxy statement/prospectus.

It is very important that your shares be represented at the special
meeting. Whether or not you plan to attend the special meeting, please complete,
date and sign the enclosed proxy card and return it as soon as possible in the
enclosed postage-paid envelope. A shareholder who executes a proxy may revoke it
at any time before it is exercised by giving written notice to Gerard J.
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Baldwin, President and Chief Executive Officer, by subsequently filing another
proxy or by attending the special meeting and voting in person.

By order of the Board of Directors

Gerard J. Baldwin
President and Chief Executive Officer

Canaan, Connecticut
June ____, 2004

Your vote is important. Please complete, sign, date and return your proxy card.
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iii
QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE MERGER

Q: Why are Salisbury and Canaan proposing the transaction?
A: Salisbury and Canaan have a shared commitment to providing exceptional

service to customers. Canaan believes that the proposed merger will enable
Canaan to align with a partner who will enhance the services available to
its customers without sacrificing the personal attention and dedication

that Canaan has always offered.

Q: What will I receive in the merger?

A: If the merger takes place, each share of Canaan common stock (other than
shares of dissenting shareholders) will be converted into a combination of

(i) 1.3371 shares of Salisbury common stock and (ii) $31.20 in cash

without interest. Salisbury will pay cash instead of issuing fractional

shares. However, if the price of Salisbury's common stock falls below

thresholds established in the merger agreement, Canaan may terminate the

merger unless Salisbury decides to increase the merger consideration.
Dissenting shares will be treated differently.

Q: What happens to my future dividends?

A: Before the merger takes place, Canaan expects to pay its regular quarterly
cash dividends on its common stock for the first fiscal quarter of 2004,
which currently is $0.18 per share, and a special dividend of $0.12 per

share. After the merger, any dividends will be based on what Salisbury

pays. Salisbury presently pays dividends at a quarterly dividend rate of
$0.24 per share of Salisbury common stock.

Q: How many votes are needed to approve the merger?

A: A majority of the outstanding shares of Canaan's common stock must vote in

favor of the merger agreement in order for it to be adopted and the merger

approved. Accordingly, the failure to vote on this proposal will have
same effect as a vote against the proposal.

Each of the directors of Canaan individually have entered into an

the

agreement with Salisbury to vote their shares of Canaan stock in favor of

the merger agreement and against any competing proposal. These
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shareholders hold approximately 8.43% of Canaan's outstanding common stock
as of June 1, 2004.

What do I need to do now?

Just indicate on the enclosed proxy card how you want to vote, and sign,
date and return it as soon as possible in the enclosed envelope. If you
sign and send in your proxy card and do not indicate how you want to vote,
your proxy card will be voted FOR approval of the merger agreement and the
merger. Not returning a proxy card, or not voting in person at the special
meeting or abstaining from voting, will have the same effect as voting
AGAINST the merger agreement and the merger.

You can choose to attend the special meeting and vote your shares in
person instead of completing and returning a proxy card. If you do
complete and return a proxy card, you may change your vote at any time up
to and including the time of the vote on the day of the special meeting by
following the directions on pages ____ and

Who can vote?

You are entitled to vote at the Canaan special meeting if you owned shares
of Canaan common stock at the close of business on June ___ , 2004. You
will have one vote for each share of Canaan common stock that you owned at
that time.

If my shares are held in street name by my broker, will my broker vote my
shares for me?

Your broker does not have discretion to vote your shares for you on the
proposal. Your broker will be able to vote your shares only if you provide
instructions on how to vote. You should instruct your broker to vote your
shares, following the directions your broker provides. Shares that are not
voted because you do not instruct your broker effectively will be counted
as votes against the merger.

Can I change my vote after I have mailed my signed proxy card?

Yes. There are three ways for you to revoke your proxy and change your
vote. First, you may send a written notice to Canaan stating that you
would like to revoke your proxy. Second, you may complete and submit a new
proxy card. Third, you may vote in person at the special meeting. If you
have instructed a broker to vote your shares, you must follow directions
received from your broker to change your vote.

When will the merger close?

The merger is expected to close as soon as possible after the receipt of
Canaan shareholder and regulatory approvals.

Should I send in my stock certificates now?
No. Please DO NOT send your stock certificates with your proxy card.
Rather, you should send your Canaan common stock certificates to the

exchange agent in accordance with instructions you will receive.

What needs to be done to complete the merger?

10
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A: Completion of the merger depends on a number of conditions being met. In
addition to compliance with the merger agreement, these include:

1. Approval of the merger agreement and merger by Canaan shareholders.
2. Approval of the merger by federal and state regulatory authorities.
3. Approval by the American Stock Exchange of listing of Salisbury's

common stock to be issued in the merger.

4. The absence of any injunction or legal restraint blocking the merger
or government proceedings trying to block the merger.

When the law permits, Salisbury or Canaan could decide to complete the
merger even though one or more of these conditions hasn't been met. We
can't be certain when, or if, the conditions to the merger will be
satisfied or waived, or that the merger will be completed.

Q: Whom can I call with questions or to obtain copies of this proxy
statement/prospectus and other documents?

A: Gerard J. Baldwin, President and Chief Executive Officer
Canaan National Bancorp, Inc.
100 Main Street
Canaan, CT 06018
telephone: (860) 824-5423

A copy of the merger agreement including each of its exhibits and the
other documents described in this proxy statement/prospectus will be
provided to you promptly without charge if you call or write to John F.
Perotti, President and Chief Executive Officer, Salisbury Bancorp, Inc., 5
Bissell Street, P.O. Box 1868, Lakeville, Connecticut 06039, telephone
(860) 435-9801. Such documents were also filed as exhibits to the
registration statement filed with the SEC to register the shares of
Salisbury's common stock to be issued in the merger. See "Where You Can
Find More Information."

SUMMARY

The following is a brief summary of information located elsewhere in this
document. It does not contain all of the information that is important to you.
Before you vote, you should give careful consideration to all of the information
contained in or incorporated by reference into this document to fully understand
the merger. See "Where You Can Find More Information" on page . Each item in
this summary refers to the page where that subject is discussed in more detail.

Material Federal Income Tax Consequences (page )

Salisbury will not be required to complete the merger unless it receives a legal
opinion to the effect that the merger will qualify as a "reorganization" for
United States federal income tax purposes. Canaan shareholders will receive both
Salisbury common stock and cash for their Canaan common stock and will generally
recognize gain equal to the lesser of (1) the amount of cash received and (2)
the excess of the "amount realized" in the transaction (i.e., the fair market
value of the Salisbury common stock at the effective time of the merger plus
amount of cash received), over their tax basis in their Canaan common stock.
Different tax consequences may apply to you because of your individual
circumstances or because special tax rules apply to you, for example, if you:

11
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o are a tax-—exempt organization;

o are a mutual fund;

o are a dealer in securities or foreign currencies;

o are a bank or other financial institution;

o are an insurance company;

o are a non-United States person;

o are subject to the alternative minimum tax;

o are a trader in securities who elects to apply a market-to-market method

of accounting;

o acquired your shares of Canaan's common stock from the exercise of options
or otherwise as compensation or through a qualified retirement plan;

o hold shares of Canaan's common stock as part of a straddle, hedge,
constructive sale or conversion transaction; or

o do not hold shares of Canaan's common stock as capital assets.

Tax matters are very complicated. You should consult your tax advisor for a full
explanation of the tax consequences of the merger to you.

Canaan Board Of Directors Recommend Approval (page )

The Canaan Board of Directors unanimously approved the merger agreement and the
merger and unanimously recommends that you vote FOR approval of these matters.

Canaan's Financial Advisor Says Consideration Is Fair, From a Financial Point of
View, to Canaan Shareholders (page )

In deciding to approve the merger, Canaan's Board of Directors considered the
opinion of HAS Associates, Inc., Canaan's financial advisor. The opinion
concluded that the proposed consideration to be received by the holders of
Canaan's common stock in the merger is fair to the shareholders from a financial
point of view. This opinion is attached as Appendix B to this document. We
encourage you to read this opinion carefully in order to completely understand
the assumptions made, matters considered and limitation of the review made by
HAS Associates in providing this opinion.

Dissenters' Appraisal Rights in the Merger (page )

Under Delaware law, you are entitled to dissenters' rights of appraisal in
connection with the merger. If you want to assert your appraisal rights, you
must follow carefully the procedures described at Appendix D, and summarized at
pages and of this document.

Differences in the Rights of Shareholders (page )

The rights of Canaan shareholders after the merger who continue as Salisbury
shareholders will be governed by the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of
Salisbury rather than the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of Canaan.
These rights will be governed by the laws of Connecticut, as the state of
Salisbury's incorporation, rather than the laws of Delaware, the state where
Canaan 1is organized.

12
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Canaan Management's Monetary Interest in the Merger (pages and )

At the close of business on June 1, 2004, excluding all options to purchase
Canaan common stock, Canaan's directors and executive officers and their
affiliates owned a total of 18,605 shares of Canaan's common

stock, which was approximately 10.48% of the total number of shares of Canaan's
commonstock that were outstanding on that date. Each of Canaan directors has
agreed to vote his or her shares in favor of the merger agreement and merger.

Some of Canaan's directors and executive officers may have interests in the
merger as directors and employees that may be different from yours as a Canaan
shareholder. These interests are described on page

Regulatory Approvals We Must Obtain For the Merger (page )

For the merger to take place, we need to receive the regulatory approvals of the
United States Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and the Connecticut Banking
Commissioner. We have filed applications with these regulators.

As of the date of this document, we have received approval from the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation and the Federal Reserve Bank. We cannot be certain
when or if we will obtain all other required approvals.

Termination of the Merger Agreement (page )

The merger agreement specifies a number of situations when Salisbury and Canaan
may terminate the agreement, which are described on page . The merger
agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the effective time by our
mutual consent and by either of us under specified circumstances, including if
the merger is not consummated by November 17, 2004, if we do not receive the
needed shareholder or regulatory approvals or if the other party breaches its
agreements. Canaan may terminate if Salisbury's common stock price falls below
thresholds set forth in the merger agreement and Salisbury does not increase the
exchange ratio pursuant to a prescribed formula.

Stock Option Agreement To Discourage Other Parties From Making Other Proposals
to Acquire Canaan (page )

In connection with the merger agreement, Canaan granted Salisbury a stock option
to purchase up to 48,000 shares of Canaan common stock at an exercise price of
$55.00. The stock option is intended to discourage other parties from making
alternative acquisition-related proposals to Canaan.

Information About the Special Meeting (page )

A special meeting of Canaan shareholders will be held on , 2004, at
at for the following purposes:
o to vote on the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions

contemplated by the merger agreement; and

o to address any other matters that properly come before the special
meeting, or any adjournments or postponements of the meeting, including a
motion to adjourn the special meeting to another time and/or place to
solicit additional proxies in favor of the merger agreement and the merger
or otherwise.

13
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The Companies Involved In The Merger (page

Salisbury Bancorp, Inc.
5 Bissell Street

P.O. Box 1868
Lakeville, CT 06039
(860) 435-9801

Salisbury is a Connecticut corporation and the holding company of Salisbury Bank

)

and Trust Company. Salisbury is headgquartered in Lakeville, Connecticut. At

December 31, 2003, Salisbury had total consolidated assets of $311.1 million,

total deposits of $218.5 million, and shareholders' equity of $28.9 million,

9.3% of total assets.

Canaan National Bancorp, Inc.
100 Main Street

Canaan, CT 06018

(860) 824-5423

Canaan is a Delaware corporation and the holding company of The Canaan National

Bank. Canaan is headquartered in Canaan, Connecticut. At December 31, 2003,

Canaan had total consolidated assets of $107 million,

million, and shareholders' equity of $8.4 million, or 7.8% of total assets.

SHARE INFORMATION AND MARKET PRICES

Salisbury's common stock is traded on the American Stock Exchange under

the trading symbol "SAL". Canaan's common stock is not traded on any market.

table below presents the per share closing prices of Salisbury's and Canaan's
common stock as of the dates specified and the equivalent per share price for
Canaan common stock. November 17, 2003 was the last trading date before public
announcement of the merger agreement. The equivalent price per share column is

calculated by valuing the Salisbury common stock at $36.85 per share,

multiplying this value by the estimated 257,670 shares of Salisbury common stock
being issued in the merger, and adding to this amount the estimated aggregate
cash consideration of $6,012,490. This total consideration is then divided by
the total number of shares of Canaan common stock outstanding plus options as

of November 17, 2003 (192,708 shares). For more information about the exchange

ratio and how it may be increased, see "The Merger - Merger Consideration,"
for more information about the stock prices and dividends of Salisbury and

Canaan, see "Market Prices and Dividends."

Salisbury's Canaan's
Date Common Stock Common Stock
November 17, 2003. ... eennnnen. $36.85 $48.00
June 2, 2004. ... . i e e, $38.00 S NA*
* No shares of Canaan's Common Stock have traded since November 17, 2003.

Canaan's shareholders are advised to obtain current market quotations for

Last Reported Sale Price

Salisbury's common stock. The market price of Salisbury's common stock will

total deposits of $75.1

Equivalent Per S
Data

$80.47
$82.01

14
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fluctuate between the date of this proxy statement/prospectus and the date on
which the merger takes place. No assurance can be given as to the market price
of Salisbury's common stock at the time of the merger, although Canaan may
terminate the merger agreement if Salisbury's common stock price falls below
certain thresholds and Salisbury does not increase the merger consideration
pursuant to a prescribed formula. See "The Merger -- Termination and Amendment
to the Merger Agreement."

Comparative Per Share Data

The following table shows historical information about net income per
share, cash dividends per share and book value per share, and similar
information reflecting the merger, which we refer to as "pro forma" information.
In presenting the comparative pro forma information for the time periods shown,
we assumed that we had been merged throughout those periods. The pro forma
information reflects the purchase method of accounting.

The information listed as "equivalent pro forma" was obtained by
multiplying the pro forma amounts by the exchange ratio of 1.3371 shares of
Salisbury common stock for each share of Canaan common stock.

We expect that we will incur merger and integration charges as a result of
combining our companies. We also anticipate that the merger will provide the
combined company with financial benefits that include reduced operating
expenses. These changes and benefits are not reflected in the pro forma data.
While helpful in illustrating the financial characteristics of the combined
company under one set of assumptions, the pro forma information does not reflect
these anticipated financial benefits and, accordingly, does not attempt to
predict or suggest future results. It also does not necessarily reflect what the
historical results of the combined company would have been had our companies
been combined. In addition, the pro forma information assumes that the cash used
as part of the consideration in the merger has a pre-tax cost of 5.00% and that
the combined entity has a tax rate of 25.80%. A price of $37.70 was used for
Salisbury Common Stock.

The information in the following table is based on, and you should read it
together with, the historical financial information that Salisbury has filed
with the SEC which is incorporated into this document by reference and which is
attached as Appendices D and E.

At or for the At or for the
Year Ended Quarter Ended
December 31, March 31,
2003 2004

Net Income per Common Share (Basic):

Salisbury - historical.............. $2.70 $0.75
Canaan - historical ................ 4.13 1.10
Pro Forma Combined ................. 2.58 0.72
Equivalent Pro Forma ............... 3.45 0.96
Net Income per Common Share (Diluted):
Salisbury - historical.............. 2.70 0.75
Canaan - historical................. 4.07 1.06
Pro Forma Combined.................. 2.58 0.72
Equivalent Pro Forma.............o... 3.45 0.96
Cash Dividends per Common Share:

Salisbury - historical............. 0.92 0.24
Canaan - historical................ 0.46 0.00
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Pro Forma Combined................. 0.92 0.24

Equivalent Pro Forma .............. 1.23 0.33
Book Value per Common Share:

Salisbury - historical............. 20.26 21.34

Canaan - historical................ 47.07 48.96

Pro Forma Combined................. 22.93 23.85

Equivalent Pro Forma .............. 30.66 31.89

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The tables below present summary historical financial and other data for
Salisbury and Canaan as of the dates and for the periods indicated. The summary
data for Salisbury is based on, and should be read in conjunction with,
Salisbury's historical consolidated financial statements and related notes which
are presented in its prior filings with the SEC, and which are incorporated by
reference into this document. For historical information, see "Where You Can
Find More Information." The summary data for Canaan is based on, and should be
read in conjunction with, Canaan's historical consolidated financial statements
and the notes thereto, which are included herein. All adjustments necessary for
a fair presentation of financial position and results of operations have been
included. All per share data of Salisbury and Canaan have been adjusted
retroactively to give effect to stock dividends and stock splits.

Selected Consolidated Financial and Statistical Data - Salisbury

(dollars in thousands except per share data)
At or For the Quarters

Ended March 31 At or For the Year
2004 2003 2003 2002
(unaudited)

Statement of Condition Data:
Loans, Net ..ttt i it eeeeennneeeenns $137,359 $139, 980 $139,563 $135,632 S1
Allowance For Loan LOSSES e renweennennn 1,708 1,480 1,664 1,458
INVEeSTMENES ittt ettt ettt eeennnns 167,559 154,810 147,021 138,435 1
Total ASSELS v ittt ittt ienneeeenneenns 327,763 311,043 311,100 293,107 2
DEePOSIES vttt i e e e e 218,569 208,732 218,457 211,037 2
BOTTOWINGS 4ttt ettt eeeeeeseeeeennnaeeenns 75,635 71,631 60,897 51,891
Shareholders' Equity ....oiiiiennnn.. 30,388 27,949 28,850 27,345
Nonperforming Assets ......ccuoiiieeeennnn. 814 1,112 685 1,400
Statement of Income Data:
Interest and Fees on LOANnNsS .....eeuuueen. $ 2,163 $ 2,287 $ 9,226 $ 9,677 $
Interest and Dividends on Securities

and Other Interest Income ..... 1,592 1,763 6,423 6,481
Interest EXPENSe .. iii it iineeeeeeeennnn 1,269 1,526 5,613 6,898
Net Interest Income ........iiueueeneenn.. 2,486 2,524 10,036 9,260
Provision for Loan LOSSES ....eueweenenennn. 60 37 313 300
Trust Department INCOME . ... euunnnn.. 354 290 1,252 1,100
Other TINCOmMEe .. ittt ittt ettt et eeennns 382 355 1,674 1,388
Net Gain (Loss) on Sales of Securities .. 356 337 1,058 634
Other EXPeNnSesS i it iiieeeeeeeeneeneeeens 2,077 2,042 8,599 7,775
Pre TaX INCOME vt v vt teeeeeeneeneneneenns 1,441 1,427 5,108 4,307
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INCOmME TaAXES v ittt ittt ittt ettt et
Net TNCOME .. v it ittt it ittt ittt e

Per Share Data:

Earnings per common share ...............

FEarnings per common share, assuming
dilution ........ciiiiiiiiii

Cash Dividends per share ................

Book Value (at period end) ..............

Tangible book value per common share

Selected Statistical Data:
Diluted weighted average shares (000's)
Return on Average Assets(l) .............
Return on Average Shareholders' Equity (1)
Dividend Payout Ratio ...........ooo.
Average Shareholders' Equity to Average
ASSELS it e e e
Net Interest Spread(l) .....c.eiieiieenn..
Net Interest Margin(l) .......coeeeeonn..
Nonperforming assets to total assets
Allowance for loan losses to total loans

(1) Annualized

369

$ 1,072

21.34
19.18

o Ur 0 U

1,424

1.37%
14.45%
32.00%

.38%
.31%
.70%
.25%
.23%

= O Ww Ww w

398

$ 1,029

19.64
17.43

r Ur 0 U

1,423
1.39%

16.24%

31.94%

.56%
.39%
.84%
.36%
.05%

= O W Ww o

Selected Consolidated Financial and Statistical Data - Canaan

(dollars in thousands except per share data)

Statement of Condition Data:

Loans, Net ...ttt ittt ittt ittt ennans
Allowance For Loan LOSSES .« eeveeereeennnn
Investments ... ... ittt
Total ASSELS vttt ittt ittt i e et e
DEepPOSItES it e e e e e e
BOXrOWINGgS & i vttt ettt ettt eee e
Shareholders' Equity .......iiiiiiniaa...
Nonperforming Assets (1) ...

Statement of Income Data:
Interest and Fees on Loans .........co...
Interest and Dividends on Securities

and Other Interest Income .....
Interest EXPEnse .. ...ttt it enenennn
Net Interest INCOME ... ..t iiininenennn
Provision for Loan LOSSES ....eueuweeeennn.
Other TNCOME ...ttt ittt ittt

At or For the Quarters
Ended March 31

2004 2003
(unaudited)

$ 56,451 $ 59,946
694 696
47,307 37,817
108,660 102,151
73,678 72,117
25,927 21,476
8,687 8,286
372 618
$ 957 $ 1,132
404 364
497 579
864 917
3 5
130 102

1,268

$ 3,840

20.26
18.09

U Ur 0 Ur

1,424

1.24%
13.47%
34.07%

.21%
.23%
.65%
.22%
.18%

= O Ww Ww w

$ 56,328
698
46,184
107,087
74,983
23,417
8,350
838

S 4,048

1,458
2,201
3,305

36
1,052

1,108

$ 3,199 $

2.25
0.88
19.21
16.99

r Ur 0 U
U Ur 0 U

R O W Ww ©
~J
N
o

At or For the Y

$ 60,111
680
36,691
103,435
72,935
21,874
8,274
840

S 4,540

1,587
2,644
3,483
70
575
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Net Gain (Loss) on Sales of Securities .. —— —— —— 68
Other EXPeNnSesS it tiiieeeeeeeeneneeenens 722 796 3,284 3,020
Pre TaxX INCOME &t vttt ittt enenenenenenns 269 218 1,037 1,036
INCOME TAXES 4 vttt it e e e eneeeeeeeeannns 74 50 311 297
Net TNCOME vt i ittt ettt et teeeeeeeeeneennn $ 195 S 168 $ 726 S 739
Per Share Data:
Earnings per common share ............... $ 1.10 S 0.96 $ 4.13 S 4.20
Earnings per common share, assuming

dilution .......iiiiiiiiiann $ 1.06 S 0.94 $ 4.04 S 4.13
Cash Dividends per share ................ $ 0.30 S 0.28 $ 0.46 S 0.43
Book Value (at period end) .............. S  48.96 S 47.26 S 47.07 S 47.14
Tangible book value per common share $ 48.96 S 47.26 S 47.07 S 47.14
Selected Statistical Data:
Diluted weighted average shares (000's) . 184 179 180 179
Return on Average Assets(2) .....oiieo.... 0.73% 0.65% 0.68% 0.72%
Return on Average Shareholders' Equity (2) 9.16% 8.12% 8.68% 9.32%
Dividend Payout Ratio .......iiuiuueeeenn.. 27.27% 29.17% 11.12% 10.30%
Average Shareholders' Equity to Average

ASSELS vttt e e e e 7.96% 8.04% 7.89% 7.76%
Net Interest Spread(2) .....c.oiiieeeennnn. 3.05% 3.43% 2.93% 3.11%
Net Interest Margin(2) .......eeeeeeeennn. 3.54% 3.90% 3.43% 3.66%
Nonperforming assets to total assets % % 0.78% 0.81%
Allowance for loan losses to total loans 1.22% 1.15% 1.22% 1.12%
(1) Includes nonaccrual loans, loans 90 days or more past due and still

accruing, troubled debt restructured loans and other real estate owned.

(2) Annualized.

SHAREHOLDER MEETING
Matters to be Considered at the Special Meeting

We are first mailing this document to the holders of Canaan's common stock

on or about June ___, 2004. It is accompanied by a proxy card furnished in

connection with the solicitation of proxies by the Canaan Board of Directors for

use at the special meeting of Canaan's shareholders on , 2004, at
, at . At the special meeting, the holders of

Canaan's common stock will consider and vote on:

o the proposal to approve and adopt the agreement and plan of
merger, dated as of November 17, 2003, by and between Salisbury and
Canaan, the merger of Canaan into Salisbury and the other
transactions contemplated by the merger agreement; and

o any other business that properly comes before the special meeting,
or any adjournments or postponements of the meeting, including,
without limitation, a motion to adjourn the special meeting to
another time and/or place for the purpose of soliciting additional
proxies in order to approve the merger agreement and the merger or
otherwise.
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Record Date and Voting

The Canaan Board of Directors has fixed the close of business on June __ ,
2004 as the record date for determining the Canaan shareholders entitled to
receive notice of and to vote at the special meeting. Only holders of record of
Canaan's common stock at the close of business on that day will be entitled to
vote at the special meeting or at any adjournment or postponement of the
meeting. At the close of business on June ____, 2004, there were 177,418 shares
of Canaan's common stock outstanding and entitled to vote at the special
meeting, held by 355 shareholders of record.

Each holder of Canaan's common stock on June __ , 2004 will be entitled to
one vote for each share held of record on each matter that is properly submitted
at the special meeting or any adjournment or postponement of the meeting. The
presence, in person or by proxy, of the holders of a majority of Canaan's common
stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote at the special meeting is
necessary to constitute a quorum. Abstentions and broker non-votes will be
included in the calculation of the number of shares represented at the special
meeting in order to determine whether a quorum has been achieved. Since approval
of the merger agreement requires the affirmative vote of the holders of at least
a majority of the shares of Canaan's common stock issued and outstanding,
abstentions and broker non-votes will have the same effect as a vote against the
merger agreement.

If a quorum is not obtained, or if fewer shares of Canaan's common stock
are voted in favor of the proposal for approval of the merger agreement than the
number required for approval, it is expected that the special meeting will be
adjourned to allow additional time for obtaining additional proxies. In that
event, proxies will be voted to approve an adjournment, except for proxies as to
which instructions have been given to vote against the merger agreement. The
holders of shares entitled to vote at the special meeting and present at the
special meeting shall have the power to adjourn the special meeting.

If your proxy card is properly executed and received by Canaan in time to
be voted at the special meeting, the shares represented by the proxy card will
be voted in accordance with the instructions marked on the proxy card. Executed
proxies with no instructions indicated on the proxy card will be voted FOR the
merger agreement and the merger.

The Canaan Board of Directors is not aware of any other matters that may
properly come before the special meeting. If any other matters properly come
before the special meeting, the persons named in the accompanying proxy will
vote the shares represented by all properly executed proxies on those matters as
determined by a majority of the Canaan Board of Directors.

You are requested to complete, date and sign the accompanying proxy form
and to return it promptly in the enclosed postage-paid envelope. To vote on the
merger agreement, you need to complete the proxy card properly and return it in
the enclosed envelope or attend the special meeting and vote in person.

You should not forward any stock certificates with your proxy card. If you
complete an election form, you should forward your Canaan stock certificates to
the exchange agent. If you do not complete an election form, if the merger takes
place, Canaan stock certificates should be delivered in accordance with
instructions that will be sent to you by Salisbury's exchange agent promptly
after the effective time of the merger.

Required Vote; Revocability of Proxies
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In order to approve and adopt the merger agreement, the merger of Canaan
National Bank and Salisbury Bank and the other transactions contemplated by the
merger agreement, the holders of at least a majority of the shares of Canaan's
common stock issued and outstanding on June ___, 2004, must affirmatively vote
FOR the merger agreement and the merger.

The required vote of Canaan's shareholders is based on the total number of
outstanding shares of Canaan's common stock and not on the number of shares
which are actually voted. Not returning a proxy card, not voting in person at
the special meeting and abstaining from voting will have the same effect as
voting AGAINST the merger agreement and the merger.

All of the directors and executive officers of Canaan beneficially owned
as of June 1, 2004, excluding all options to purchase shares of Canaan's common
stock, a total of 18,605 shares of Canaan's common stock, which was
approximately 10.48% of the outstanding shares of Canaan's common stock on that
date. All directors, who collectively held approximately 8.43% of the
outstanding shares of Canaan on that date, have agreed to vote their shares in
favor of the merger agreement and the merger.

If you submit a proxy card, attending the special meeting will not
automatically revoke your proxy. However, you may revoke a proxy at any time
before it is voted by:

o delivering to Gerard J. Baldwin, President and Chief Executive
Officer, Canaan National Bancorp, Inc., 100 Main Street, Canaan,
Connecticut 06018, a written notice of revocation before the special
meeting;

o delivering to Canaan a duly executed proxy bearing a later date

before the special meeting; or
o attending the special meeting and voting in person.

Simply attending the special meeting without voting will not automatically
revoke your proxy.

Canaan and Salisbury cannot complete the merger unless, among other
things, the merger agreement and the merger are approved by the affirmative vote
of the holders of at least a majority of the shares of Canaan's common stock
issued and outstanding on May ___, 2004. For a description of the conditions to
the merger, see "The Merger —-- Conditions to the Merger."

Solicitation of Proxies

In addition to solicitation by mail, directors, officers and employees of
Canaan may solicit proxies for the special meeting from shareholders personally
or by telephone or telecopier without receiving additional compensation for
these activities. The cost of soliciting proxies will be paid by Canaan. Canaan
also will make arrangements with brokerage firms and other custodians, nominees
and fiduciaries to send proxy materials to their principals and will reimburse
those parties for their expenses in doing so.

10

THE MERGER

The information in this section is qualified in its entirety by reference
to the full text of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of November 17,
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2003, a copy of which is attached to this proxy statement/prospectus as Appendix
A and which is incorporated by reference into this document.

The Parties

Salisbury and Canaan have entered into an agreement and plan of merger.
Under this agreement, Salisbury will acquire Canaan through the merger of Canaan
into Salisbury.

Salisbury

Salisbury, through its subsidiary, Salisbury Bank, delivers financial
services to individuals, families and businesses located primarily in Litchfield
County, Connecticut and Dutchess and Columbia Counties, New York. Salisbury Bank
provides business and consumer banking, asset-based lending, mortgage lending,
trust, investment and insurance services through 4 banking offices in Litchfield
County, Connecticut and 4 ATMs.

At December 31, 2003, Salisbury had total consolidated assets of $311.1
million, total deposits of $218.5 million, and shareholders' equity of $28.9
million or 9.3% of total assets. At that date, Salisbury also had loans
receivable, net, of $139.6 million. At that date, Salisbury's allowance for loan
losses was $1.7 million, or 273% of nonperforming loans and 1.2% of total loans.
For additional information about Salisbury that is incorporated by reference
into this document, see "Incorporation of Documents by Reference."

Salisbury, as a bank holding company, is regulated by the Board of
Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the "FRB"). Salisbury Bank, as a
Connecticut bank and trust company, is regulated by the Connecticut Department
of Banking and to some extent by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the
"FDIC") .

Canaan

Canaan's subsidiary, Canaan National Bank ("Canaan Bank"), is a full
service commercial bank and offers the services generally performed by
commercial banks of similar size and character, including checking, savings and
time deposit accounts, safe deposit boxes, secured and unsecured personal and
commercial loans, residential and commercial real estate loans and letters of
credit. Canaan Bank operates out of its main office in Canaan, Connecticut and
one branch office in Great Barrington, Massachusetts.

At December 31, 2003, Canaan had total consolidated assets of $107.1
million, total deposits of $75.0 million, and shareholders' equity of $8.4
million or 7.8% of total assets. At that date, Canaan also had loans receivable,
net of $56.3 million. At that date, Canaan's allowance for loan losses was $.7
million, 83.3% of nonperforming loans and 1.2% of total loans. For additional
information about Canaan, see "Information Regarding Canaan."

Canaan, as a bank holding company, 1is regulated by the FRB. Canaan Bank,
as a national bank, the deposits of which are insured by the FDIC, is regulated
by both the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (the "OCC") and the FDIC.

Background of the Merger

Many of the officers, directors and employees of Canaan and Salisbury know
and respect one another and their respective institutions. At various times
throughout at least the past twenty (20) years, there have been occasional
communications between officers or directors of Salisbury and Canaan regarding
the potential for combining the institutions. However, until the events leading
to the pending transaction, such occasional informal inquiries did not result in
any discussions regarding the potential terms or structure for such a possible
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combination.

11

Richard Cantele, an executive officer of Salisbury, and Jody Law, an
executive officer and director of Canaan until March, 2003, have known each
other for more than 30 years through a wide range of community activities and
personal and professional interests. In late 2002, Mr. Law and Mr. Cantele
initially informally discussed the possibility of working together, including
Mr. Law potentially joining the Salisbury organization, which had recently
acquired a full service branch office in North Canaan. During late December 2002
and early January 2003, Mr. Cantele and Mr. Law had several informal discussions
regarding the Salisbury organization and areas in which Mr. Law might further
strengthen the Salisbury franchise.

On January 16, 2003, Mr. Law informed Mr. Baldwin, President and Chief
Executive Officer of Canaan, of his assessment of Salisbury and the fact that he
was considering joining Salisbury. Mr. Baldwin and Mr. Law discussed these
issues and then arranged a meeting with Mr. Cantele and John Perotti, President
and Chief Executive Officer of Salisbury, to explore the potential of combining
the organizations.

At such meeting on January 19, 2003, the four executives discussed how the
organizations might be combined in ways which would benefit the shareholders of
each and which might result in a stronger franchise with greater resources to
serve the financial needs of their customers throughout an expanded geographic
area. At that meeting, they reached a consensus that they would report to their
respective Boards their personal recommendations that such a combination be
explored in order to see if a transaction could be structured on mutually
beneficial terms.

Thereafter, the management and Boards of each institution conferred with
their respective legal counsel and executed Confidentiality Agreements. After
engaging financial advisors, the institutions exchanged preliminary due
diligence request lists and, throughout February and early March, the advisors
and the parties endeavored to quantify the probable costs, savings and benefits
to a potential combination. Following meetings involving the executive
management and financial and legal advisors regarding these issues, each Board
reached a consensus that it would be in the best interest of each institution to
proceed with more formal due diligence and explore the potential for negotiation
of a combination on terms which would be beneficial to the shareholders of each
institution.

In March 2003, the executive management of both institutions met to
discuss the potential savings which could reasonably be expected to be derived
from the combination and communicated their issues to their Boards. On March 17,
2003, Salisbury provided Canaan with a non-binding expression of its interest.
Following a Board meeting, Canaan informed Salisbury that in light of the
parties inability to agree regarding the costs and savings of a potential
combination, no reasonable agreement regarding the transaction would be
possible, and each should go their separate ways. Following a telephone
conversation between Jean R. Perotti and John R.H. Blum, the Chairpersons of the
Board of each institution, Salisbury met with its financial advisors to explore
the strategies for reducing the uncertainties associated with the anticipated
cost savings of the transactions. The most significant of these uncertainties
involved the range of potential change in control expenses which could be
incurred depending upon the number of Canaan employees who would join the
resulting institution. In addition, the Board of both institutions directed
their legal counsel to prepare and submit information to the federal bank
supervisory agencies and the Department of Justice regarding the substantial
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absence of any prohibited anti-competitive effect for the proposed combination.

Subsequently, each Board met with their executive management team, legal
counsel and financial advisors to discuss the benefits and obstacles to
proceeding. The proximity of the two franchises and the extent to which they
overlap presented potential benefits, but also raised issues with respect to the
potential competitive effects in the market area. These issues were evaluated by
each organization with legal counsel and informally discussed with federal bank
supervisory agencies. In May 2003, counsel for both institutions met with
representatives of the Federal Reserve Bank of Boston to discuss issues
regarding the relevant geographic market for measuring the competitive impact of
the transaction. In response to such meeting, further analysis was prepared and
submitted by legal counsel to federal bank supervisory agencies and the
Department of Justice for each institution and the relevant geographic market
for assessing the competitive impact of the transaction was determined to be the
Metropolitan Banking Market.

During July and August 2003, after the parties and their legal counsel had
verified that the transaction would not be considered to be anti-competitive,
the parties worked to determine the staffing needs of the resulting institution
and how the employees of both institutions would be integrated into the
resulting institution, as well as the reasonably foreseeable costs and savings
associated with the transaction. Initial drafts of the documents were discussed
by the Salisbury legal counsel and financial advisors with executive management.
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Draft documents were reviewed by Canaan and its advisors in late August
and September. Issues regarding the opportunities and staffing of the resulting
institution, the cost of change in control expenses for many Canaan employees
and the amount and nature of consideration which would be appropriate to make
the transaction beneficial to the shareholders of each institution were raised
and discussed by the advisors and representatives of each institution.

In early November 2003, the Board of each institution and their advisors
and legal counsel focused attention regarding the amount and balance of the cash
and stock consideration which could be consistent with the objectives of each
entity. On November 17, 2003, each entity met with their legal and financial
advisors and the final price and mixture of cash and stock consideration was
negotiated. The financial advisors of each entity advised their respective
Boards that the terms of the agreement were fair to the shareholders from a
financial point of view and the Board of each institution, after considering
relevant factors, determined that the transaction was in the best interests of
their respective institutions and shareholders, customers and employees and the
communities which they serve. Definitive agreements were executed on November
17, 2003. A press release announcing the merger agreement was issued on November
18, 2003.

Recommendation of the Canaan Board of Directors and Reasons for the Merger

The Board of Directors of Canaan has approved the merger agreement and has
determined that the merger is fair to and in the best interests of Canaan and
its shareholders. Canaan's Board of Directors believes that the merger will
enable holders of Canaan's common stock to realize increased value due to the
premium over Canaan's market price and book value per share offered by
Salisbury. The Board of Directors also believes that the merger may enable
Canaan shareholders to participate in opportunities for appreciation of
Salisbury's common stock. In reaching its decision to approve the merger
agreement, the Board of Directors consulted with its outside counsel regarding
the legal terms of the merger and the Board of Directors' fiduciary obligations
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in its consideration of the proposed merger, its financial advisor, HAS

Associates,

Inc., regarding the financial aspects and fairness of the proposed

merger agreement, as well as with the management of Canaan. Without assigning
any relative or specific weight, Canaan's Board of Directors considered the
following factors, which are all the material factors considered, both from a
short-term and long-term perspective:

o

Canaan Board of Directors' familiarity with, and review of, the
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects
of Canaan, including, but not limited to, its potential growth,
development, productivity and profitability and the business risks
associated with the merger;

The current and prospective environment in which Canaan operates,
including national and local economic conditions, the highly
competitive environment for financial institutions, the increased
regulatory burden on financial institutions, and the trend toward
consolidation in the financial services industry;

The potential appreciation in market and book value of Canaan's
common stock on both a short- and long-term basis as a stand-alone
entity;

The merger consideration to be paid to Canaan shareholders in
relation to market value, book value and earnings per share of
Canaan common stock;

Information concerning Salisbury's business, financial condition,
results of operations, asset quality and prospects, including the
long-term growth potential of Salisbury's common stock, the future
growth prospects of Salisbury combined with Canaan following the
proposed merger, the potential synergies expected from the merger
and the business risks associated with the merger;

The fact that the cash/stock combination feature of the merger
consideration offers Canaan shareholders both the opportunity to
participate in the growth and opportunities of Salisbury through the
stock component and to realize cash for the value of their shares
through the cash component;

The oral presentation of HAS Associates, Inc. that the terms of the
merger agreement are fair to the holders of Canaan's common stock
from a financial point of view;
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The advantages and disadvantages of Canaan remaining an independent
institution or affiliating with a larger institution;

The short- and long-term interests of Canaan and its shareholders,
the interests of the employees, customers, creditors and suppliers
of Canaan, and the interests of Canaan's communities, all of which
can be served to advantage by an appropriate affiliation with a
larger institution with increased economies of scale and with a
greater capacity to serve all of the banking needs of the community;
and

The compatibility of the businesses and management philosophies of
Canaan and Salisbury, and Salisbury's strong commitment to the
communities it serves.
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On the basis of these considerations, the merger agreement was unanimously
approved by Canaan's Board of Directors.

Purpose and Effects of the Merger

The purpose of the merger is to enable Salisbury to acquire the assets and
business of Canaan through the merger of Salisbury Bank and Canaan Bank. After
the merger, it is expected that Canaan's main office will be consolidated with
Salisbury's Canaan office and Canaan's South Egremont office will remain open
and will be operated as a banking office of Salisbury Bank.

Salisbury expects to achieve reductions in the current operating expenses
of Canaan upon the consolidation of Canaan's operations into Salisbury. Upon
completion of the merger, except as discussed below, the issued and outstanding
shares of Canaan's common stock will automatically be converted into the merger
consideration. See "Merger Consideration."

Structure

Canaan will merge into Salisbury, with Salisbury as the surviving
corporation. When the merger takes place, except as discussed below, each issued
and outstanding share of Canaan's common stock will be converted into the right
to receive cash and shares of Salisbury's common stock based on the merger
consideration, as described below. Cash will be paid instead of fractional
shares of Salisbury common stock. Shares of Canaan's common stock held as
treasury stock or held directly or indirectly by Canaan, Salisbury or any of
their subsidiaries, other than trust account shares and shares related to a
previously contracted debt, will be canceled and shall cease to exist.

Salisbury and Canaan expect that the merger will take place in the fourth
quarter of 2004, or as soon as possible after all required regulatory and
shareholder approvals are received and all regulatory waiting periods expire. If
the merger does not take place by November 17, 2004, the merger agreement may be
terminated by either party unless both parties agree to extend it.

Merger Consideration

The merger agreement provides that at the effective time of the merger,
except as discussed below, each outstanding share of Canaan's common stock
automatically will be converted into the right to receive a combination of (i)
1.3371 shares of Salisbury's common stock and (ii) $31.20 in cash, representing
a value of $76.10 per share of Canaan common stock based on the average closing
price of Salisbury's common stock for the 30 consecutive trading days prior to
November 17, 2003, the date the agreement and plan of merger was executed.
However, if the price of Salisbury's common stock falls below thresholds set
forth in the merger agreement, Canaan may terminate the merger unless Salisbury
decides to increase the 1.3371 exchange ratio, which would result in Salisbury
issuing more shares of its common stock to complete the merger. See
"--Termination and Amendment of the Merger Agreement."

Any shares of Canaan's common stock held as treasury stock and any shares
held directly or indirectly by Canaan, Salisbury or any of their subsidiaries,
other than trust account shares and shares related to a previously contracted

debt, will be canceled. If, prior to the effective time, Salisbury should split
its common stock, or pay a
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dividend or other distribution in its common stock, then the exchange ratio will
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be adjusted to reflect the split, combination, dividend or distribution.

Certificates for fractions of shares of Salisbury's common stock will not
be issued. Instead of a fractional share of Salisbury's common stock, a Canaan
shareholder will be entitled to receive an amount of cash equal to the fraction
of a share of Salisbury's common stock to which the shareholder would otherwise
be entitled multiplied by the average of the daily closing prices per share for
Salisbury's common stock for the 15 consecutive trading days on which shares of
Salisbury's common stock are actually traded as reported on the American Stock
Exchange ending on the third trading day before the closing date of the merger.

The conversion of Canaan's common stock into merger consideration will
occur automatically upon completion of the merger. Under the merger agreement,
after the effective time of the merger, Salisbury will cause its exchange agent
to pay the "purchase price" to each Canaan shareholder who surrenders the
appropriate documents to the exchange agent. In this document, we use the term
"purchase price" to refer to the (i) shares of Salisbury's common stock (ii)
cash and (iii) any cash to be paid instead of a fraction of a share of
Salisbury's common stock, payable to each holder of Canaan's common stock.

Surrender of Stock Certificates

Salisbury will deposit with the exchange agent the certificates
representing Salisbury's common stock and cash to be issued to Canaan
shareholders in exchange for Canaan's common stock. As soon as practicable after
the completion of the merger, the exchange agent will mail to Canaan
shareholders a letter of transmittal, together with instructions for the
exchange of their Canaan stock certificates for the merger consideration. Upon
surrendering his or her certificate(s) representing shares of Canaan's common
stock, together with the signed letter of transmittal, the Canaan shareholder
shall be entitled to receive, as applicable (i) certificate(s) representing a
number of whole shares of Salisbury's common stock determined in accordance with
the exchange ratio, (ii) a check representing the amount of cash to which such
holder shall have become entitled and (iii) a check representing the amount of
cash in lieu of fractional shares, if any. Until you surrender your Canaan stock
certificates for exchange after completion of the merger, you will not be paid
dividends or other distributions declared after the merger with respect to any
Salisbury common stock into which your shares have been converted. No interest
will be paid or accrued to Canaan shareholders on the cash consideration, cash
instead of fractional shares or unpaid dividends and distributions, if any.
After the completion of the merger, there will be no further transfers of common
stock. Canaan stock certificates presented for transfer after the completion of
the merger will be canceled and exchanged for the merger consideration.

If your stock certificates have been lost, stolen or destroyed, you will
have to prove your ownership of these certificates and that they were lost,
stolen or destroyed before you receive any consideration for your shares. Upon
request, the exchange agent will send you instructions on how to provide
evidence of ownership.

If any certificate representing shares of Salisbury's common stock is to
be issued in a name other than that in which the certificate for shares
surrendered in exchange is registered, or cash is to be paid to a person other
than the registered holder, it will be a condition of issuance or payment that
the certificate so surrendered be properly endorsed or otherwise be in proper
form for transfer and that the person requesting the exchange either:

o pay to the exchange agent in advance any transfer or other taxes
required by reason of the issuance of a certificate or payment to a
person other than the registered holder of the certificate
surrendered, or
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o establish to the satisfaction of the exchange agent that the tax has
been paid or is not payable.

Any portion of the purchase price made available to the exchange agent
that remains unclaimed by Canaan shareholders for six months after the effective
time of the merger will be returned to Salisbury. Any Canaan shareholder who has
not exchanged shares of Canaan's common stock for the purchase price in
accordance with the merger agreement before that time may look only to Salisbury
for payment of the purchase price for these shares and any unpaid dividends or
distributions after that time. Nonetheless, Salisbury, Canaan, the exchange
agent or any other person will not be liable to any Canaan shareholder for any
amount properly delivered to a public official under applicable abandoned
property, escheat or similar laws.

15

Options

As of the record date, there were outstanding options to purchase 15,290
shares of Canaan's common stock at a weighted average exercise price of $39.40
per share. Under the merger agreement, shares of Canaan's common stock issued
before the merger takes place upon the exercise of outstanding Canaan options
will be converted into the merger consideration. Each Canaan option that is
outstanding and unexercised immediately before the effective time shall
terminate and expire and thereafter shall be of no effect or value.

Regulatory Approvals

For the merger of Salisbury and Canaan to take place, we must receive
approvals of the FRB, the FDIC and the Connecticut Commissioner of Banking. In
this section, we refer to these approvals as the "required regulatory
approvals."

Salisbury Bank filed with the FDIC and the Connecticut Banking
Commissioner applications for approval of the merger of Salisbury Bank and
Canaan Bank. We refer to that merger in this section as the "bank merger". The
bank merger is subject to the approval of the FDIC under the Bank Merger Act
provisions of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act and related FDIC regulations.
The FDIC approved the merger on February 27, 2004. These approvals required
consideration by the FDIC of various factors, including assessments of the
competitive effect of the contemplated transaction, the managerial and financial
resources and future prospects of the resulting institution, the effectiveness
of the institutions involved in combating money laundering, and the effect of
the contemplated transaction on the convenience and needs of the communities to
be served. The Community Reinvestment Act of 1977, commonly referred to as the
"CRA", also required that the FDIC, in deciding to approve the bank merger, to
assess the records of performance of Salisbury Bank and Canaan Bank in meeting
the credit needs of the communities they serve, including low- and
moderate—-income neighborhoods. Both Salisbury Bank and Canaan Bank currently
have an "outstanding" CRA rating. The FDIC approval is subject to the following
conditions: (1) that all necessary and final approvals have been obtained from
the Connecticut Banking Department; (2) that the transaction shall not be
consummated before the fifteenth (15) calendar day following the effective date
of the FDIC's approval or later than six (6) months after the date of the FDIC's
approval, unless such period is extended for good cause; and (3) that until the
proposed transaction becomes effective, the FDIC has the right to alter,
suspend, or withdraw its approval, if warranted. In addition, commencement of an
antitrust action would stay the effectiveness of any approval granted by the
FDIC unless a court specifically orders otherwise. Since the Department of
Justice did not start a legal action during the waiting period, it may not

27



Edgar Filing: SALISBURY BANCORP INC - Form S-4

challenge the transaction afterward, except in an action under Section 2 of the
Sherman Antitrust Act.

On April 30, 2004, the Connecticut Banking Commissioner approved the
merger of Salisbury Bank and Canaan Bank. In making this determination, the
Connecticut Commissioner reviewed and considered, among other things, whether
the investment and lending policies of Salisbury Bank and Canaan Bank are
consistent with safe and sound banking practices and will benefit the economy of
the State, whether the services or proposed services of Salisbury Bank are
consistent with safe and sound banking practices and will benefit the economy of
the State, the competitive effects of the transaction, and whether the financial
and managerial resources of Salisbury and Salisbury Bank are adequate. The
Connecticut Commissioner also reviewed the records of Salisbury Bank and Canaan
Bank under the CRA.

Salisbury has also filed a Notification on Form FR Y-3N with the Federal
Reserve Bank of Boston pursuant to Section 3(a) (5) of the Bank Holding Company
Act in connection with Salisbury's acquisition of Canaan. On April 9, 2004, the
Federal Reserve Board approved the acquisition of Canaan by Salisbury, subject
to the approval of the Connecticut Department of Banking of the proposed
transaction. In reviewing Salisbury's Notification, the Federal Reserve Board
reviewed the effect of the transaction on the Banking Market of Salisbury and
Canaan, the effect of the transaction on the convenience and needs of the
communities to be served and the actions being taken by Salisbury to improve CRA
performance of Salisbury Bank. In addition, Salisbury's Board of Directors was
required to submit a Certification that the transaction met certain criteria set
forth in 12 C.F.R. ss.225.14(c).

Salisbury and Canaan are not aware of any other material governmental
approvals that are required for the merger or the bank merger to take place that
are not described above. If any other approval or action is required, we expect
that we would seek the approval or take the necessary action.
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Conditions to the Merger

Under the merger agreement, Salisbury and Canaan are not required to
complete the merger unless the following conditions are satisfied:

o the merger agreement is not terminated on or before the effective
time of the merger;

o the merger agreement and the merger are approved by the affirmative
vote of the holders of at least a majority of the outstanding shares
of Canaan's common stock entitled to vote at the special meeting;

o Salisbury's common stock to be issued in the merger (including stock
which may be issued upon the exercise of stock options) is
authorized for trading on the American Stock Exchange;

o all required regulatory approvals are obtained and remain in full
force and effect, all statutory waiting periods related to these
approvals expire, and none of the regulatory approvals or statutory
waiting periods contain a non-customary provision that materially
alters the benefits for which Salisbury bargained in the merger
agreement;

o the registration statement (of which this prospectus is a part)
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission to cover the
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shares of Salisbury's common stock to be issued in the merger is
effective and is not subject to a stop order or any initiated or
threatened stop order;

o no order, injunction or decree preventing the merger from taking
place is in effect and the completion of the merger continues to be
legal;

o a favorable tax opinion from Salisbury's counsel that is reasonably

satisfactory to Salisbury and Canaan shall have been received; and

o Salisbury has received an opinion from Shatswell, MacLeod & Company,
P.C. that the merger will be accounted for as a purchase
transaction.

Salisbury is not required to complete the merger unless the following
additional conditions are satisfied or waived:

o the representations and warranties of Canaan contained in the merger
agreement are true and correct in all material respects as of the
date of the merger agreement and as of the effective time of the
merger;

o Canaan performs in all material respects all covenants and
agreements contained in the merger agreement to be performed by
Canaan by the effective time;

o Canaan obtains the consents, approvals or waivers of other persons
that are required to permit Salisbury to succeed to any obligations,
rights or interests of Canaan under any agreement, except where the
failure to obtain consents, approvals or waivers would not have a
material adverse effect on Salisbury;

o no proceeding initiated by any governmental entity seeking an
injunction preventing the merger from taking place is pending;

o no changes, other than changes contemplated by the merger agreement,
in the business, operations, condition, assets or liabilities of
Canaan or any of its subsidiaries occur that have or would have a
material adverse effect on Canaan;

o Salisbury receives an opinion of counsel to Canaan as of the date of
the merger as to customary matters;

o Salisbury receives appropriate assurance that Canaan's obligations
pursuant to the Canaan ESOP are fully satisfied, that all action has
been taken to terminate the ESOP and that there are no unfunded
obligations with respect to the ESOP or any other Canaan benefit
plan; and

o Salisbury receives waivers from 8 officers of Canaan waiving their
rights under the Canaan change in control plan.
17
Canaan is not required to complete the merger unless the following
additional conditions are satisfied or waived:

o the representations and warranties of Salisbury contained in the
merger agreement are true and correct in all material respects as of
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the date of the merger agreement and as of the effective time of the
merger;

o Salisbury performs in all material respects all covenants and
agreements contained in the merger agreement required to be
performed by it by the effective time;

o Salisbury obtains the consents, approvals or waivers of other
persons that are required in connection with the transaction
contemplated by the merger;

o no proceeding initiated by any governmental entity seeking an
injunction preventing the merger from taking place is pending;

o there shall have been no material adverse change with respect to
Salisbury; and

o Canaan receives an opinion of counsel to Salisbury as of the date of
the merger as to customary matters, including the authorization and
validity of the Salisbury common stock to be issued in the merger.

Conduct of Business Pending the Merger

The merger agreement contains various restrictions on the operations of
Canaan before the effective time of the merger. In general, the merger agreement
obligates Canaan to continue to carry on its businesses in the ordinary course
consistent with past practices and with prudent banking practices, with specific
limitations on the lending activities and other operations of Canaan. The merger
agreement prohibits Canaan from:

o declaring any dividends or other distributions on its capital stock,
other than a regular quarterly cash dividend in the first quarter of
$0.18 per share and a special dividend of $0.12 per share on
Canaan's common stock and dividends by any Canaan subsidiary to

Canaan;
o splitting, combining or reclassifying any of its capital stock;
o issuing, authorizing or proposing the issuance of any securities,

other than the issuance of additional shares of Canaan's common
stock upon the exercise or fulfillment of rights or options issued
or existing under Canaan's stock option plan in accordance with
their present terms;

o repurchasing, redeeming or otherwise acquiring any shares of
Canaan's capital stock;

o amending its certificate of incorporation or bylaws;

o making capital expenditures aggregating in excess of $5,000;
o entering any new line of business;

o acquiring an equity interest in the assets of other business

organizations except in connection with foreclosures, settlements or
troubled loan restructurings, or in the ordinary course of business
consistent with prudent banking practices;

o taking any action that would result in any of its representations or
warranties in the merger agreement becoming untrue or would result
in a violation of the merger agreement or the related agreements;
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changing its methods of accounting in effect at December 31, 2002,
except as required by changes in regulatory or generally accepted
accounting principles;

adopting or amending any employment agreements between Canaan or its
subsidiaries and their current or former officers, employees and
directors;

increasing compensation or benefits of any employee or director not
required by any plan or agreement;
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entering into, modifying or renewing any agreement or arrangement
providing for the payment to any director, officer or employer of
compensation or benefits;

hiring any new employee;

promoting any employee to a rank of assistant vice president or
higher;

paying any retention payment to any employee;

incurring any indebtedness for borrowed money or assuming the
obligations of a third party, except for Federal Home Loan Bank
borrowings in the ordinary course consistent with past practices;

selling, opening or closing any banking or other office;

making any equity investments in real estate or real estate
development project, other than in connection with foreclosures or
settlements in lieu of foreclosures or troubled loan restructurings,
in the ordinary course of business consistent with past banking
practices;

making any new loans or modifying the terms of any existing loans
with any affiliated person of Canaan, except consistent with past
practices;

making any investment, or incurring deposit liabilities, other than
in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

purchasing any loans or selling, purchasing or leasing any real
property other than consistent with past practices;

originating any loans except in accordance with existing lending
policies of Canaan Bank, unsecured consumer loans in excess of
$15,000 or commercial business loans or commercial real estate loans
in excess of $800,000 as to any loan or $1,000,000 in the aggregate
as to related loans or to loans to related persons or land
acquisition loans in excess of the lesser of 60% of the appraised
value or $150,000;

except consistent with past practices, making any investment in an
equity, debt or derivative security issued or guaranteed by an
entity exempt from federal, state or local taxation;

engaging in any forward commitment, futures transaction, financial
options transaction, hedging or arbitrage transaction or covered
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trading activities or making an investment in any investment
security with a maturity of more than one year;

o selling or purchasing any mortgage loan servicing rights; or
o agreeing to do any of the above.
Third Party Proposals

Under the merger agreement, Canaan generally may not authorize or permit
any of its officers, directors, employees or agents to solicit, initiate or
encourage any inquiries relating to any third party proposal relating to a
tender offer or exchange offer, acquisition of a substantial equity interest in
or acquisition of a substantial portion of the assets of or any merger or
consolidation with Canaan (an "Acquisition Transaction"). There is also a
prohibition against holding substantive discussions or negotiations and
providing confidential information regarding an Acquisition Transaction.
Nevertheless, the Canaan Board of Directors may disregard these restrictions if,
based on advice of counsel, it reasonably determines in the exercise of its
fiduciary duty that this kind of information must be furnished and discussions
and negotiations must be entered into.

Expenses; Breakup Fee

The merger agreement generally provides that all costs and expenses
incurred in connection with the merger agreement and the transactions
contemplated by the merger agreement shall be paid for by the party incurring
such expense. However, if the merger agreement is terminated by Salisbury or
Canaan as a result of a material breach of a representation, warranty, covenant
or other agreement contained in the merger agreement by the other party, or is
terminated by Salisbury as a result of Canaan's failure to hold the special
meeting within a specified time period, the

19

merger agreement provides for the non-terminating party to pay all documented
reasonable expenses of the terminating party up to $400,000. In the event the
merger agreement is terminated by Salisbury due to Canaan's shareholders not
having approved the merger agreement and any director, officer, 5% or greater
shareholder or affiliate of Canaan publicly communicated opposition to the
merger or otherwise acts to influence the vote against the merger, Canaan shall
pay all documented, reasonable costs of Salisbury up to $400,000, plus a breakup
fee of $500,000. In the event the merger agreement is terminated by Salisbury or
Canaan due to the other party's willful material breach of a representation,
warranty, covenant or other agreement contained in the merger agreement, the
breaching party shall pay all documented reasonable costs of the other party up
to $400,000, plus a breakup fee of $500,000. In the event the merger agreement
is terminated by Salisbury because Canaan has agreed to enter any acquisition
transaction other than the transaction contemplated by the merger agreement,
Canaan shall also pay all documented reasonable costs of Salisbury up to
$400,000, plus a breakup fee of $500,000.

Fairness Opinion of HAS Associates, Inc.

HAS Associates, Inc. ("HAS") was retained by Canaan as its financial
advisor based on its qualifications and experience in the financial analysis of
banking and financial service firms. HAS was also chosen because of its
knowledge of the Connecticut and New England banking industries. In the
preceding two years, HAS provided services to Canaan, including providing advice
on branch location and valuation analysis, for which it received compensation of
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approximately $4,320.

HAS has delivered to the Canaan Board its written opinion, as of November
17, 2003, and reconfirmed such opinion as of the date of this Proxy
Statement-Prospectus, that the financial terms of the transaction with Salisbury
are fair, from a financial point of view, to the shareholders of Canaan. The
full text of the opinion of HAS, which sets forth assumptions made, matters
considered and limits on the review undertaken by HAS, is attached hereto as
Appendix B. Canaan shareholders are urged to read the opinion in its entirety.
HAS's opinion is directed only to the valuation by Canaan of the Salisbury price
per share and does not constitute a recommendation to any holder of Canaan
common stock as to how such holder should vote at the Canaan special meeting.
The summary of the opinion of HAS set forth in this Proxy Statement-Prospectus
was provided by HAS and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full
text of the opinion itself. HAS's opinion was necessarily based upon conditions
as they existed and should be evaluated on the date thereof and the information
made available to HAS through the date hereof.

In order to determine the financial fairness of the terms of the proposed
merger, HAS reviewed, analyzed and relied upon material relating to the
financial and operating conditions of Canaan including, among other things, the
following: (i) the Agreement; (ii) Annual Reports to Stockholders for the three
years ended December 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002, of Canaan; (iii) certain interim
reports to stockholders and Quarterly Reports of Canaan and certain other
communications from Canaan to its stockholders; (iv) other financial information
concerning the business and operations of Canaan furnished to HAS by Canaan for
purposes of its analysis, including certain internal financial analyses and
forecasts for Canaan prepared by the senior management of Canaan; (v) certain
publicly available information concerning the trading of, and the trading market
for, the Common Stock of Canaan; (vi) audit reports of Canaan for three years;
(vii) regulatory filings of Canaan for three years; (viii) Canaan policies and
procedures, certain loan files, its investment portfolio; and (ix) certain
publicly available information with respect to banking companies and the nature
and terms of certain other transactions that HAS considered relevant to its
inquiry. In addition, HAS reviewed certain market information concerning Canaan,
analyzed data concerning private and publicly owned banks in New England,
reviewed stock market data of other banks generally deemed comparable whose
securities are publicly traded, publicly available information concerning
certain recent business combinations, and such additional financial and other
information as HAS deemed necessary. Furthermore, HAS reviewed the same type of
financial information available concerning Salisbury. In addition, HAS reviewed
certain internal reports and documents including loan lists grouped by risk
rating, past due and non-accrual loan reports, internal watch list loan
relationship reports, restructured loan reports, OREO and ISF reports, loan loss
reserve analysis reports, audited financial statements (most recent three
years), regulatory reports (most recent three years), 2002 operating results,
securities portfolio-book value and market value reports, and schedule of
threatened or pending litigations. HAS also held discussions with senior
management concerning their past and current operations, financial condition and
prospects, as well as the results of regulatory examinations.
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In connection with rendering its opinion of November 17, 2003, HAS
performed a variety of financial analyses, consisting of those summarized below.
The summary set forth below does not purport to be a complete description of the
analyses performed by HAS in this regard, although it describes all material
analyses performed by HAS. The preparation of a fairness opinion involves
various determinations as to the most appropriate and relevant methods of
financial analysis and the application of these methods to the particular
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circumstances and, therefore, such an opinion is not readily susceptible to a
partial analysis or summary description.

Accordingly, notwithstanding the separate factors summarized below, HAS
believes that its analyses must be considered as a whole and that selecting
portions of its analyses and factors considered by it, without considering all
analyses and factors, or attempting to ascribe relative weights to some or all
such analyses and factors, could create an incomplete view of the evaluation
process underlying HAS' opinion.

In performing its analyses, HAS made numerous assumptions with respect to
industry performance, general business and economic conditions and other
matters, many of which are beyond the control of Canaan, Salisbury and HAS. The
analyses performed by HAS are not necessarily indicative of actual values or
future results, which may be significantly more or less favorable than suggested
by such analyses. Such analyses were prepared solely as part of HAS' analysis of
the fairness to the shareholders of Canaan of the Conversion Ratio and were
provided to the Canaan Board in connection with the delivery of HAS' opinion.
HAS gave the various analyses described below approximately similar weight and
did not draw any specific conclusions from or with regard to any one method of
analysis. With respect to the comparison of selected companies' analysis and the
analysis of selected merger transactions summarized below, no company utilized
as a comparison is identical to Canaan or Salisbury.

Accordingly, an analysis of comparable companies and comparable business
combinations is not mathematical; rather it involves complex considerations and
judgments concerning the differences in financial and operating characteristics
of the companies and other factors that could affect the public trading values
or announced merger transaction values, as the case may be, of the companies
concerned. The analyses do no purport to be appraisals or to reflect the process
at which Canaan and Salisbury might actually be sold or the prices at which any
securities may trade at the present time or at any time in the future. In
addition, as described above, HAS' opinion is just one of many factors taken
into consideration by the Canaan Board.

The following is a summary of the material analyses presented by HAS to
the Canaan Board in connection with its opinion

Analyses of Selected Merger Transactions

HAS reviewed certain financial data related to deal transactions in the
country as a whole and in New England and New York. On a national scale, twenty
comparable merger and acquisition transaction of both pending and completed bank
deals comparing the transaction to tangible book value and last twelve month
earnings per share ("EPS") were reviewed. These deals were valued at less than
$25 million and the asset size of were between $100 million and $250 million
with a return on average assets of greater than 50 basis points. The following
price ratios were identified:

Price to Tangible Price to Last 12
Book Value months EPS
Minimum 110.6% 7.6X
Median 186.0% 16.1X
Maximum 316.4% 30.4X
Proposed Transaction 190.8% 21.3X
21

HAS also reviewed recent New England and New York transactions were the
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deal value was less than $100 million. Eleven deals were examined and the
following ratios were identified:

Price to Tangible Price to Last 12
Book Value months EPS
Minimum 124.0% 14.6X
Median 207.6% 20.6X
Maximum 301.0% 25.4X
Proposed Transaction 190.8% 21.3X

HAS believes the aforementioned criteria are appropriate in deriving a
comparable transaction value for Canaan. No company or transaction used as a
comparison in the above analyses is identical to Canaan, Salisbury or the
merger. Accordingly, an analysis of the foregoing is not mathematical; rather it
involves complex considerations and judgments concerning differences in
financial and operating characteristics of the companies and other factors that
could affect the public trading value, however they do demonstrate the fairness,
from a financial point of view, of the transaction, in the opinion of HAS.

Discounted Cash Flow Analysis

HAS estimated the present value of the future cash flows that would accrue
to a holder of Canaan's common stock assuming the shareholder held the stock
through the year 2008 and then sold it at the end of that period.

HAS based this discounted cash flow analysis on several assumptions. These
included, but were not limited to, earnings per share of $3.84 in 2003 and $4.42
in 2004 and a 15% earnings per share growth rate thereafter. A 25% dividend
payout ratio was assumed for Canaan through the year 2008. A terminal value was
calculated at December 31, 2008 by multiplying Canaan's projected 2008 earnings
by a price/earnings multiple of 15X for the trailing twelve month earnings. A
similar analysis was also done using a terminal value of 13X tol6X and EPS
growth rates in a range of 13% to 16% for comparative purposes. The range of
values was at a low of $56.26 to a high of $77.71. The final analysis of the
discounted cash flow relied upon the 15X multiple. The terminal valuation and
the estimated dividends were discounted at a rate of 15% producing a present
value of $70.08. These values were determined by adding the present value of the
estimated future dividends stream that Canaan could generate over the period
beginning January 1, 2003 and ending December 31, 2008.

HAS stated that the discounted cash flow analysis is a widely used
valuation methodology but noted that it relies on numerous assumptions,
including asset and earnings growth rates, dividend payout rates, terminal
values and discount rates. The analysis did not purport to be indicative of the
actual values or expected values of Canaan Common Stock.

In connection with its opinion dated as of the date of this Proxy
Statement, HAS performed procedures to update, as necessary, certain of the
analyses described above and reviewed the assumptions on which such analyses
described above were based and the factors considered in connection therewith.
Some ratios did change due to updated information and pricing, but such changes
were immaterial.

HAS has been retained by the Canaan Board as an independent contractor to
act as financial adviser to Canaan with respect to the Merger. HAS, as part of
its investment banking business, is engaged in the valuation of banking
businesses and their securities in connection with mergers and acquisitions, and
valuations for estate, corporate and other purposes. As specialists in the
securities of banking companies, HAS has experience in, and knowledge of, the
valuation of banking enterprises.
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Compensation

As compensation for HAS' services in advising Canaan with respect to the
merger, HAS has received $55,000. Upon the mailing of the Definitive Proxy
material to Canaan shareholders including HAS' Fairness Opinion, HAS will
receive $35,000. Upon closing of the merger, HAS will receive a fee of 1% of the
total

22
transaction value, less the fees previously paid. Canaan also agreed to
reimburse HAS for expenses incurred by HAS in performing its services.
Representations and Warranties
In the merger agreement, Canaan made representations and warranties to

Salisbury. The material representations and warranties of Canaan are the
following:

o the proper organization and good standing of Canaan;

o insurance of Canaan's deposit accounts by the FDIC;

o capitalization of Canaan;

o existence of corporate power and authority of Canaan to execute,
deliver and perform its various obligations under the transaction
documents;

o a listing of all consents and approvals required to complete the
merger;

o accurate disclosure of loan portfolio and timely filing of reports;

o proper presentation of financial statements;

e} Canaan's filings with the FDIC comply in all material respects with

applicable requirements;

o no broker's fees other than a financial advisor fee to HAS
Associates, Inc.;

o absence of any material adverse change in Canaan;

o absence of legal proceedings;

o timely filing of tax returns and absence of tax claims;

o existence of employee benefit plans and material compliance with

applicable law;

o existence of material contracts and their effectiveness;
o absence of regulatory agreements with banking regulators;
o board approval of the merger agreement;

o material compliance with environmental laws;

e} adequacy of loss reserves;
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existence of properties and assets, absence of encumbrances, and
existence of good title;

existence of insurance policies;

operations in material compliance with applicable laws;

existence of loans, their material compliance with applicable laws,
proper organization of loan information, and proper perfection of

security interests;

no liability with respect to any intellectual property used in the
business;

accuracy of information regarding Canaan to be included in this
document; and

receipt of the fairness opinion of HAS Associates, Inc.

In the merger agreement, Salisbury made representations and warranties to

Canaan.

o

The material representations and warranties of Salisbury are the
following:

the proper organization and good standing of Salisbury and Salisbury
Bank;

capitalization of Salisbury and ownership of shares of Salisbury
Bank;

23

existence of corporate power and authority to execute, deliver and
perform Salisbury's and Salisbury Bank's obligations under the
transaction documents;

a listing of all regulatory consents and approvals to complete the
merger;

proper presentation of financial statements;
absence of material regulatory agreements or legal proceedings;

accuracy of information regarding Salisbury to be included in this
document;

absence of material adverse change in Salisbury;
operations in compliance with applicable laws;

absence of any fact that would cause the merger not to be treated as
a reorganization;

receipt of the fairness opinion of Salisbury's financial advisor;

a listing of all consents and approvals required to complete the
merger;

no broker's fees other than to Salisbury's financial advisor;
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timely filing of tax returns and absence of tax claims;

existence of employee benefit plans and material compliance with
applicable laws;

material compliance with environmental laws;
adequacy of loss reserves;

existence of properties and assets, absence of encumbrances, and
existence of good title; and

existence of insurance policies.

Termination and Amendment of the Merger Agreement

Before or after Canaan shareholders approve the merger agreement, it may
be terminated:

by mutual written consent of Salisbury and Canaan;

by Salisbury or Canaan upon written notice if 60 days pass after any
required regulatory approval is denied or regulatory application is
withdrawn at a regulator's request unless action is taken during the
60-day period for a rehearing or to file an amended application,
unless such denial or recommendation for withdrawal is due to the
terminating party's failure to perform its obligations in the merger
agreement;

by Salisbury or Canaan if the merger has not taken place on or
before November 17, 2004, unless the failure to complete the merger
by that date is due to the terminating party's failure to perform
its obligations in the merger agreement; or

by Salisbury or Canaan if Canaan's shareholders do not approve the
merger agreement;

by either Salisbury or Canaan (provided that the terminating party
is not then in breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or
other agreement contained in the merger agreement that, individually
or in the aggregate, would give the other party the right to
terminate the merger agreement) if there shall have been a breach of
any of the representations or warranties set forth in the merger
agreement on the part of the other party, if such breach,
individually or in the aggregate, has had or is likely to have a
material adverse effect on the breaching party, and such breach
shall not have been cured within 60 days following receipt by the
breaching party of written notice of such breach from the other
party thereto or such breach, by its nature, cannot be cured prior
to the closing;

by either Salisbury or Canaan (provided that the terminating party
is not then in breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or
other agreement contained in the merger agreement that, individually
or in the aggregate, would give the other party the right to
terminate the merger

24

agreement) 1if there shall have been a material breach of any of the
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covenants or agreements set forth in the merger agreement on the
part of the other party, and such breach shall not have been cured
within 60 days following receipt by the breaching party of written
notice of such breach from the other party thereto or such breach,
by its nature, cannot be cured prior to the closing;

o by Salisbury, if Canaan fails to call and hold within 40 days of the
effectiveness of the registration statement filed with the SEC a
meeting of Canaan shareholders to approve the merger agreement,
fails to recommend that Canaan shareholders approve the merger and
merger agreement or fails to oppose a competing third party proposal
that is inconsistent with the transactions contemplated by the
merger agreement;

o by Salisbury, if Canaan engages in any of the activities described
under "--Third Party Proposals"; and

o by Salisbury or Canaan, if Canaan has complied with its obligations
described under "--Third Party Proposals" and has given notice to

Salisbury that Canaan has entered into an Acquisition Transaction
with another party, if Canaan complies with the requirements stated
under "--Expenses; Breakup Fees" and has acknowledged that the
Option Agreement is exercisable.

In addition, the merger agreement provided Canaan with a termination right
during the five-day period starting two days after receipt of final approval of
the merger from the FDIC (which was dated February 27, 2004) of the FRB (which
was dated April 9, 2004), as applicable, if certain conditions relating to the
stock price of Salisbury were met: The conditions were not met and this right of
termination has expired.

The merger agreement also permits, subject to applicable law, the Boards
of Directors of Salisbury and Canaan to:

o amend the merger agreement except as provided below;

o extend the time for performance of any of the obligations or other
acts of the other party;

o waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties
contained in the merger agreement or in any document delivered under
the merger agreement; or

o waive compliance with any of the agreements or conditions contained
in the merger agreement.

After approval of the merger agreement by Canaan's shareholders, no
amendment of the merger agreement may be made without further shareholder
approval if the amendment would reduce the amount or change the form of the
consideration to be delivered to Canaan's shareholders under the merger
agreement.

Material Federal Income Tax Consequences

The following summary discusses the material federal income tax
consequences of the merger, and of holding Salisbury common stock received in
the merger, to Canaan shareholders. The summary is based on the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended, referred to in this section as the Code, the U.S.
Treasury regulations promulgated under the Code and related administrative
interpretations and judicial decisions, all as in effect as of the effective
time of the merger, and all of which are subject to change, possibly with
retroactive effect. The summary assumes that the holders of shares of Canaan's
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common stock hold their shares as capital assets. The summary applies only to
holders of shares of Canaan common stock that are U.S. persons. For purposes
hereof, a U.S. person is:

o a U.S. citizen or resident, as determined for U.S. federal income
tax purposes;

o a corporation created or organized in or under the laws of the
United States or any political subdivision thereof;

o an estate whose income is includible in gross income for U.S.
federal income tax purposes regardless of its source; or

o a trust whose administration is subject to the primary supervision
of a U.S. court and which has one or more U.S. persons who have the
authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust.

25

This summary is not binding on the Internal Revenue Service and there can
be no assurance that the Internal Revenue Service will not take a position
contrary to one or more of the positions reflected in this summary or that these
positions will be upheld by the courts if challenged by the Internal Revenue
Service. No ruling from the Internal Revenue Service has been or will be
requested with respect to the merger.

The summary does not address the tax consequences that may be applicable
to particular Canaan shareholders in light of their individual circumstances or
to Canaan shareholders who are subject to special tax rules, including:

o tax-exempt organizations;

o mutual funds;

o dealers in securities or foreign currencies;

o banks or other financial institutions;

o insurance companies;

o non-United States persons;

o shareholders who acquired shares of Canaan's common stock through

the exercise of options or otherwise as compensation or through a
qualified retirement plan;

o shareholders who are subject to the alternative minimum tax;

o shareholders who hold shares of Canaan's common stock as part of a
straddle, hedge, constructive sale or conversion transaction;

o traders in securities who elect to apply a mark-to-market method of
accounting; and

o holders that do not hold their Canaan common stock as capital
assets.

This summary is for general information purposes only. It is not a
complete analysis or discussion of all potential effects of the merger and
holding Salisbury common stock. It also does not address any consequences
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arising under the tax laws of any state, locality, or foreign jurisdiction or
under any federal laws other than those pertaining to the federal income tax.

One of the conditions for the merger to take place is that Salisbury and
Canaan must receive an opinion from counsel designated by Salisbury, after
consultation with Canaan, that the merger will be treated for federal income tax
purposes as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368 (a) of the Code.
The opinion of counsel will be based on the Code, the U.S. Treasury regulations
promulgated under the Code and related administrative interpretations and
judicial decisions, all as in effect as of the effective time of the merger, and
all of which are subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect. The
opinion will be based on the assumption that the merger takes place as described
in the merger agreement, and on representations to be provided to counsel by
Salisbury that relate to the satisfaction of specific requirements to a
reorganization within the meaning of Section 368 (a) of the Code, including
limitations on repurchases by Salisbury of shares of Salisbury common stock to
be issued upon the merger. Unlike a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service, an
opinion of counsel is not binding on the Internal Revenue Service and there can
be no assurance that the Internal Revenue Service will not take a position
contrary to one or more of the positions reflected in the opinion or that these
positions will be upheld by the courts if challenged by the Internal Revenue
Service. If this opinion (or any similar opinion of other tax counsel) is not
received, or if the material tax consequences described in the opinion
materially differ from the consequences stated below, the merger will not occur.
If this opinion cannot be obtained because of a concern that the merger would
not satisfy the "continuity of interest" requirement for reorganization
treatment, the number of shares of Salisbury common stock will be increased to
the minimum extent necessary to enable such opinion to be issued and the amount
of cash consideration will be decreased accordingly. The remainder of this
discussion assumes that the merger will qualify as a "reorganization" within the
meaning of Section 368 (a) of the Code.

26

Exchange for Salisbury Common Stock and Cash. If, pursuant to the merger,
a holder exchanges all of the shares of Canaan common stock actually owned by it
for a combination of Salisbury common stock and cash, the holder will generally
recognize gain (but not loss) in an amount equal to the lesser of (1) the amount
of gain realized (i.e., the excess of the sum of the amount of cash and the fair
market value of the Salisbury common stock received pursuant to the merger over
that holder's adjusted tax basis in its shares of Canaan common stock
surrendered) and (2) the amount of cash received pursuant to the merger. For
this purpose, gain or loss must be calculated separately for each identifiable
block of shares surrendered in the exchange, and a loss realized on one block of
shares may not be used to offset a gain realized on another block of shares. Any
recognized gain will generally be long-term capital gain if the holder's holding
period with respect to the Canaan common stock surrendered is more than one year
at the effective time of the merger, and otherwise will be short-term capital
gain. For the rate of tax on capital gains, see below under "-- Tax Rate
Changes." If, however, the cash received has the effect of the distribution of a
dividend, the gain will be treated as a dividend to the extent of the holder's
ratable share of Canaan's accumulated earnings and profits as calculated for
United States federal income tax purposes. See " —- Possible Treatment of Cash
as a Dividend" below.

The aggregate tax basis of Salisbury common stock received (including
fractional shares deemed received and redeemed as described below) by a holder
that exchanges its shares of Canaan common stock for a combination of Salisbury
common stock and cash pursuant to the merger will be equal to the aggregate
adjusted tax basis of the shares of Canaan common stock surrendered, reduced by
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the amount of cash received by the holder pursuant to the merger (excluding any
cash received instead of a fractional share of Salisbury common stock), and
increased by the amount of gain (including any portion of the gain that is
treated as a dividend as described below but excluding any gain or loss
resulting from the deemed receipt and redemption of fractional shares described
below), if any, recognized by the holder on the exchange. The holding period of
the Salisbury common stock (including fractional shares deemed received and
redeemed as described below) will include the holding period of the shares of
Canaan common stock surrendered.

Possible Treatment of Cash as a Dividend. In general, the determination of
whether the gain recognized in the exchange will be treated as capital gain or
has the effect of a distribution of a dividend depends upon whether and to what
extent the exchange reduces the holder's deemed percentage stock ownership of
Salisbury. For purposes of this determination, the holder is treated as if it
first exchanged all of its shares of Canaan common stock solely for Salisbury
common stock and then Salisbury immediately redeemed (the "deemed redemption") a
portion of the Salisbury common stock in exchange for the cash the holder
actually received. The gain recognized in the deemed redemption will be treated
as capital gain if the deemed redemption is (1) "substantially disproportionate"
with respect to the holder or (2) "not essentially equivalent to a dividend."

The deemed redemption will generally be "substantially disproportionate"
with respect to a holder if the percentage of the voting power and value of the
Salisbury common stock actually or constructively owned by such holder
immediately after the deemed redemption is less than 80% of both the voting
power and the value of the Salisbury common stock actually or constructively
owned by such holder immediately before the deemed redemption.

Whether the deemed redemption is "not essentially equivalent to a
dividend" with respect to a holder will depend upon the holder's particular
circumstances. At a minimum, however, in order for the deemed redemption to be
"not essentially equivalent to a dividend," the deemed redemption must result in
a "meaningful reduction" in the holder's deemed percentage stock ownership of
Salisbury. In general, that determination requires a comparison of (1) the
percentage of the voting power and value of the Salisbury common stock actually
or constructively owned by such holder immediately before the deemed redemption
and (2) the voting power and the value of the Salisbury common stock actually or
constructively owned by such holder immediately after the deemed redemption. The
Internal Revenue Service has ruled that a minority shareholder in a publicly
held corporation whose relative stock interest is minimal and who exercises no
control with respect to corporate affairs is generally considered to have a
"meaningful reduction" even if that shareholder has a relatively minor reduction
in its percentage stock ownership under the above analysis.

If the tests above for capital gain treatment are not met, the recognized
gain will be treated as dividend income to the extent of the holder's ratable
share of Canaan's accumulated earnings and profits. See below under "-- Tax Rate
Changes" for information regarding the relative rates of tax on dividends and
capital gains.

27

In applying the foregoing tests, the constructive ownership rules of
section 318 of the Code apply in comparing the holder's ownership interest in
Salisbury both immediately after the merger (but before the hypothetical
redemption) and after the hypothetical redemption. Under these constructive
ownership rules, a holder is deemed to own Salisbury common stock that is
actually owned (and in some cases constructively owned) by certain related
individuals and entities, and is also deemed to own Salisbury common stock that
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may be acquired by such holder or such related individuals or entities by
exercising an option, including an employee stock option. Moreover, the tests
are applied after taking into account any related transactions undertaken by a
stockholder under a single, integrated plan. Thus, dispositions or acquisitions
by a holder of Salisbury common stock before or after the merger that are part
of such holder's plan may be taken into account. As these rules are complex,
each holder that may be subject to these rules should consult its tax advisor.

Cash Received Instead of a Fractional Share. A holder who receives cash
instead of a fractional share of Salisbury common stock will generally be
treated as having received such fractional share and then as having received
such cash in redemption of the fractional share. Gain or loss generally will be
recognized based on the difference between the amount of cash received instead
of the fractional share and the portion of the holder's aggregate adjusted tax
basis of the share of Canaan common stock surrendered which is allocable to the
fractional share. Such gain or loss generally will be long-term capital gain or
loss if the holding period for such shares of Canaan common stock i1s more than
one year at the effective time of the merger.

Reporting Requirements. A holder of Canaan common stock receiving
Salisbury common stock as a result of the merger may be required to retain
records related to such holder's Canaan common stock and file with its United
States federal income tax return a statement setting forth facts relating to the
merger.

Holding Salisbury Common Stock. The following discussion describes the
U.S. federal income tax consequences to a holder of Salisbury common stock after
the merger. Any cash distribution paid by Salisbury out of earnings and profits,
as determined under U.S. federal income tax law, will be subject to tax as
ordinary dividend income and will be includible in the gross income of a holder
in accordance with such holder's method of accounting. See below under "-- Tax
Rate Changes" for information regarding the rate of tax on dividends. Cash
distributions paid by Salisbury in excess of its earnings and profits will be
treated as (i) a tax—free return of capital to the extent of the holder's
adjusted basis in its Salisbury common stock (reducing such adjusted basis, but
not below zero), and (ii) thereafter as gain from the sale or exchange of a
capital asset.

Upon the sale, exchange or other disposition of Salisbury common stock, a
holder will generally recognize gain or loss equal to the difference between the
amount realized upon the disposition and its adjusted tax basis in the shares of
Salisbury common stock surrendered. Any such gain or loss generally will be
long-term capital gain or loss if the holder's holding period with respect to
the Salisbury common stock surrendered is more than one year at the effective
time of the disposition. For the adjusted tax basis and holding period of
Salisbury common stock received in exchange for Canaan common stock in the

merger, see the section above entitled "-- Exchange for Salisbury Common Stock
and Cash". For the rate of tax on capital gains, see below under "-- Tax Rate
Changes."

Tax Rate Changes. Under the recently enacted Jobs and Growth Tax Relief
Reconciliation Act of 2003, the individual tax rates on capital gains and
dividend income have been reduced. The top individual rate for capital gains
from sales or exchanges on or after May 6, 2003 is 15 percent. The top
individual rate for "qualified dividend income" received after December 31, 2002
is also 15 percent. To be considered "qualified dividend income" to a particular
holder, the holder must have held the common stock for more than 60 days during
the 120 day period beginning 60 days before the ex-dividend period as measured
under section 246 (c) of the Code. Dividend income that is not qualified dividend
income will be taxed at ordinary income rates. You are urged to consult your tax
advisor to determine whether a dividend, if any, would be treated as qualified
dividend income.
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Information Reporting and Backup Withholding. Unless an exemption applies,
the exchange agent will be required to withhold, and will withhold, 28% of any
cash payments to which a Canaan shareholder or other payee is entitled pursuant
to the merger, unless the shareholder or other payee provides his or her tax
identification number (social security number or employer identification number)
and certifies that the number is correct. Each shareholder and, if applicable,
each other payee, is required to complete and sign the Form W-9 that will be
included as part of the transmittal letter to avoid being subject to backup
withholding, unless an applicable exemption exists and is proved in a manner
satisfactory to Salisbury and the exchange agent.
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The federal income tax consequences set forth above are based upon present
law and do not purport to be a complete analysis or listing of all potential tax
effects that may apply to a holder of Canaan's common stock. The tax effects
that are applicable to a particular holder of Canaan common stock may be
different from the tax effects that are applicable to other holders of Canaan
common stock, including the application and effect of state, local and other tax
laws other than those pertaining to the federal income tax, and thus, holders of
Canaan common stock are urged to consult their own tax advisors.

Accounting Treatment

The merger, if completed, will be treated as a purchase by Salisbury of
Canaan for accounting purposes. Accordingly, under accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States, the assets and liabilities of Canaan
will be recorded on the books of Salisbury at their respective fair values at
the time of the consummation of the merger.

Resales of Salisbury's Common Stock Received in the Merger

Salisbury is registering the issuance of the shares of its common stock to
be exchanged in the merger under the Securities Act. The shares will be freely
transferable under the Securities Act, except for shares received by Canaan
shareholders who are affiliates of Canaan or Salisbury at the time of the
special meeting. These affiliates only may resell their shares pursuant to an
effective registration statement under the Securities Act covering the shares,
in compliance with Securities Act Rule 145 or under another exemption from the
Securities Act's registration requirements. This proxy statement/prospectus does
not cover any resales of Salisbury's common stock by Salisbury or Canaan
affiliates. Affiliates will generally include individuals or entities who
control, are controlled by or are under common control with Canaan or Salisbury,
and may include officers or directors, as well as principal shareholders of
Canaan or Salisbury.

Employee Benefits

To the extent permissible under applicable law, Canaan employees who
execute waivers of their benefits under the Canaan Change in Control Plan and
who become employees of Salisbury or Salisbury Bank at the effective time will
be given credit for service at Canaan for eligibility to participate in and the
satisfaction of vesting requirements (but not for pension benefit accrual
purposes) under the defined benefit pension plan and employee welfare benefit
plans maintained by Salisbury or Salisbury Bank, as applicable.

Employees of Canaan who execute waivers of their benefits under the Canaan
Change in Control Plan and who become employees of Salisbury or Salisbury Bank
after the merger will be immediately eligible to participate in the employee

44



Edgar Filing: SALISBURY BANCORP INC - Form S-4

health and welfare plans maintained by Salisbury or Salisbury Bank, as the case
may be, on the same basis as they were eligible to participate in the
corresponding plans of Canaan or Canaan Bank, and restrictions relating to
preexisting conditions will be waived for such employees and their covered
dependents.

Salisbury has agreed to cause Salisbury Bank to retain a majority of
Canaan Bank employees who execute waivers of their benefits under the Canaan
Change in Control Plan in reasonably comparable positions and compensation.

Dissenters' Appraisal Rights

If the merger is consummated, a holder of record of Canaan common stock on
the date of making a demand for appraisal, as described below, who continues to
hold such shares through the effective time and who strictly complies with the
procedures set forth under Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation Law
("Section 262") will be entitled to have such shares appraised by the Delaware
Court of Chancery under Section 262 and to receive payment of the "fair value"
of such shares in lieu of the consideration provided for in the merger
agreement. This proxy statement/prospectus is being sent to all holders of
record of Canaan common stock at the record date and constitutes notice of the
appraisal rights available to such holders under Section 262. THE STATUTORY
RIGHT OF APPRAISAL GRANTED BY SECTION 262 REQUIRES STRICT COMPLIANCE WITH THE
PROCEDURES SET FORTH IN SECTION 262. FAILURE TO FOLLOW ANY OF SUCH PROCEDURES
MAY RESULT IN A TERMINATION OR WAIVER OF DISSENTERS' RIGHTS UNDER SECTION 262.
The
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following is a summary of certain of the provisions of Section 262 and is
qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of Section 262, a copy
of which is attached to this document as Appendix D.

A holder of Canaan common stock electing to exercise appraisal rights
under Section 262 must deliver a written demand for appraisal of such
stockholder's shares to Canaan prior to the vote on the approval of the Merger
Agreement. Such written demand must reasonably inform Canaan of the identity of
the stockholder of record and of such shareholder's intention to demand
appraisal of his shares. All such demands should be delivered to Salisbury
Bancorp, Inc., Attention: John F. Perotti, President and Chief Executive
Officer, 5 Bissell Street, Lakeville, Connecticut 06039.

Only a holder of shares of Canaan common stock on the date of making such
written demand for appraisal who continuously holds such shares throughout the
effective time of the merger is entitled to seek appraisal. Demand for appraisal
must be executed by or for the holder of record, fully and correctly, as such
holder's name appears on the holder's stock certificates representing shares of
Canaan common stock. If Canaan common stock is owned of record in a fiduciary
capacity, such as by a trustee, guardian or custodian, the demand should be made
in that capacity, and if Canaan common stock is owned by record by more than one
person, as in a joint tenancy or tenancy in common, the demand should be made by
or for all owners of record. An authorized agent, including one or more joint
owners, may execute the demand for appraisal for a holder of record; however,
such agent must identify the record owner or owners and expressly disclose in
such demand that the agent is acting as agent for the record owner or owners of
such shares.

A record holder, such as a broker who holds shares of Canaan common stock

as a nominee for beneficial owners, some of whom desire to demand appraisal,
must exercise appraisal rights on behalf of such beneficial owners with respect
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to the shares of Canaan common stock held for such beneficial owners. In such
case, the written demand for appraisal should set forth the number of shares of
Canaan common stock covered by it. Unless a demand for appraisal specifies a
number of shares, such demand will be presumed to cover all shares of Canaan
common stock held in the name of such record owner. BENEFICIAL OWNERS WHO ARE
NOT RECORD OWNERS AND WHO INTEND TO EXERCISE APPRAISAL RIGHTS SHOULD INSTRUCT
THE RECORD OWNER TO COMPLY WITH THE STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS WITH RESPECT TO THE
EXERCISE OF APPRAISAL RIGHTS BEFORE THE DATE OF THE SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING.

Within ten days after the effective time of the merger, Salisbury is
required to send notice of the effectiveness of the merger to each shareholder
of Canaan who prior to the effective time complied with the requirements of
Section 262.

Within 120 days after the effective time of the merger, Salisbury or any
shareholder who has complied with the requirements of Section 262 may file a
petition in the Delaware Court of Chancery demanding a determination of the fair
value of the shares of Canaan common stock held by all shareholders seeking
appraisal. A dissenting shareholder must serve a copy of a such petition on
Salisbury. If no petition is filed by either Salisbury or a dissenting
shareholder within such 120 day period, the rights of all dissenting
shareholders to appraisal shall cease. Canaan shareholders seeking to exercise
appraisal rights should not assume that Salisbury will file a petition with
respect to the appraisal of the fair value of their shares or that Salisbury
will initiate any negotiations with respect to the fair value of such shares.
Salisbury is under no obligation to and has no present intention to take any
action in this regard. Accordingly, Canaan shareholders who wish to seek
appraisal of their shares should initiate all necessary action with respect to
the perfection of their appraisal rights within the time periods and in the
manner prescribed in Section 262. FAILURE TO FILE THE PETITION ON A TIMELY BASIS
WILL CAUSE THE SHAREHOLDER'S RIGHT TO AN APPRAISAL TO CEASE.

Within 120 days after the effective time of the merger, any shareholder
who has complied with subsections (a) and (d) of Section 262 is entitled, upon
written request, to receive from Salisbury a statement setting forth the
aggregate number of shares of Canaan common stock with respect to which demands
for appraisal have been received by Canaan and the number of holders of such
shares. Such statement must be mailed within 10 days after the written request
therefore has been received by Salisbury or within 10 days after expiration of
the time for delivery of demands for appraisal under Section 262, whichever is
later.
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If a petition for an appraisal is timely filed, at the hearing on such
petition, the Delaware Court of Chancery will determine which shareholders are
entitled to appraisal rights and will appraise the shares of Canaan Common Stock
owned by such shareholder, determining the fair value of such shares, exclusive
of any element of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the
merger, together with a fair rate of interest to be paid, if any, upon the
amount determined to be fair value. In determining fair value, the court is to
take into account all relevant factors. The Delaware Supreme Court has stated
that "proof of value by any techniques or methods which are generally considered
acceptable in the financial community and otherwise admissible in court" should
be considered in the appraisal proceedings. The Delaware Supreme Court has
stated that, in making this determination of fair value, the court must consider
"market value, asset value, dividends, earnings prospects, the nature of the
enterprise and any other facts which were known or which could be ascertained as
of the date of the merger which throw any light on future prospects of the
merged corporation." The Delaware Supreme Court has also held that "elements of
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future value, including the nature of the enterprise, which are known or
susceptible of proof as of the date of the merger and not the product of
speculation, may be considered." In addition, Delaware courts have decided that
the statutory appraisal remedy depending on factual circumstances, may or may
not be a dissenter's exclusive remedy.

Shareholders considering seeking appraisal should consider that the fair
value of their shares determined under Section 262 could be more, the same, or
less than the value of the consideration to be received pursuant to the merger
agreement without the exercise of appraisal rights, and that investment banking
opinions as to fairness from a financial point of view are not necessarily
opinions as to fair value as determined under Section 262. The cost of the
appraisal proceeding may be determined by the Court of Chancery and assessed
against the parties as the Court deems equitable in the circumstances. Upon
application of a dissenting shareholder, the court may order that all or a
portion of the expenses incurred by any dissenting shareholder in connection
with the appraisal proceeding (including without limitation reasonable
attorney's fees and the fees and expenses of experts) be charged pro rata
against the value of shares of Canaan common stock entitled to appraisal. In the
absence of such a determination or assessment, each party bears its own
expenses.

Any shareholder who has fully demanded appraisal in compliance with
Section 262 will not, after the effective time of the merger, be entitled to
receive payment of dividends or other distributions on the Canaan common stock,
except for dividends or distributions payable to shareholders of record at a
date prior to the effective time.

A Canaan shareholder may withdraw a demand for appraisal and accept the
terms of the merger at any time within 60 days after the effective time of the
merger, or thereafter may withdraw such demand with the written approval of
Salisbury. In the event an appraisal proceeding is properly instituted, such
proceeding may not be dismissed as to any shareholder without the approval of
the Delaware Court of Chancery, and any such approval may be conditioned on the
terms the Court of Chancery deems just.

IN VIEW OF THE COMPLEXITY OF THESE PROVISIONS OF DELAWARE LAW, ANY HOLDER
OF THE CANAAN COMMON STOCK WHO IS CONSIDERING EXERCISING APPRAISAL RIGHTS SHOULD
CONSULT HIS OR HER LEGAL ADVISOR.

Interests of Canaan Directors and Executive Officers in the Merger That are
Different Than Yours

In considering the recommendation of the Canaan Board of Directors, the
Canaan shareholders should be aware that certain members of Canaan's senior
management and of the Canaan Board of Directors have interests in the
transaction that are different from, or in addition to, the interests of
shareholders generally. The Canaan Board of Directors knew about these
additional interests and considered them when approving the merger agreement.

Existing Change in Control Plan. As described below under "Information
Regarding Canaan - Executive Compensation - Change in Control Plan," the
executive officers of Canaan are entitled to payments following a termination of
employment or specified other events after a change in control, such as the
merger, OCCUrS.

Each of the executive officers of Canaan named below has entered an
"Agreement, Release and Waiver of Participation in Change of Control Plan." In
exchange for releasing Canaan and Salisbury from their obligations to the
executive officer under the Change in Control Plan, which included a potential
severance payment of 24 months as described under "Information Regarding Canaan
- Executive Compensation - Change in Control Plan," Salisbury
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agreed to hire such executive officers in a position substantially equivalent to
that they held at Canaan, as described below, without any adverse change in the
nature or scope of their duties and without any reduction in the level of their
pay and the value of their benefits. Executive officers of Canaan will become
at-will employees of Salisbury.

In addition, each such executive officer will receive a bonus, payable
one-third upon closing of the merger, one-third twelve months thereafter, and
one-third twenty-four months after the closing of the merger. The bonus will be
paid if the executive officer remains an employee of Salisbury at each
respective payment date. If the executive officer terminates their employment
with Salisbury or if Salisbury terminates their employment for "Cause", no
further bonus will be paid. If the executive officer is terminated by Salisbury

for other than Cause, the remainder of the bonus will be paid in full. "Cause"
is defined to include (i) a conviction of, or plea of nolo contendere to, a
felony or crime involving moral turpitude; (ii) the commission of an act of

personal dishonesty or breach of fiduciary duty; (iii) the commission of an act
which the Board of Directors of Salisbury Bank by at least a two-third vote
determines involved willful misconduct or gross negligence and causes material
embarrassment to Salisbury Bank; (iv) habitual absenteeism, chronic alcoholism
or any other form of addiction which prevents the executive officer from
performing the essential functions of their position; and (v) entry of a final
order of a court or regulatory agency directing the suspension, removal from
office or imposition of remedial action or sanctions with respect to the
executive officer.

The following executive officers of Canaan have signed such an agreement,
will hold the position and will receive the compensation and bonus described
below:

Name Position Salary Bonus

Gerard J. Baldwin Executive Vice $112,000 ——
President/Development and
Commercial Lending

Darrel S. Long Vice President/Operations $ 80,000 $73,900

Melanie K. Neely Vice President/Finance $ 55,000 $51, 900

Mr. Randy Brintnell, another executive officer of Canaan, has not entered
such an agreement, and will not be employed by Salisbury or Salisbury Bank and
will be entitled to benefits under the Change in Control Plan.

In addition, Mr. Baldwin has entered an employment agreement with
Salisbury Bank to be effective upon the merger. Mr. Baldwin will be employed as
an Executive Vice President of Salisbury Bank for a period of four years from
the merger at the base salary of $112,000, which sum may be increased at the
discretion of the Board of Directors of Salisbury Bank. In addition, Mr. Baldwin
is entitled to a bonus payable in cash or other form of compensation, as set by
the Board of Directors of Salisbury Bank. Further, the employment agreement
provides that Mr. Baldwin will (i) receive health insurance comparable to that
provided for other executive officers of Salisbury Bank; (ii) participate in any
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long-term disability insurance plan and pension plan maintained by Salisbury
Bank; and (iii) receive at least four weeks paid vacation per year.

Mr. Baldwin's employment agreement terminates upon the earlier to occur of
(i) four years from the merger; (ii) termination of Mr. Baldwin's employment by
Salisbury Bank for "Cause"; (iii) termination of employment by Mr. Baldwin other
than for "Good Reason"; (iv) Mr. Baldwin's disability or death; (v) Mr.
Baldwin's retirement in accordance with Salisbury Bank's retirement policy; or
(vi) termination of employment by Salisbury Bank for "Cause" or by Mr. Baldwin
for "Good Reason". Salisbury Bank will not be obligated to pay any further sums
to Mr. Baldwin under the employment agreement if (i) Mr. Baldwin's employment is
terminated for "Cause"; (ii) Mr. Baldwin terminates his employment for other
than "Good Reason" and (iii) Mr. Baldwin's disability, death or retirement, but
disability benefits, life insurance proceeds and pension benefits will be
payable. If Salisbury Bank terminates Mr. Baldwin other than for "Cause", or Mr.
Baldwin terminates his employment for "Good Reason", Salisbury Bank will be
obligated to (i) pay Mr. Baldwin his salary as in effect immediately prior to
the termination for the lesser of two years or the remainder of the term of the
employment agreement, less any payments under the Salisbury Bank severance plan;
(ii) provide additional service credit for purposes of vesting of any
compensation; and (iii) provide COBRA benefits payable by Salisbury Bank and Mr.
Baldwin at the same ratio as such benefits were paid by each while he was
employed. "Cause" as used in the employment agreement has the
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same meaning as described above with respect to the Agreement, Release and
Waiver of Participation in Change in Control Plan. "Good Reason" means the
occurrence of any of the following without Mr. Baldwin's consent: (i) removal of
or change in his title to a lower title or material reduction in his job
responsibilities or base salary; (ii) significant worsening of his working
conditions; or (iii) change in his place of employment that increases his
commute by more than 30 miles. The employment agreement also contains
confidentiality and non-competition provisions.

In addition, Salisbury has agreed, at the time of the merger, to invite
two of the independent directors of Canaan to serve on the Boards of Directors
of Salisbury and Salisbury Bank until the annual meeting to be held in 2005 and
to nominate such directors to serve for a period ending not earlier than the
second anniversary of the merger. Such directors have not been designated by
Salisbury.

Shareholder's Agreement

In connection with the execution of the merger agreement, Salisbury and
each director of Canaan have entered into a shareholder's agreement. Under the
shareholder's agreement, all directors of Canaan agreed to vote all shares of
Canaan common stock owned by them, including any shares acquired upon the
exercise of options, for the approval of the merger agreement and against the
approval of any agreement for a merger, consolidation, sale of assets or other
business combination of Canaan with any person or entity other than Salisbury.
They also agreed not to solicit or encourage, or initiate any communication
with, any other person or entity with respect to any proposal for a merger,
consolidation, sale of assets or other business combination involving Canaan or
any subsidiary of Canaan or for the acquisition of any capital stock of Canaan.

They further agreed that for a period of one year after the effective date
of the merger, they will (i) use their reasonable best efforts to assist in the
development and growth of the business, prospects and operations of Salisbury at
least at levels and in respects consistent with efforts made by them on behalf
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of Canaan, (ii) continue to do their personal and business banking with
Salisbury to the same extent they did with Canaan, and encourage others to do
so, (iii) not solicit business for or encourage others to provide business to
any other bank in the area which Salisbury will serve, and (iv) not serve on the
board of any bank which competes with Salisbury and has its headquarters or more
than 25% of its assets in the area which Salisbury will serve.

The directors of Canaan collectively beneficially own 12,739 shares of
Canaan common stock and options to purchase 5,650 shares of Canaan stock, which
shares, assuming the exercise of all such options, would represent approximately
8.43% of the outstanding shares of Canaan common stock.

Stock Option Agreement

Canaan granted Salisbury a stock option, referred to in this section as
the "Canaan option," which entitles Salisbury to purchase, subject to the terms
of the stock option agreement, up to 48,000 shares of Canaan's common stock,
which is equal to approximately 19.9% of the total number of shares of Canaan's
common stock outstanding, at a price per share of $55.00. The Canaan option is
intended to discourage the making of alternative acquisition-related proposals
and, under specified circumstances, may significantly increase the cost to a
potential third party of acquiring Canaan compared to its cost had Canaan not
entered into the Canaan option. Therefore, the Canaan option is likely to
discourage third parties from proposing a competing offer to acquire Canaan even
if the offer involves a higher price per share for Canaan's common stock than
the per share consideration to be paid under the merger agreement.

Subject to applicable law and regulatory restrictions, Salisbury may
exercise the Canaan option, in whole or in part and from time to time, during
the 90-day period following the occurrence of both an "Initial Triggering Event"
and a "Subsequent Triggering Event." An "Initial Triggering Event" is any of the
following:

o Canaan or any of its subsidiaries entering an agreement to engage in
an "Acquisition Transaction" or its Board of Directors recommending
that Canaan shareholders approve an Acquisition Transaction without
Salisbury's prior written consent. An "Acquisition Transaction" is a
merger or consolidation of Canaan or Canaan Bank, a purchase, lease
or other acquisition or assumption of all or a substantial portion
of the
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assets or deposits of Canaan or Canaan Bank, a purchase or other
acquisition of securities with more than 10% of the voting power of
Canaan, or any similar transaction;

o Canaan or any of its subsidiaries authorizing, recommending,
proposing or announcing its intention to authorize, recommend or
proposed, or engaging in, any Acquisition Transaction with any
person other than Salisbury;

o The Board of Directors of Canaan publicly withdrawing or modifying,
or publicly announcing its intent to withdraw or modify, its
recommendation that Canaan shareholders approve the transactions
contemplated by the merger agreement in anticipation of engaging in
an Acquisition Transaction;

o Any person other than Salisbury acquiring beneficial ownership or
the right to acquire the beneficial ownership of 10% or more of the
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shares of Canaan common stock;

Any person other than Salisbury publicly making a bona fide proposal
to Canaan to engage in an Acquisition Transaction;

After an overture is made by a third party to Canaan or its
shareholders to engage in an Acquisition Transaction, Canaan
breaching any covenant or obligation in the merger agreement that
would entitle Salisbury to terminate the merger agreement and which
is not cured prior to Salisbury notifying Canaan it wishes to
exercise the option; or

Any person other than Salisbury filing an application with the FRB,
the FDIC, the OCC or the Connecticut Department of Banking for
approval to engage in an Acquisition Transaction.

A "Subsequent Triggering Event" is either of the following:

The acquisition by any person of more than 20% of the Canaan common
stock; or

The occurrence of the first Initial Triggering Event above, except
that the stock ownership percentage shall be 20%.

The foregoing brief summaries of the shareholder's agreement and stock
option agreement are qualified in their entirety by reference to the agreements.
A copy of the agreements, as well as the other documents described in this

document,
Perotti,
Company,
435-9801.

will be provided to you without charge if you call or write to John F.
President and Chief Executive Officer of Salisbury Bank and Trust
5 Bissell Street, P.O. Box 1868, Lakeville, Connecticut 06039, (860)
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MARKET PRICES AND DIVIDENDS

Salisbury's Common Stock

The table below sets forth the range of high and low sale prices of
Salisbury's common stock as reported on the American Stock Exchange under the
symbol "SAL", as well as cash dividends paid during the periods indicated:

Market Price

High Low
Quarter Ended:
March 31, 2002......00iivuueo.. $25.25 $21.25
June 30, 2002......ciiiiennnnn. 26.75 24.10
September 30, 2002............. 25.25 22.51
December 31, 2002.............. 28.01 25.00
March 31, 2003......c0iiveuene.. 30.00 26.00
June 30, 2003......0iiiiennnnn. 29.50 26.00
September 30, 2003............. 32.25 29.00
December 31, 2003.............. 38.95 29.50
March 31, 2004......00iveuueo.. 41.55 38.50
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On November 17, 2003, the last trading day before the public announcement
of the merger, the closing price of Salisbury's common stock on the American
Stock Exchange was $36.85. On June ___, 2004, the most recent practicable date
before the printing of this document, the closing price of Salisbury's common
stock on the American Stock Exchange was $

Canaan's Common Stock
The table below sets forth the range of high and low sale prices of

Canaan's common stock as reported on the OTC Bulletin Board, as well as cash
dividends paid during the periods indicated:

Market Price

High Low
Quarter Ended:
March 31, 2002......00iveuueo.. $47.50 $42.75
June 30, 2002......0iiiiunnnnn. 47.50 42.75
September 30, 2002............. 47.50 42.75
December 31, 2002.............. 47.50 42.75
March 31, 2003......c00vveueeo.. 48.00 42.75
June 30, 2003. ...t iiennnnn. 48.00 48.00
September 30, 2003............. 48.00 48.00
December 31, 2003.............. 48.00 48.00
March 31, 2004.........ciueunune.n. NA NA

On November 17, 2003, the last trading day for Canaan's common stock
before the public announcement of the merger, the closing price of Canaan's
common stock was $48.00. No shares of Canaan's Common Stock have traded since
November 17, 2003.
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INFORMATION REGARDING CANAAN
General Development of the Business

Canaan is a Delaware corporation that was formed in 1988. Its primary
activity is to act as the holding company for its sole subsidiary, The Canaan
Bank ("Canaan Bank"), which accounts for most of the Company's net income.
Canaan Bank assumed its present name in 1907. Canaan Bank is chartered as a
national bank and its deposits are insured by the FDIC in accordance with the
Federal Deposit Insurance Act. Canaan Bank's main office is at 100 Main Street,
Canaan, Connecticut 06018. Its telephone number is (860) 824-5423.

Canaan Bank serves its customers from two (2) offices, which are located
in Canaan, Connecticut and South Egremont, Massachusetts. The majority of Canaan
Bank's customers reside in or maintain their principal offices in Litchfield
County, Connecticut or in Berkshire County, Massachusetts.

Information Regarding Industry Segments
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Canaan's products and services are all of the nature of a commercial bank.
Lending

Lending is a principal business of Canaan Bank and loans represent a large
portion of Canaan Bank's assets. The portfolio consists of many types of loans.
These include residential mortgages, home equity lines of credit, monthly
installment loans for consumers as well as commercial loans that include lines
of credit, short-term loans, Small Business Administration ("SBA") loans and
real estate loans for business customers.

The primary lending activity has been the origination of first mortgage
loans for the purchase, refinance or construction of residential properties in
Canaan Bank's market area. Loans secured by mortgages on a borrower's principal
residence are generally viewed as the least vulnerable to major economic changes
and at the same time provide a significant yet relatively stable source of
interest income. Presently, loans are maintained in Canaan Bank's portfolio as
well as sold to the Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston ("FHLB") with servicing
rights maintained. This provides customers the opportunity to choose from a wide
array of competitive mortgage products and rate structures.

Canaan Bank also originates a variety of other loans for consumer and
business purposes. Although these loans represent a smaller percentage of the
total loan portfolio, Canaan Bank is in the position of being a full service
retail lender to its consumers and a full service commercial lender to its
business customers.

Investments

Canaan's investment portfolio is also an important component of the
balance sheet. It provides a source of earnings in the form of interest and
dividends. It also plays a role in the interest rate risk management of Canaan
and it provides a source of liquidity.

The portfolio is comprised of U.S. Government sponsored agencies, U.S.
Treasury and mortgage-backed securities, corporate bonds, preferred stock, and
securities of political subdivisions. At December 31, 2003, securities totaled
$46,184,000, which represents approximately 43.13% of total assets, and produced
interest and dividend income of $1,442,000 for the year 2003 as compared with
$1,569,000 for 2002 and $1,848,000 for 2001, respectively.

Deposits and Borrowings

Canaan Bank's primary sources of funds are deposits, borrowings and
principal payments on loans. Although competition for funds from non-banking
institutions remains aggressive, Canaan Bank continues its efforts to build
multiple account relationships with its customers. As a result, average deposits
increased 6.11% to $75,699,000 during 2003.
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Canaan Bank is a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston (the
"FHLB") . Borrowings from FHLB totaled $23,319,000 at December 31, 2003 as
compared with $21,774,000 at December 31, 2002.

For additional information relating to the asset, deposit and borrowing
components of Canaan, see Management's Discussion and Analysis and the

accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.

Fiduciary
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Canaan Bank does not exercise fiduciary powers. It previously operated a
trust department but transferred and sold its interest in same.

All Others

Canaan offers safe deposit rentals, foreign exchange, and a full menu of
elective fund transfer services and other ancillary services to businesses and
individuals.

Narrative Description of Business

Canaan is a bank holding company, which as described above, has one
subsidiary, Canaan Bank.

Canaan Bank is a full-service commercial bank and its activities encompass
a broad range of services, which include a complete menu of deposit services,
multiple mortgage products and various other types of loans for both business
and personal needs. Canaan Bank owns and operates one subsidiary, CNB Insurance
Agency, Inc., which is incorporated under the laws of the State of Connecticut.
CNB Insurance Agency, Inc. markets a variety of personal and commercial
insurance products to the Bank's customers and to the general public.

Competition

Canaan and Canaan Bank encounter competition in all phases of their
business. There are numerous financial institutions that have offices in the
areas in which Canaan and Canaan Bank compete in Northwestern Connecticut and
Southwestern Massachusetts.

The main office of Canaan Bank is located in the northwest corner of
Litchfield County, designated by the Federal Reserve Banks of Boston and New
York to be within the "Metro Banking Market". Canaan Bank maintains one (1)
banking offices within the Metro Banking Market, which is served by 277
commercial banks and savings banks. The Bank has less than a 1% market share of
deposits in such Market.

Based on information published by the Federal Reserve Bank of Boston,
using June 30, 2003 deposit data, the Great Barrington, Massachusetts banking
market is served by six (6) commercial banks and savings banks. Canaan Bank has
a [5.11%] market share of deposits in the Great Barrington banking market, which
includes South Egremont and three (3) Massachusetts towns, which are contiguous
with South Egremont (North Egremont, Great Barrington, and Sheffield).

Banks compete on the basis of price, including rates paid on deposits and
charged on borrowings, convenience and quality of service. Savings and loan
associations are able to compete aggressively with commercial banks in the
important area of consumer lending. Credit unions and small loan companies are
significant factors in the consumer market. Insurance companies, investment
firms, credit and mortgage companies, brokerage firms, cash management accounts,
money-market funds and retailers are all significant competitors for various
types of business. Many non-bank competitors are not subject to the extensive
regulation described below under "LEGISLATION, REGULATION AND SUPERVISION" and
in certain respects may have a competitive advantage over banks in providing
certain services.

In marketing its services, Canaan Bank emphasizes its position as a
hometown bank with personal service, flexibility and prompt responsiveness to
the needs of its customers. Moreover, Canaan Bank competes for both deposits and
loans by offering competitive rates and convenient business hours. In addition
to providing banking services to customers in its primary service areas, Canaan
Bank is a member of the automated teller machine
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networks and offers internet banking and telephone banking services, which allow
Canaan Bank to deliver certain financial services to customers regardless of
their proximity to the primary service area of Canaan Bank.

The Connecticut Interstate Banking Act permits acquisitions and mergers of
Connecticut banks and bank holding companies with banks and bank holding
companies in other states. Accordingly, it is possible for large super-regional
organizations to enter many new markets including the market served by Canaan
Bank. Some of these competitors, by virtue of their size and resources, may
enjoy certain efficiencies and competitive advantages over Canaan Bank in the
pricing, delivery, and marketing of their products and services. It is possible
that such legislative authority will increase the number or the size of
financial institutions competing with the Bank for deposits and loans in its
market place, although it is impossible to predict the effect upon competition
of such legislation.

Legislation, Regulation and Supervision
General

Virtually every aspect of the business of banking is subject to regulation
including such matters as the amount of reserves that must be established
against various deposits, the establishment of branches, mergers, non-banking
activities and other operations. Numerous laws and regulations also set forth
special restrictions and procedural requirements with respect to the extension
of credit, credit practices, the disclosure of credit terms and discrimination
in credit transactions.

The descriptions of the statutory provisions and regulations applicable to
banks set forth below do not purport to be a complete description of such
statutes and regulations and their effects on Canaan Bank. Proposals to change
the laws and regulations governing the banking industry are frequently
introduced in Congress, in the state legislatures and before the various bank
regulatory agencies. The likelihood and timing of any changes and the impact
such changes might have on the Bank's future business and earnings are difficult
to determine.

Federal Reserve Board Regulation

Canaan is a registered bank holding company under the Bank Holding Company
Act of 1956, as amended (the "BHCA"). It is subject to the supervision and
examination of the FRB and files with the Federal Reserve Board the reports as
required under the BHCA.

The BHCA generally requires prior approval by the Federal Reserve Board of
the acquisition by Canaan of substantially all of the assets or more than five
percent (5%) of the voting stock of any bank. The BHCA also allows the Federal
Reserve Board to determine (by order or by regulation) what activities are so
closely related to banking as to be a proper incident of banking, and thus,
whether Canaan can engage in such activities. The BHCA prohibits Canaan and
Canaan Bank from engaging in certain tie—-in arrangements in connection with any
extension of credit, sale of property or furnishing of services.

Federal legislation permits adequately capitalized bank holding companies
to venture across state lines to offer banking services through bank
subsidiaries to a wide geographic market. It is possible for large
super-regional organizations to enter many new markets including the market
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served by Canaan Bank, although it is impossible to assess what impact this will
have on Canaan or Canaan Bank.

The Federal Reserve Act imposes certain restrictions on loans by Canaan
Bank to Canaan and certain other activities on investments, in their stock or
securities, and on the taking by the Bank of such stock or securities as
collateral security for loans to any borrower.

Under the BHCA and the regulations of the FRB ("Regulation Y"), no
corporation may become a bank holding company as defined therein, without prior
approval of the Federal Reserve Board. Canaan received the approval and became a
bank holding company on May 26, 1988. Canaan will also have to secure prior
approval of the Federal Reserve Board if it wishes to acquire voting shares of
any other bank, if after such acquisition it would own or control more than five
percent (5%) of the voting share of such bank. The BHCA imposes limitations upon
Canaan as to the types of business in which it may engage.
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Regulation Y requires bank holding companies to provide the Federal
Reserve Board with written notice before purchasing or redeeming equity
securities if the gross consideration for the purchase or redemption, when
aggregated with the net consideration paid by Canaan for all such purchases or
redemptions during the preceding twelve (12) months, is equal to ten percent
(10%) or more of Canaan's consolidated net worth. For purposes of Regulation Y,
"net consideration" is the gross consideration paid by a company for all of its
equity securities purchased or redeemed during the period, minus the gross
consideration received for all of its equity securities sold during the period
other than as part of a new issue. However, a bank holding company need not
obtain Federal Reserve Board approval of any equity security redemption when:
(1) the bank holding company's capital ratios exceed the threshold established
for "well-capitalized" banks before and immediately after the redemption; (ii)
the bank holding company is well-managed; and (iii) the bank holding company is
not the subject of any unresolved supervisory issues.

Office of the Comptroller of the Currency Regulation

As a national chartered bank and member of the FDIC, Canaan Bank is
subject to regulation both by the OCC and by the FDIC. Applicable laws and
regulations impose restrictions and requirements in many areas, including
capital requirements, maintenance of reserves, establishment of new branch
offices, mergers, making of loans and investments, consumer protection,
employment practices and other matters. Any new regulations or amendments to
existing regulations may materially affect the services offered, expenses
incurred and/or income generated by Canaan Bank.

The OCC regulates Canaan Bank's internal organization as well as its
deposit, lending and investment activities. The approval of the OCC is required
to, among other things, open branch offices and to consummate merger
transactions and other business combinations. The OCC conducts periodic
examinations of the Bank.

Subject to certain limited exceptions, loans made to any one obligor may
not exceed fifteen percent (15%) of Canaan Bank's capital, surplus, undivided
profits and loan reserves.

FDIC Regulation

The FDIC insures Canaan Bank's deposit accounts in an amount up to
$100,000 for each insured depositor. FDIC insurance of deposits may be
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terminated by the FDIC, after notice and a hearing, upon a finding by the FDIC
that the insured institution has engaged in unsafe or unsound practices, or is
in an unsafe or unsound condition to continue operations, or has violated any
applicable law, regulation, rule or order of, or condition imposed by, the FDIC.
A bank's failure to meet the minimum capital and risk-based capital guidelines
discussed below would be considered to be unsafe and unsound banking practices.
Canaan Bank, as a national-chartered FDIC-insured bank, is regulated by the FDIC
in many of the areas also regulated by the OCC. The FDIC also conducts its own
periodic examinations of Canaan Bank, and Canaan Bank is required to submit
financial and other reports to the FDIC on a quarterly and annual basis, or as
otherwise required by the FDIC.

FDIC insured banks pay premiums to the FDIC for the insurance of deposits.

The Community Reinvestment Act ("CRA") requires lenders to identify the
communities served by the institution's offices and to identify the types of
credit the institution is prepared to extend within such communities. The FDIC
conducts examinations of insured institutions' CRA compliance and rates such
institutions as "Outstanding", "Satisfactory", "Needs to Improve" and
"Substantial Noncompliance". As of its last CRA examination, Canaan Bank
received a rating of "Outstanding". Failure to receive at least a "Satisfactory"
rating may inhibit an institution from undertaking certain activities, including
acquisitions of other financial institutions, which require regulatory approval
based, in part, on CRA compliance considerations. Similarly, failure of a bank
to maintain a CRA rating of "Satisfactory" or better would preclude it or its
holding company from engaging in any new financial activities pursuant to the
Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act.

The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Financial Services Modernization Act of 1999 (the
"GLBA"), provides bank holding companies, banks, securities firms, insurance
companies, and investment management firms the option of engaging in a broad
range of financial and related activities by opting to become a "financial
holding company."
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These holding companies will be subject to oversight by the Federal Reserve
Board, in addition to other regulatory agencies. Under the financial holding
company structure, bank holding companies have greater ability to purchase or
establish nonbank subsidiaries which are financial in nature or which engage in
activities which are incidental or complementary to a financial activity.
Additionally, for the first time, securities and insurance firms are permitted
to purchase full-service banks.

While the GLBA Act facilitates the ability of financial institutions to
offer a wide range of financial services, large financial institutions would
appear to be the beneficiaries as a result of this Act because many community
banks are less able to devote the capital and management resources needed to
facilitate broad expansion of financial services. The Company qualified and
registered as a financial holding company in May 3, 2000.

In July, 2002, President Bush signed into law the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002. The purpose of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act is to protect investors by improving
the accuracy and reliability of corporate disclosures made pursuant to the
securities laws, and for other purposes.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act amends the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 to
prohibit a registered public accounting firm from performing specified nonaudit
services contemporaneously with a mandatory audit. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act also
vests the audit committee of an issuer with responsibility for the appointment,
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compensation, and oversight of any registered public accounting firm employed to
perform audit services. It requires each committee member to be a member of the
board of directors of the issuer, and to be otherwise independent. The
Sarbanes-Oxley Act further requires the chief executive officer and chief
financial officer of an issuer to make certain certifications as to each annual
or quarterly report.

In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires officers to forfeit certain
bonuses and profits under certain circumstances. Specifically, if an issuer is
required to prepare an accounting restatement due to the material noncompliance
of the issuer as a result of misconduct with any financial reporting
requirements under the securities laws, the chief executive officer and chief
financial officer of the issuer shall be required to reimburse the issuer for
(1) any bonus or other incentive-based or equity based compensation received by
that person from the issuer during the 12-month period following the first
public issuance or filing with the SEC of the financial document embodying such
financial reporting requirements; and (2) any profits realized from the sale of
securities of the issuer during that 12-month period.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act also instructs the SEC to require by rule:

o Disclosure of all material off-balance sheet transactions and
relationship that may have a material effect upon the financial
status of an issuer; and

o The presentation of pro forma financial information in a manner that
is not misleading, and which is reconcilable with the financial
condition of the issuer under generally accepted accounting
principles.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act also prohibits insider transactions in the
Company's stock during a lock out period of Company's pension plans, and any
profits of such insider transactions are to be disgorged. In addition, there is
a prohibition of company loans to its executives, except in certain
circumstances. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act also provides for mandated internal
control report and assessment with the annual report and an attestation and a
report on such report by Company's auditor. The SEC also requires an issuer to
institute a code of ethics for senior financial officers of the company.
Furthermore, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act adds a criminal penalty of fines and
imprisonment of up to 10 years for securities fraud.

The terrorist attacks in September, 2001 have impacted the financial
services industry and led to federal legislation that attempts to address
certain issues involving financial institutions. On October 26, 2001, President
Bush signed into law the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing
Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 (the
"USA Patriot Act").

Part of the USA Patriot Act is the International Money Laundering
Abatement and Financial Anti-Terrorism Act of 2001 ("IMLA"). IMLA authorizes the
Secretary of the Treasury, in consultation with the heads of other government
agencies, to adopt special measures applicable to banks, bank holding companies,
and/or other financial
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institutions. These measures may include enhanced recordkeeping and reporting
requirements for certain financial transactions that are of primary money
laundering concern, due diligence requirements concerning the beneficial
ownership of certain types of accounts, and restrictions or prohibitions on
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certain types of accounts with foreign financial institutions.

Among its other provisions, IMLA requires each financial institution to:
(i) establish an anti-money laundering program; (ii) establish due diligence
policies, procedures and controls with respect to its private banking accounts
and correspondent banking accounts involving foreign individuals and certain
foreign banks; and (iii) avoid establishing, maintaining, administering, or
managing correspondent accounts in the United States for, or on behalf of, a
foreign bank that does not have a physical presence in any country. In addition,
IMLA contains a provision encouraging cooperation among financial institutions,
regulatory authorities and law enforcement authorities with respect to
individuals, entities and organizations engaged in, or reasonably suspected of
engaging in, terrorist acts or money laundering activities. IMLA expands the
circumstances under which funds in a bank account may be forfeited and requires
covered financial institutions to respond under certain circumstances to
requests for information from federal banking agencies within 120 hours. IMLA
also amends the BHCA and the Bank Merger Act to require the federal banking
agencies to consider the effectiveness of a financial institution's anti-money
laundering activities when reviewing an application under these acts.

Employees

Canaan's workforce at December 31, 2003 was 36 employees, of whom 31 were
full-time and 5 were part-time. A collective bargaining unit does not represent
the employees.

Financial Information about Foreign and Domestic Operations and Export Sales

Canaan does not have any foreign business operations or export sales of
its own. However, it does provide financial services including wire transfers
and foreign currency exchange to other businesses involved in foreign trade.

Statistical Disclosure Required Pursuant to Industry Guide 3
Investment Portfolio

Canaan categorizes investments into three groups and further provides for
the accounting and reporting treatment of each group. Investments may be
classified as held-to-maturity, available-for-sale, or trading. Canaan Bank does
not purchase or hold any investment securities for the purpose of trading such
investments. The following tables set forth the carrying amounts of the
investment securities as of December 31:

(dollars in thousands) 2003 2002
Available—-for—-sale securities: (at fair value)
Corporate bonds $ 2,295 $ 2,080 S
Equity securities 3,278 3,777
U.S. Treasury securities and other
U.S. government corporations and agencies 5,079 0
Obligations of states and political subdivisions 11,259 6,994
Mortgage-backed securities 17,504 15,573 1
Asset-backed securities 4,706 5,694
$44,121 $34,118 $3
Held-to-maturity securities: (at amortized cost)
Obligations of states and political subdivisions $ 753 $ 753 $
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Mortgage-backed securities 4 514
$ 757 $ 1,267 $
Federal Reserve Bank Stock $ 56 $ 56 $
Federal Home Loan Bank stock 1,250 1,250
$ 1,306 $ 1,306 $
41

The scheduled maturities of held-to-maturity securities and
available-for-sale securities (other than equity securities) were as follows as
of December 31, 2003 (yields are not calculated and presented on a fully
taxable-equivalent (FTE) basis):

(dollars in thousands)

Under 1-5 5-10
1 Year Yield Years Yield Years Yield
Held-to-maturity
securities (at amortized cost)
Obligations of state and
political subdivisions $ 0 $ 0 $ 650 6.71%
Mortgage-backed
securities 4 7.65% 0 0
$ 4 $ 0 $ 650
Available-for-sale
securities (at fair wvalue)
Corporate Bonds $ 1,130 5.95% $ 1,165 3.38% S 0
U.S. Treasury securities
and other U.S. government
corporations and agencies 0 2,958 3.48% 2,121 4.64%
Obligations of state and
political subdivisions 0 438 6.84% 2,456 5.74%
Mortgage-backed
securities 8 5.79% 1,490 3.44% 5,040 3.77%
Asset-backed securities 141 2.72% 980 2.85%
$ 1,138 $ 6,192 $10,597

Loan Portfolio Analysis by Category
(dollars in thousands)
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December 31

2003 2002 2001
Commercial, financial and
agricultural S 6,494 S 6,180 $ 5,952
Obligations of States and
political subdivisions 209 241 269
Real Estate-construction and
land development 1,984 3,084 2,323
Real Estate - residential 30,326 32,986 33,004
Real Estate-commercial 12,783 12,507 11,960
Consumer 5,266 5,840 7,009
Other 13 22 90
57,075 60,860 60,607
Allowance for loan losses (698) (680) (643)
Unearned income (49) (69) (72)
Net loans $ 56,328 $ 60,111 $ 59,892

There are no industry concentrations in Canaan Bank's loan portfolio.
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The following table shows the maturity of commercial, financial and
agricultural loans, real estate commercial loans and real estate-construction
loans outstanding as of December 31, 2003. Also provided are the amounts due
after one (1) year, classified according to the sensitivity to changes in
interest rates.

(dollars in thousands) Due after
Due in one one year to Due
year or less five years five

Commercial, financial,

agricultural and real estate commercial $ 3,490 $ 2,571 $1
Real estate-construction and land development 14 84
$ 3,504 $ 2,655 S1

Maturities after One Year with:

Fixed interest rates $ 1,814 $
Variable interest rates 841 1
$ 2,655 S1

Return on Equity and Assets

The following table summarizes various financial ratios of Canaan Bank for
each of the last three (3) years:
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Year Ended December 31

2003 2002

Return on average total assets

(net income divided by average total assets) 0.68% 0.72%
Return on average shareholders' equity

(net income divided by average shareholders' equity) 8.68% 9.32%
Dividend payout ratio

(total dividends divided by net income) 11.12% 10.30%
Equity to assets ratio

(average shareholders' equity as a percentage of

average total assets) 7.89% 7.76%

Nonaccrual, Past Due and Restructured Loans

At December 31, 2003, there were three (3) nonaccrual loans in Canaan
Bank's portfolio, two (2) of which were secured by real estate and one (1)
secured by business assets. Our policy is to place a loan on nonaccrual status
when interest or principal has not been paid for 90 days. Exceptions to this
policy are those loans that are in the process of collection and are well
secured. Additionally, loans are placed on nonaccrual status at any time when
there is reasonable probability that 100 percent of future interest will not be
collected. Generally, the only loans that Canaan Bank classifies nonaccrual are
those that are secured by real estate or other collateral deemed collectible.
Otherwise loans are generally charged off if they become 90 days or more
delinquent. Exceptions are warranted with the $561,000 in loans that are
presently 90 days past due and still accruing.

Nonaccrual, Past Due and Restructured Loans
(dollars in thousands)
December 31

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Nonaccrual S 15 $ 314 S 472 $ 76 S 14
90 days or more past due 561 142 248 113 155
Restructured loans 262 284 406 407 417
Total nonperforming loans $ 838 $ 740 $1,126 $ 596 $ 586
Total nonperforming loans as per-—

centage of the total loan portfolio 1.47% 1.22% 1.86% 1.06% 1.15%
Allowance for loan losses as a per-—

centage of nonperforming loans 83.29% 91.89% 57.10% 101.51% 106.48%
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Information with respect to non-accrual and restructured loans
at December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 is as follows:

(dollars in thousands) Year Ended Decemb
2003 2002
Interest income that would have been recorded under original terms $ 15 S 44
Gross interest recorded 14 48
Foregone interest $ 1 $ (4)

Summary of Loan Loss Experience
(dollars in thousands) Year Ended December 31
2003 2002 2001 2000

Balance of the allowance for
loan losses at beginning of year $ 680 $ 643 $ 605 S 624

Charge-offs:

Commercial, financial and

agricultural 13 0 5 22
Real estate mortgage 0 14 0 0
Consumer 25 36 35 15
Total charge-offs 38 50 40 37

Recoveries:

Commercial, financial and

agricultural 0 15 1 0

Real estate mortgage 13 0 0 0
Consumer 7 2 3 4
Total recoveries 20 17 4 4

Net charge-offs 18 33 36 33
Provisions charged to operations 36 70 74 14
Balance at end of year $ 698 $ 680 $ 643 $ 605

Ratio of net charge-offs to

average loans outstanding 0.03% 0.05% 0.06% 0.06%
Ratio of allowance for loan losses
to year end loans 1.22% 1.12% 1.06% 1.08%

Allocation of the Allowance for Loan Losses
(dollars in thousands)

December 31
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2003 2002 2001 2
Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount
Commercial, financial and
agricultural $128 11.74% $109 10.55% $ 90 10.26% $ 65
Real estate construction
and land development 5 3.48% 6 5.07% 4 3.83% 3
Real estate mortgage 463 75.53% 454 74.75% 422 74.19% 435
Consumer 98 9.23% 103 9.60% 116 11.56% 93
Other loans 4 0.02% 8 0.03% 11 0.16% 9
$698 100.00% $680 100.00% $643 100.00% $605

Provisions to the allowance for loan losses are charged to operating
expenses and are based on past experience, current economic conditions and
management's judgment of the amount necessary to cover losses inherent in the
portfolio. Canaan Bank records provisions for loan losses, which are charged
against earnings, in the year that they are established.
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Short Term Borrowings
(dollars in thousands) December 31
2003 2002 2001
Federal Home Loan Bank Advances
Average interest rate

At year end 1.32% 0 2.07%

For the year 1.63% 1.96% 5.66%
Average amount outstanding during the year S 83 $ 598 $2,079
Maximum amount outstanding at any month $2,398 $1,889 $2,980
Amount outstanding at year end $2,398 $ 0 $2,980

Description of Properties

Canaan Bank serves its customers from its two (2) offices, which are
located in Canaan, Connecticut and Egremont, Massachusetts. Canaan Bank's
drive-up facility is located in a separate building behind the main office of
Canaan Bank.

The holding company is not the owner or lessee of any properties. Canaan
Bank owns one (1) property and currently leases two (2) properties. The
properties are described below.

The following table includes all property owned and leased by Canaan Bank,
but does not include Other Real Estate Owned.

OFFICES LOCATION STATUS
Main Office 100 Main Street Owned

Canaan, Connecticut

Branch Office 51 Main Street Leased
South Egremont, Massachusetts

Location for Potential Main Street Leased
Future Branch Office Sheffield, Massachusetts
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Legal Proceedings

Other than routine litigation incidental to its business, there are no
material legal proceedings pending to which Canaan, Canaan Bank, or their
properties are subject.

Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of shareholders during the fourth
quarter of Canaan's 2003 fiscal year.

Market for Canaan Common Stock and Related Shareholder Matters
(a) Market Information
Canaan's common stock is not publicly traded. The following table presents

the high and low sales prices of Canaan's common stock, to the extent Canaan is
aware of the sales price.

2003 Quarters 2002
4th 3rd 2nd lst 4th 3rd
Range of Stock prices:
High $48.00 $48.00 $48.00 $48.00 $47.50 $47.50
Low $48.00 $48.00 $48.00 $42.75 $42.75 $42.75
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(b) Holders

There were 355 shareholders as of December 31, 2003. This number includes
brokerage firms and other financial institutions which hold stock in their name
but which is actually owned by third parties. Canaan is not provided with the
number or identities of these parties.

(c) Dividends

Dividends are currently paid two times a year. During the year 2003,
Canaan paid total cash dividends of $.46 per share, which compared to total
dividends of $.43 that were paid in the year 2002. Payment of all dividends is
dependent upon the condition and earnings of Canaan. The following table
presents cash dividends per share for the last two years:

2003 Quarters

Cash dividends $0 $0.18 $0 $0.28 S0 $0

The dividends paid to shareholders of Canaan are funded primarily from
dividends received by Canaan from Canaan Bank.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS OF CANAAN

Business

The following provides Management's comments on the financial condition
and results of operations of Canaan, which is the holding company for Canaan
Bank. Canaan's sole subsidiary is Canaan Bank, which has two (2) offices located
in the towns of North Canaan, Connecticut, and South Egremont, Massachusetts.
Canaan and Canaan Bank were formed in 1988 and 1907, respectively. This
discussion should be read in conjunction with Canaan's consolidated financial
statements and the notes to the consolidated financial statements that are
presented as part of this Prospectus/Proxy Statement.

Results of Operations
Comparison of the Years Ended December 2003 and 2002

Overview

The reported earnings for Canaan were $726,000 in 2003, a decrease of
$13,000 or 1.76% below year 2002 earnings of $739,000. Earnings in 2001 were
$722,000. As a result, earnings per share decreased $.07 or 1.66% to $4.13 in
2003. This compares to earnings per share of $4.20 in 2002 and $4.08 in 2001.
The lack of improvement in net income for 2003 reflects approximately $198,000
in merger related expenses during 2003 that were not tax deductible.

Canaan is "well capitalized". Canaan's risk-based capital ratios at
December 31, 2003, which includes the risk-weighted assets and capital of the
Canaan Bank, were 12.04% for Tier 1 capital and 13.07% for total capital.
Canaan's leverage ratio was 7.53% at December 31, 2003. This compares to a Tier
1 capital to risk weighted assets ratio at December 31, 2002 of 12.77%, a total
capital to risk weighted assets ratio of 13.86%, and leverage ratio of 7.67%.

The Board of Directors increased total dividends on Canaan's common stock
to $.46 per share in 2003. This compares to a $.43 per share dividend in 2002
and a $.40 per share dividend in 2001.

Net Interest and Dividend Income

Canaan earns income from two basic sources. The primary source is through
the management of its financial assets and liabilities, and the second is by
charging fees for services provided. The first source involves functioning as a
financial intermediary. Canaan accepts funds from depositors or borrows funds
and either lends the
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funds to borrowers or invests those funds in various types of securities. The
second source is fee income, which is discussed in the noninterest income
section of this analysis.

Net interest income is the difference between the interest and fees earned
on loans, interest and dividends earned on securities (Canaan's earning assets)
and the interest expense paid on deposits and borrowed funds, primarily in the
form of advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank. The amount by which interest
income will exceed interest expense depends on two factors: (1) the volume or
balance of earning assets compared to the volume or balance of interest-bearing
deposits and borrowed funds and (2) the interest rate earned on those interest
earning assets compared with the interest rate paid on those interest-bearing
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deposits and borrowed funds. For this discussion, net interest income is
presented on a fully taxable-equivalent ("FTE") basis. FTE interest income
restates reported interest income on tax exempt loans and securities as if such
interest were taxed at the applicable State and Federal income tax rates for all
periods presented.

(dollars in thousands) December 31
2003 2002 2001

Interest and Dividend Income

(financial statements) $ 5,506 S 6,127 S 6,821
Tax Equivalent Adjustment 214 129 91

Total Interest Income (on an FTE basis) __;:;;6 __g:;;g __g:;I;
Interest Expense (2,201) (2,644) (3,331

Net Interest Income-FTE $ 3,519 $ 3,612 $ 3,581

Canaan's 2003 total interest and dividend income on an FTE basis of
$5,720,000 was $536,000 or 8.57% less than the total interest and dividend on an
FTE basis of $6,256,000 in 2002. Although there is an increase in earning
assets, this decrease in interest and dividend income is primarily the result of
an economic environment with lower interest rates. A change in the mix of
earning assets which reflects an increase in tax exempt securities has resulted
in a significant increase in the tax equivalent adjustment of $214,000 for 2003
as compared to $129,000 for 2002. This is an increase of approximately 66%.

Interest expense on deposits in 2003 decreased $364,000 or 24.38% and
totaled $1,129,000. This compares to $1,493,000 for the corresponding period in
2002. Although deposits increased, generally lower interest rates resulted in
the decrease in interest expense. Interest expense for Federal Home Loan Bank
advances decreased $79,000 to $1,071,000 in 2003. This compares to interest
expense of $1,150,000 in 2002 and, as with deposits, lower interest rates
resulted in lower interest expense in borrowings. Although interest margins
continue to be pressured by generally lower interest rates and by aggressive
competition, net interest income on an FTE basis only decreased $93,000 or 2.57%
and totaled $3,519,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003. This compared to
total net interest income on an FTE basis of $3,612,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2002.

Net interest margin is net interest and dividend income expressed as a
percentage of average earning assets. It is used to measure the difference
between the average rate of interest and dividends earned on assets and the
average rate of interest that must be paid to support those assets. To maintain
its net interest margin, Canaan must manage the relationship between interest
earned and paid. Canaan's 2003 net interest margin on an FTE basis was 3.43%.
This compares to a net interest margin of 3.66% for the corresponding period in
2002. The following table reflects average balances, interest earned or paid and
rates for the three years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001. The average
loan balances include both non-accrual and restructured loans. Interest earned
on loans also includes fees on loans such as late charges collected that are not
deemed to be material. Interest earned on tax exempt securities in the table is
presented on a fully taxable-equivalent basis. A federal tax rate of 34% was
used in performing these calculations. Actual tax exempt interest income earned
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on securities in 2003 was $415,000 with a yield of 4.03%. Actual tax exempt
income in 2002 totaled $250,000 with a yield of 4.40%.
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Yield Analysis

Average Balances, Interest Earned and Rates Paid

Year Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2003 2002
Interest Interest
Average Earned/ Yield Average Earned/ Yi
Balance Paid Rate Balance Paid Ra

ASSETS
Interest Earning Assets:
Loans $ 60,233 $ 4,048 6.72% $ 61,829 $ 4,540 7
Taxable Securities 30,207 1,027 3.40% 29,829 1,319 4
Tax—-Exempt Securities* 10,305 629 6.10% 5,681 379 6
Federal Funds 1,805 15 0.83% 1,194 17 1
Other Interest Income 106 1 0.94% 102 1 0
Total Interest Earning

Assets 102,656 $ 5,720 5.57% 98,635 $ 6,256 6
Allowance for Loan

Losses (6906) (661)
Cash & due from banks 1,925 1,833
Premises, Equipment 1,232 1,343
Net Unrealized gain/loss

on AFS Securities (48) 135
Other Assets 934 906
Total Average Assets $ 106,003 $ 102,191
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Interest Bearing Liabilities:
Now/Money Market

Deposits $ 13,564 $ 54 0.40% $ 13,767 $ 144 1
Savings Deposits 16,750 164 0.98% 14,448 264 1
Time Deposits 31,337 911 2.91% 31,152 1,085 3
Borrowed Funds 21,590 1,072 4.97% 22,453 1,151 5
Total Interest Bearing

Liabilities 83,241 $ 2,201 2.64% 81,820 $ 2,644 3
Demand Deposits 14,048 11,973
Other Liabilities 354 472
Shareholders' Equity 8,360 7,926
Total Liabilities and

Equity $ 106,003 $ 102,191
Net Interest Income $ 3,519 $ 3,612
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Net Interest Spread 2.93%
Net Interest Margin 3.43%

Interest income and yields on securities are stated on fully taxable equivalent
(FTE) basis. The total amount of adjustments for 2003, 2002 and 2001 are
$214,000, $129,000 and $91,000, respectively. A federal tax rate of 34% was used
in performing this calculation.
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Volume and Rate Variance Analysis of Net Interest Income
(Taxable equivalent basis)

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 over 2002

Increase (decrease) in:
Interest income on:

Loans S (115) S (377) S (492)
Taxable investment securities 17 (309) (292)
Tax—exempt investment securities 279 (29) 250
Other interest income (11) 9 (2)
Total interest income S 170 S (706) S (536)

Interest expense on:

NOW/Money Market deposits $ (2) $ (88) $ (90)
Savings deposits 52 (152) (100)
Time deposits 6 (180) (174)
Borrowed funds (43) (36) (79)
Total interest expense $ 13 $  (4506) S (443)
Net interest margin $ 157 $  (250) $ (93)

Noninterest Income

Noninterest income totaled $1,052,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003
as compared to $643,000 for the year ended December 31, 2002. Service charges
increased $26,000 for 2003 due to the increase in deposit volumes. Gains on
sales of available-for-sale securities totaled $0 in 2003. This represents a
decrease of $68,000 when comparing total gains on sales of available-for-sale
securities in 2002. Other income, including gain on sale of loans held-for-sale,
increased $451,000 or 170.19% to $716,000 in 2003. This compares to total other
income, including gain on sale of loans held-for-sale, of $265,000 in 2002. This
increase is primarily the result of increased fees generated from the
refinancing activities in the secondary market as well as an increase in
transaction fees generated from activity of deposit accounts. Canaan continues
to seek to increase noninterest income due to its importance as a potential

3

3

200

Volume

$ 372
93
124
4
$ 593
$ (26)
1,519
207
28
$ 1,728
$ 1,135

69



Edgar Filing: SALISBURY BANCORP INC - Form S-4

contributor to profitability.
Noninterest Expense

Noninterest expense increased 8.74% to $3,284,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2003 as compared to $3,020,000 for the corresponding period in
2002. Salaries and employee benefits totaled $1,696,000 for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2003 compared to $1,586,000 for the same period in 2002. This
is an increase of $110,000 or 6.94% and is primarily the result of the addition
of staff. Annual pay raises and the increasing costs of employee benefits have
also contributed to the increased expense. Occupancy expenses increased $19,000
or 10.50% to $200,000. This compares to total occupancy expense of $181,000 for
the same period in 2002. Data processing expenses increased $27,000 or 8.94% for
the year ended December 31, 2003 and totaled $329,000. Data processing expenses
for the same period in 2002 totaled $302,000. This increase is mainly due to the
online banking product that was implemented in 2003. Professional fees, which
includes legal fees, increased $194,000 or 204.21% and totaled $289,000 in
December 2003 as compared to $95,000 for same period in 2002. Legal and
consulting fees associated with the proposed merger with Salisbury Bancorp, Inc.
totaled $211,000. There was no write-down of impaired assets in 2003, as
compared to an $80,000 write-down in 2002. Other operating expenses totaled
$494,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003 compared to other operating
expenses totaling $508,000 for the corresponding period in 2002.

Income Taxes

In 2003, Canaan's income tax provision totaled $311,000, an effective tax
rate of 30.00%. This compares to an income tax provision of $297,000 in 2002,
reflecting an effective tax rate of 28.67%. This increase is the result of the
impact of the $198,000 in merger related expenses that were not tax deductible.
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Net Income

Net income totaled $726,000 for the year 2003. This was a decrease of
$13,000 or 1.76% and reflects basic earnings per share of $4.13 per share for
the year. This compared to basic earnings per share of $4.20 for the same period
in 2002.

Financial Condition
Comparison of December 31, 2003 and 2002

Total assets at December 31, 2003 were $107,087,000 compared to
$103,435,000 at December 31, 2002, an increase of $3,652,000 or 3.53%

Securities Portfolio

Canaan manages the securities portfolio in accordance with the investment
policy adopted by the Board of Directors. The primary objectives are to earn
interest and dividend income, provide liquidity to meet cash flow needs and to
manage interest rate risk and asset-quality diversification of Canaan's assets.
Canaan continues to use arbitrage strategy by borrowing funds and investing them
at a rate of return higher than the borrowing cost in order to generate
additional interest income from the securities portfolio. The securities
portfolio also acts as collateral for deposits of public agencies. As of
December 31, 2003, the securities portfolio, including Federal Reserve Bank and
Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston stock, totaled $46,184,000. This represents an
increase of $9,493,000 or 25.87% when comparing the portfolio total of
$36,691,000 at year—-end 2002. The increase has been the result of an economic
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environment of low interest rates that has created refinancing opportunities to
longer term fixed rate products that are offered by the secondary mortgage
market. This has resulted in a decrease in total net loans, thus resulting in
available cash to invest in the securities portfolio.

The make up of the securities portfolio is diversified among U.S.
Government sponsored agencies, mortgage backed securities, corporate bonds,
preferred stock, and securities issued by states of the United States and
political subdivisions of the states. At December 31, 2003, securities totaling
$44,121,000 were classified as available-for-sale and securities totaling
$757,000 were classified as held-to-maturity.

Securities are classified in the portfolio as either
Securities-Available-for-Sale or Securities-Held-to-Maturity. The securities
reported as available-for-sale are stated at fair value in the financial
statements of Canaan. Unrealized holding gains and losses (accumulated other
comprehensive income/loss) are not included in earnings, but are reported as a
net amount (less expected tax) in a separate component of capital until
realized. At December 31, 2003, the unrealized loss net of tax was $530,000.
This compares to an unrealized gain net of tax of $103,000 at December 31, 2002.
The securities reported as securities-held-to-maturity are stated at amortized
cost.

Federal Funds Sold and FHLB Overnight Deposits

Federal Funds sold and FHLB Overnight Deposits totaled $0 at December 31,
2003, as compared to $675,000 at December 31, 2002.

Lending

Loans receivable, net of allowance for loan losses decreased $3,783,000 to
$56,328,000 at December 31, 2003 or 6.29% compared to $60,111,000 at December
31, 2002. Canaan offers a wide variety of loan types and terms along with
competitive pricing to customers. The largest dollar volumes of loan activity
continue to be in the residential mortgage area. A continuing economic
environment of generally lower interest rates that targets refinancing
opportunities to longer term fixed rate products primarily offered by the
secondary market has resulted in the decrease in total net loans.

Provisions and Allowance for Loan Losses

Total gross loans at December 31, 2003 were $57,075,000, which compares to
total loans of $60,860,000 at December 31, 2002. This is a decrease of
$3,785,000 or 6.22%. At December 31, 2003 approximately 79% of Canaan Bank's
loan portfolio was related to real estate products and although the portfolio
decreased during the year
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2003, the concentration remained fairly consistent as approximately 79.8% of the
portfolio was related to real estate at December 31, 2002. There were no
material changes in the composition of the loan portfolio during this period.

Credit risk is inherent in the business of extending loans. Canaan Bank
monitors the quality of the portfolio to ensure that loan quality will not be
sacrificed for growth. Because of the risk associated with extending loans,
Canaan Bank maintains an allowance or reserve for credit losses through charges
to earnings. The loan loss provision for the year 2003 was $36,000 as compared
to $70,000 for the year ended December 31, 2002. This is the result of a
decrease in charged off loans during the year 2003 and an increase in recoveries
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of loans previously charged off. While the overall level of nonperforming loans
remains low as a percentage of total loans, the increase of $98,000 in
nonperforming loans from December 31, 2003 to December 31, 2002 is being closely
monitored by management in order to determine whether such event is evidence of
any trend within the economy or loan portfolio.

Canaan Bank evaluates the adequacy of the allowance on a monthly basis. No
material changes have been made in the estimation methods or assumptions that
the Bank used in making this determination during the year ended December 31,
2003. Such evaluations are based on assessments of credit quality and "risk
rating" of loans by senior management, which is submitted to the Board of
Directors for approval. Loans are initially risk rated when originated. If there
is deterioration in the credit, the risk rating is adjusted accordingly.

The allowance also includes a component resulting from the application of
the measurement criteria of Statements of Financial Accounting Standards No.
114, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan ("SFAS114"). Impaired
loans receive individual evaluation of the allowance necessary on a monthly
basis and loans to be considered for impairment are defined in Canaan Bank's
Loan Policy. Loans are considered impaired when it is probable that Canaan Bank
will not be able to collect all principal and interest due according to the
terms of the note.

These loans will be measured on a loan-by-loan basis by either the present
value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loan's effective interest
rate, the loan's obtainable market price, or the fair value of collateral if the
loan is collateral dependent.

In addition, a risk of loss factor is applied in evaluating categories of
loans generally as part of the periodic analysis of the Allowance for Loan
Losses. This analysis reviews the allocations of the different categories of
loans within the portfolio and it considers historical loan losses and
delinquency figures as well as any recent delinquency trends.

The credit card delinquency and loss history is separately evaluated and
given a special loan loss factor because management recognizes the higher risk
involved in such loans. Concentrations of credit and local economic factors are
also evaluated on a periodic basis. Historical average net losses by loan type
are examined as well as trends by type. Canaan Bank's loan mix over the same
period of time is also analyzed. A loan loss allocation is made for each type of
loan multiplied by the loan mix percentage for each loan type to produce a
weighted average factor. There have been no reallocations within the allowance
during the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002.

At December 31, 2003 the allowance for loan losses totaled $698,000,
representing 83.29% of nonperforming loans, which totaled $838,000, and 1.22% of
total loans of $57,075,000. This compared to $680,000 representing 91.89% of
nonperforming loans, which totaled $740,000 and 1.12% of total loans of
$60,860,000 at December 31, 2002. A total of $38,000 in loans was charged off
during the year 2003, as compared to $50,000 during 2002. A total of $20,000 of
previously charged off loans was recovered during the year ended December 31,
2003. Recoveries for the year 2002 totaled $17,000. When comparing the two
years, net charge-offs were $18,000 for the year 2003 and $33,000 for the year
2002. Management believes that the allowance for loan losses is adequate. While
management estimates loan losses using the best available information, no
assurances can be given that additions to the allowance will not be necessary
based on changes in economic and real estate market conditions, further
information obtained regarding problem loans, identification of additional
problem loans or other factors. Additionally, with expectations of the Bank to
grow its existing portfolio, future additions to the allowance may be necessary
to maintain adequate coverage ratios.
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Deposits
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Canaan offers a variety of deposit accounts with a range of interest rates
and terms. Deposits at year-end 2003 totaled $74,983,000 compared to $72,935,000
at year-end 2002. This increase of $2,048,000 or 2.81% can be primarily

attributed to the ongoing efforts of
banking with its customers. The flow
general economic conditions, changes
rates and the aggressive competition
there was an increase in demand, NOW
core deposits.

Canaan to develop and maintain relationship
of deposits is influenced significantly by
in money market rates, prevailing interest
from nonbanking entities. During the year,
and savings accounts, which are lower cost,

The average daily amount of deposits by category and the average rates
paid on such deposits are summarized in the following table:

(dollars in thousands)

2003

Average

Balance Rate
Demand $14,048
NOW 9,447 .29%
Money Market 4,117 .65%
Savings 16,750 .98%
Time 31,337 2.91%

$75,699 1.49%

Year ended December 31

Average
Balance

$11, 973
6,730
7,037

14,448
31,152

2002

Maturities of time certificates of deposits of $100,000 or more
outstanding at December 31 are summarized as follows:

(dollars in thousands)

Three months or less

Over three months through six months
Over six months through one year
Over one year

Total

Borrowings

2001
Average
Rate Balance Rate
$ 11,573
1.03% 5,272 1.42%
1.07% 9,697 2.74%
1.83% 10,537 2.96%
3.48% 27,748 5.04%
2.09% $ 64,827 3.17%
December 31
2002 2001
$1,529 $1,447
1,625 902
1,384 1,789
3,330 3,563
$7,868 $7,701
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As part of its operating strategy, Canaan utilizes advances from the
Federal Home Loan Bank to supplement deposit growth and fund its asset growth, a
strategy that is designed to increase interest income. These advances are made
pursuant to various credit programs, each of which has its own interest rate and
range of maturities. At December 31, 2003, Canaan had $23,319,000 in outstanding
advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank compared to $21,774,000 at December 31,
2002. Management expects that it will continue this strategy of supplementing
deposit growth with advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the most significant market risk affecting Canaan.
Interest rate risk is defined as an exposure to a movement in interest rates
that could have an adverse effect on net interest income. Net interest income is
sensitive to interest rate risk to the degree that interest bearing liabilities
mature or reprice on a different basis than earning assets.
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In an attempt to manage its exposure to changes in interest rates, Canaan
Bank's assets and liabilities are managed in accordance with policies
established and reviewed by the Bank's Board of Directors. Canaan Bank's
Asset/Liability Management Committee monitors asset and deposit levels,
developments and trends in interest rates, liquidity and capital. One of the
primary financial objectives is to manage interest rate risk and control the
sensitivity of earnings to changes in interest rates in order to prudently
improve net interest income and manage the maturities and interest rate
sensitivities of assets and liabilities.

To quantify the extent of these risks both in its current position and in
actions it might take in the future, interest rate risk is monitored using gap
analysis which identifies the differences between assets and liabilities which
mature or reprice during specific time frames and model simulation which is used
to "rate shock" Canaan's asset and liability balances to measure how much of
Canaan's net interest income is "at risk" from sudden rate changes.

An interest rate sensitivity gap is defined as the difference between the
amount of interest-earning assets maturing or repricing within a specific time
period and the amount of interest-bearing liabilities maturing or repricing
within that same period. A gap is considered positive when the amount of
interest rate sensitive assets exceeds the amount of interest rate sensitive
liabilities. A gap 1is considered negative when the amount of interest rate
sensitive liabilities exceeds the amount of interest rate sensitive assets. At
December 31, 2003, Canaan was asset sensitive (positive gap). This would suggest
that the during a period of rising interest rates Canaan would be in a better
position to invest in higher yielding assets resulting in growth in interest
income. To the contrary, during a period of falling interest rates, a positive
gap would result in a decrease in interest income. The overall exposure of
interest rate risk at December 31, 2003 was low.

Liquidity

Liquidity is the ability to raise funds on a timely basis at an acceptable
cost in order to meet cash needs. Adequate liquidity is necessary to handle
fluctuation in deposit levels, to provide for customers' credit needs, and to
take advantage of investment opportunities as they are presented. Canaan manages
liquidity primarily with readily marketable investment securities, deposits and
loan repayments. Canaan's subsidiary, Canaan Bank, is a member of the Federal
Home Loan Bank of Boston. This enhances the liquidity position by providing a
source of available borrowings.
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Capital

At December 31, 2003, Canaan had $8,350,000 in shareholders' equity
compared to $8,274,000 at December 31, 2002. This represents an increase of
$76,000 or 0.92%. Several components contributed to the change since December
2002. Earnings for the year totaled $726,000. Market conditions have resulted in
a negative adjustment to unrealized comprehensive income of $633,000. Canaan
paid dividends in 2003 resulting in a decrease in capital of $81,000. Canaan
issued 1,917 net shares of common stock during 2003, which resulted in an
increase in capital of $65,000. Under current regulatory definitions, Canaan and
Canaan Bank are considered to be "well capitalized" for capital adequacy
purposes. As a result, Canaan Bank pays the lowest federal deposit insurance
deposit premiums possible. One primary measure of capital adequacy for
regulatory purposes is based on the ratio of capital to risk weighted assets.
This method of measuring capital adequacy helps to establish capital
requirements that are more sensitive to the differences in risk associated with
various assets. It takes into account off-balance sheet exposure in assessing
capital adequacy and it minimizes disincentives to holding liquid, low risk
assets. At year-end 2003, Canaan had a risk-based capital ratio of 13.07%
compared to 13.86% at December 31, 2002. Maintaining strong capital is essential
to bank safety and soundness. However, the effective management of capital
resources requires generating attractive returns on equity to build value for
shareholders while maintaining appropriate levels of capital to fund growth,
meet regulatory requirements and be consistent with prudent industry practices.
Management believes that the capital ratios of Canaan and Canaan Bank are
adequate to continue to meet the foreseeable capital needs of the institution.

Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices

Canaan's consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America which
require the measurement of financial condition and operating results in terms of
historical dollars without considering changes in the relative purchasing power
of money, over time, due to inflation. Unlike most industrial companies,
virtually all of the assets and liabilities of Canaan are monetary and,
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as a result, interest rates tend to have a greater impact on Canaan's
performance than do the effects of general levels of inflation; although they do
not necessarily move in the same direction or with the same magnitude as the
prices of goods and services. Although not an influence in recent years,
inflation could impact earnings in future periods.

Impact of New Accounting Standards

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, "Amendment of Statement No.
133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities" ("SFAS No. 149"), which
amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative
instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other
contracts and for hedging activities under SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities." This statement (a) clarifies
under what circumstances a contract with an initial net investment meets the
characteristic of a derivative, (b) clarifies when a derivative contains a
financing component, (c) amends the definition of an underlying to conform to
language used in FASB Interpretation No. 45, "Guarantor's Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of
Indebtedness of Others," and (d) amends certain existing pronouncements. The
provisions of SFAS No. 149 are effective for contracts entered into or modified
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after June 30, 2003. There was no substantial impact on Canaan's consolidated
financial statements on adoption of this Statement.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, "Accounting for Certain
Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity"
("SFAS No. 150"). This Statement establishes standards for the classification
and measurement of certain financial instruments with characteristics of both
liabilities and equity. SFAS No. 150 requires that certain financial instruments
that were previously classified as equity must be classified as a liability.
Most of the guidance in SFAS No. 150 is effective for financial instruments
entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective at the
beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. This
Statement did not have any material effect on Canaan's consolidated financial
statements.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, "Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities" ("FIN 46"), in an effort to expand upon and
strengthen existing accounting guidance that addresses when a company should
include in its financial statements the assets, liabilities and activities of
another entity. In December 2003, the FASB revised Interpretation No. 46, also
referred to as Interpretation 46 (R) ("FIN 46(R)"). The objective of this
interpretation is not to restrict the use of variable interest entities but to
improve financial reporting by companies involved with variable interest
entities. Until now, one company generally has included another entity in its
consolidated financial statements only if it controlled the entity through
voting interests. This interpretation changes that, by requiring a variable
interest entity to be consolidated by a company only if that company is subject
to a majority of the risk of loss from the variable interest entity's activities
or entitled to receive a majority of the entity's residual returns or both.
Canaan is required to apply FIN 46, as revised, to all entities subject to it by
the beginning of the first fiscal year or interim period beginning after
December 15, 2004. The adoption of this interpretation is not expected to have a
material effect on Canaan's consolidated financial statements.

In December 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 132 (revised 2003), "Employers'
Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits - an amendment of
SFAS No. 87, SFAS No. 88 and SFAS No. 106" ("SFAS No. 132 (revised 2003)"). This
Statement revises employers' disclosures about pension plans and other
postretirement benefit plans. It does not change the measurement or recognition
of those plans required by SFAS No. 87, "Employers' Accounting for Pensions,"
SFAS no. 88, "Employers' Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments of Defined
Benefit Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits," and SFAS No. 106,
"Employers' Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions." This
Statement retains the disclosure requirements contained in SFAS No. 132,
"Employers' Disclosures About Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits," which
it replaces. It requires additional disclosures to those in the original
Statement 132 about assets, obligations, cash flows and net periodic benefit
cost of defined benefit pension plans and other defined benefit postretirement
plans. This Statement is effective for financial statements with fiscal years
ending after December 15, 2003 and interim periods beginning after December 15,
2003. Adoption of this Statement did not have a material impact on Canaan's
consolidated financial statements.

Forward Looking Statements
This Prospectus/Proxy Statement, as well as other filings, reports and
press releases made or issued by Canaan and Canaan Bank, and oral statements

made by executive officers of Canaan and Canaan Bank, may include
forward-looking statements relating to such matters as:
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(a) assumptions concerning future economic and business conditions and their
effect on the economy in general and on the markets in which Canaan and
Canaan Bank do business, and

(b) expectations for increased revenues and earnings for Canaan and Canaan
Bank through growth resulting from acquisitions, attraction of new deposit
and loan customers and the introduction of new products and services.

Such forward-looking statements are based on assumptions rather than
historical or current facts and, therefore, are inherently uncertain and subject
to risk.

Canaan notes that a variety of factors could cause the actual results or
experience to differ materially from the anticipated results or other
expectations described or implied by such forward-looking statements. The risks
and uncertainties that may affect the operation, performance, development and
results of Canaan and Canaan Bank's business include the following:

(a) the risk of adverse changes in business conditions in the banking industry
generally and in the specific markets in which Canaan Bank operates;

(b) changes in the legislative and regulatory environment that negatively
impact Canaan and Canaan Bank through increased operating expenses;

(c) increased competition from other financial and non-financial institutions;
and
(d) the impact of technological advances;

Such developments could have an adverse impact on Canaan's and Canaan
Bank's financial position and results of operations.

Statement of Management's Responsibility

Management is responsible for the integrity and objectivity of the
financial statements and other information appearing in this Prospectus/Proxy
Statement. The financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America applying estimates
and management's best Jjudgment as required. To fulfill their responsibilities,
management establishes and maintains accounting systems and practices adequately
supported by internal accounting controls. These controls include the selection
and training of management and supervisory personnel; an organization structure
providing for delegation of authority and establishment or responsibilities;
communication of requirements for compliance with approved accounting, control
and business practices throughout the organization; business planning and
review; and a program of internal audit. Management believes the internal
accounting controls in use provide reasonable assurance that assets are
safeguarded, that transactions are executed in accordance with management's
authorization and that financial records are reliable for the purpose of
preparing financial statements.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The main components of market risk for Canaan are equity price risk,
credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk.

With regard to equity price risk Canaan's stock 1is not publicly traded. As
a result, the value of its common stock is determined annually by a third party
and does not respond to price movements relating to the banking industry or
other indicia of investment. A discussion of credit risk, interest rate risk and
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liquidity risk can be found in "Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in this Prospectus/Proxy
Statement.
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CANAAN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

[LOGO] SHATSWELL, MacLEOD & COMPANY, P.C.
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors
Canaan National Bancorp, Inc.
Canaan, Connecticut

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Canaan National
Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiary as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the related
consolidated statement of income, changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows
for the years then ended. These consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall consolidated financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Canaan
National Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiary as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the
consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then
ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

/s/ Shatswell, Macleod & Company, P.C.
SHATSWELL, MacLEOD & COMPANY, P.C.
West Peabody, Massachusetts
January 23, 2004

83 PINE STREET o WEST PEABODY, MASSACHUSETTS 01960-3635 o
TELEPHONE (978) 535-0206 o FACSIMILE (978) 535-9908
smc@shatswell.com www.shatswell.com
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CANAAN NATIONAL BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
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December 31, 2003 and 2002

ASSETS

Cash and due from banks
Interest bearing demand deposits with other banks
Federal Home Loan Bank overnight deposit

Cash and cash equivalents

Investments in available-for-sale securities (at fair value)

Investments in held-to-maturity securities (fair values of $802,881 as of
December 31, 2003 and $1,323,349 as of December 31, 2002)

Federal Reserve Bank stock, at cost

Federal Home Loan Bank stock, at cost

Loans, net of allowance for loan losses of $698,222 as of December 31, 2003
and $680,414 as of December 31, 2002

Loans held-for-sale

Premises and equipment

Accrued interest receivable

Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Deposits:
Noninterest-bearing
Interest-bearing

Total deposits
Federal Home Loan Bank advances
Other borrowed funds
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Stockholders' equity:
Common stock, par value $.01 per share; authorized 300,000 shares; issued and
outstanding, 177,418 shares as of December 31, 2003 and 175,501
shares as of December 31, 2002
Paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income

Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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$

4

5

1,766,1
50,4

1,816,6
4,121,0

756, 8
56, 3
1,250,3

6,328, 0
180, 0
1,212,8
583, 6
781, 3

s 1
6

7
2

4,134,909
0,848,1
4,983,0
3,319,4
97, 6
336, 3

1,7
1,070, 8
7,807, 8

(530, 0
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CANAAN NATIONAL BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002

Interest and dividend income:
Interest and fees on loans
Interest on debt securities:

Taxable

Tax—exempt
Dividends
Other interest

Total interest and dividend income
Interest expense:
Interest on deposits
Interest on Federal Home Loan Bank advances
Interest on other borrowed funds

Total interest expense

Net interest and dividend income
Provision for loan losses

Net interest and dividend income after provision for loan losses

Other income:
Service charges on deposit accounts
Gain on sales of available-for-sale securities, net
Gain on sales of loans, net
Servicing income
Other income

Total other income

Other expense:
Salaries and employee benefits
Occupancy expense
Equipment expense
Data processing
Professional fees
Writedown of other asset
Net cost of operation of other real estate owned
Printing and stationery
Other expense

Total other expense

Income before income taxes
Income taxes

Net income

Earnings per common share

$4,047,550

874,875
414,915
152,572

15,665

1,129,100
1,071,135
634

36,000

335,958
68,003
627,198
35,513
53,207

1,695,752
199,725
276,112
328,906
289,009

10, 664
44,722
438,720

1,036,974
311,242

$

Ur

4
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Earnings per common share,

assuming dilution

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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CANAAN NATIONAL BANCORP,

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Years Ended December 31,

Balance, December 31, 2001
Comprehensive income:
Net income
Net change in unrealized holding
gain on available-for-sale securities,
net of tax effect
Comprehensive income
Retirement of shares of common stock
Issuance of shares of common stock
Dividends ($.43 per share)
Balance, December 31, 2002
Comprehensive income:
Net income
Net change in unrealized holding
gain on available-for-sale securities,
net of tax effect
Comprehensive income
Retirement of shares of common stock
Issuance of shares of common stock
Sale of common stock on exercise of
stock options
Dividends ($.46 per share)
2003

Balance, December 31,

Reclassification disclosure for the years ended December 31:

$ 4.04 $
INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
2003 and 2002
Number of
Shares
Issued

and Common Paid-in Retai
Outstanding Stock Capital Earni
176,639 $ 1,766 $ 1,059,783 $ 6,49
73

(5,367) (53) (247,312)

4,229 42 193,335
(7
175,501 1,755 1,005,806 7,16
72

(1,090) (11) (52,309)

52 2,480

2,955 30 114,921
(8
177,418 S 1,774 $ 1,070,898 $ 7,80
2003
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Net unrealized (losses) gains on available-for-sale securities
Reclassification adjustment for realized gains in net income

Other comprehensive (loss) income before income tax effect
Income tax benefit (expense)

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income as of December 31, 2003 and 2002
consists of net unrealized holding (losses) gains on available-for-sale
securities, net of taxes.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of
these consolidated financial statements.
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CANAAN NATIONAL BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Amortization of securities, net
Gain on sales of available-for-sale securities, net
Writedown of other asset
Provision for loan losses
Change in unearned income
Change in loans held-for-sale
Depreciation and amortization
(Increase) decrease in interest receivable
Deferred tax expense (benefit)
Increase in prepaid expenses
Increase in income tax receivable
(Increase) decrease in other assets
Increase in mortgage servicing rights
Decrease in taxes payable
(Decrease) increase in accrued expenses
Decrease in interest payable
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of available-for-sale securities
Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securities
Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale securities
Proceeds from maturities of held-to-maturity securities

(

82

36,
(201
678,
226,
(641
135,
(141
(111,

(304,

21,234,

10,054,
510,
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Loan originations and principal collections, net
Recoveries of loans previously charged off
Proceeds from sale of other real estate owned
Proceeds from sale of other stock investment
Capital expenditures

Net cash used in investing activities
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CANAAN NATIONAL BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002
(continued)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Net increase in demand deposits, NOW and savings accounts 3,
Net (decrease) increase in time deposits (1,
Net increase (decrease) in short term advances from Federal Home Loan Bank 2,

Proceeds from long-term advances from Federal Home Loan Bank

Principal payments on long-term advances from Federal Home Loan Bank (1,

Net decrease in other borrowed funds
Dividends paid

Retirement of shares of common stock
Issuance of shares of common stock
Proceeds from exercise of stock options

Net cash provided by financing activities 3,
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 3,
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 1,

Supplemental disclosures:

Interest paid $ 2,

Income taxes paid
Loans transferred to other real estate owned

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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3,747,

162,040
114,424)
398,000
750,000
602,200
(2,304
(80,688
(52,320
2,480
114,951

)
)
)
)

831, 695)
648,297

213,358
287,372
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CANAAN NATIONAL BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002

NOTE 1 - NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Canaan National Bancorp, Inc. (Company) is a Delaware corporation that was
organized in 1988 to become the holding company of The Canaan National Bank
(Bank) . The Company's primary activity is to act as the holding company for the

Bank. The Bank is a federally chartered bank which was incorporated in 1907 and
is headquartered in Canaan, Connecticut. The Bank also has a branch office
located in South Egremont, Massachusetts. The Bank 1is engaged principally in the
business of attracting deposits from the general public and investing those
deposits in residential and commercial real estate loans, and in consumer and
small business loans.

NOTE 2 - ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting and reporting policies of the Company and its subsidiary conform
to accounting policies generally accepted in the United States of America and
predominant practices within the banking industry. The consolidated financial
statements were prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. The significant
accounting policies are summarized below to assist the reader in better
understanding the consolidated financial statements and other data contained
herein.

USE OF ESTIMATES:

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION:

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Canaan
National Bancorp, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary, The Canaan
National Bank (Bank), and the Bank's wholly-owned subsidiary, CNB
Insurance Agency, Inc. CNB Insurance Agency, Inc. was formed to sell
insurance. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have
been eliminated in the consolidation.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:

For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include
cash on hand, cash items, due from banks, interest bearing demand deposits
with other banks and Federal Home Loan Bank overnight deposit.

Cash and due from banks as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 includes $640,000
and $583,000, respectively, which is subject to withdrawals and usage
restrictions to satisfy the reserve requirements of the Federal Reserve
Bank.

SECURITIES:

Investments in debt securities are adjusted for amortization of premiums
and accretion of discounts computed so as to approximate the interest
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method. Gains or losses on sales of investment securities are computed on
a specific identification basis.
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The Company classifies debt and equity securities into one of three
categories: held-to-maturity, available-for-sale or trading. These
security classifications may be modified after acquisition only under
certain specified conditions. In general, securities may be classified as
held-to-maturity only if the Company has the positive intent and ability
to hold them to maturity. Trading securities are defined as those bought
and held principally for the purpose of selling them in the near term. All
other securities must be classified as available-for-sale.

- Held-to-maturity securities are measured at amortized cost in
the consolidated balance sheets. Unrealized holding gains and
losses are not included in earnings or in a separate component
of capital. They are merely disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

- Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value on the
consolidated balance sheets. Unrealized holding gains and
losses are not included in earnings but are reported as a net
amount (less expected tax) in a separate component of capital
until realized.

- Trading securities are carried at fair value on the
consolidated balance sheets. Unrealized holding gains and
losses for trading securities are included in earnings.

Declines in the fair value of held-to-maturity and available-for-sale
securities below their cost that are deemed to be other than temporary are
reflected in earnings as realized losses.

LOANS:

Loans receivable that management has the intent and ability to hold until
maturity or payoff, are reported at their outstanding principal balances
adjusted for any charge-offs, the allowance for loan losses and any
deferred fees or costs on originated loans or unamortized premiums or
discounts on purchased loans.

Interest on loans is recognized on a simple interest basis.

Loan origination, commitment fees and certain direct origination costs are
deferred, and the net amount amortized as an adjustment of the related
loan's yield. The Company 1is amortizing these amounts over the contractual
life of the related loans.

Residential real estate loans are generally placed on nonaccrual when
reaching 90 days past due or in process of foreclosure. All closed-end
consumer loans 90 days or more past due and any equity line in the process
of foreclosure are placed on nonaccrual status. Secured consumer loans are
written down to realizable value and unsecured consumer loans are
charged-off upon reaching 120 or 180 days past due depending on the type
of loan. Commercial real estate loans and commercial business loans and
leases which are 90 days or more past due are generally placed on
nonaccrual status, unless secured by sufficient cash or other assets
immediately convertible to cash. When a loan has been placed on nonaccrual
status, previously accrued and uncollected interest is reversed against
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interest on loans. A loan can be returned to accrual status when
collectibility of principal is reasonably assured and the loan has
performed for a period of time, generally six months.

Cash receipts of interest income on impaired loans is credited to
principal to the extent necessary to eliminate doubt as to the
collectibility of the net carrying amount of the loan. Some or all of the
cash receipts of interest income on impaired loans is recognized as
interest income if the remaining net carrying amount of the loan is deemed
to be fully collectible. When recognition of interest income on an
impaired loan on a cash basis is appropriate, the amount of income that is
recognized is limited to that which would have been accrued on the net
carrying amount of the loan at the contractual interest rate. Any cash
interest payments received in excess of the limit and not applied to
reduce the net carrying amount of the loan are recorded as recoveries of
charge-offs until the charge-offs are fully recovered.
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LOANS HELD-FOR-SALE:

Loans held-for-sale are carried at the lower of cost or estimated market
value in the aggregate. Net unrealized losses are recognized through a
valuation allowance by charges to income.

ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES:

The allowance for loan losses is established as losses are estimated to
have occurred through a provision for loan losses charged to earnings.
Loan losses are charged against the allowance when management believes the
uncollectibility of a loan balance is confirmed. Subsequent recoveries, 1if
any, are credited to the allowance.

The allowance for loan losses is evaluated on a regular basis by
management and is based upon management's periodic review of the
collectibility of the loans in light of historical experience, the nature
and volume of the loan portfolio, adverse situations that may affect the
borrower's ability to repay, estimated value of any underlying collateral
and prevailing economic conditions. This evaluation is inherently
subjective as it requires estimates that are susceptible to significant
revision as more information becomes available.

A loan is considered impaired when, based on current information and
events, it is probable that the Company will be unable to collect the
scheduled payments of principal or interest when due according to the
contractual terms of the loan agreement. Factors considered by management
in determining impairment include payment status, collateral value, and
the probability of collecting scheduled principal and interest payments
when due. Loans that experience insignificant payment delays and payment
shortfalls generally are not classified as impaired. Management determines
the significance of payment delays and payment shortfalls on a
case-by-case basis, taking into consideration all of the circumstances
surrounding the loan and the borrower, including the length of the delay,
the reasons for the delay, the borrower's prior payment record, and the
amount of the shortfall in relation to the principal and interest owed.
Impairment is measured on a loan by loan basis for commercial and
construction loans by either the present value of expected future cash
flows discounted at the loan's effective interest rate, the loan's
obtainable market price, or the fair value of the collateral if the loan
is collateral dependent.
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Large groups of smaller balance homogeneous loans are collectively
evaluated for impairment. Accordingly, the Company does not separately
identify individual consumer and residential loans for impairment
disclosures.

PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT:

Premises and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation
and amortization. Cost and related allowances for depreciation and
amortization of premises and equipment retired or otherwise disposed of
are removed from the respective accounts with any gain or loss included in
income or expense. Depreciation and amortization are calculated
principally on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of
the assets. Estimated lives are 15 to 45 years for buildings and 2 to 10
years for furniture and equipment. Leasehold improvements are amortized
over the lesser of the life of the lease or the estimated life of the
improvements.

OTHER REAL ESTATE OWNED AND IN-SUBSTANCE FORECLOSURES:

Other real estate owned includes properties acquired through foreclosure
and properties classified as in-substance foreclosures in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 15, "Accounting by
Debtors and Creditors for Troubled Debt Restructuring." These properties
are carried at the lower of cost or estimated fair value less estimated
costs to sell. Any writedown from cost to estimated fair value required at
the time of foreclosure or classification as in-substance foreclosure is
charged to the allowance for loan losses. Expenses incurred in connection
with maintaining these assets and subsequent writedowns are included in
other expense.
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In accordance with SFAS No. 114, "Accounting by Creditors for Impairment
of a Loan," the Company classifies loans as in-substance repossessed or
foreclosed if the Company receives physical possession of the debtor's
assets regardless of whether formal foreclosure proceedings take place.

ADVERTISING:

The Company directly expenses costs associated with advertising as they
are incurred.

SERVICING:

Servicing assets are recognized as separate assets when rights are
acquired through purchase or through sale of financial assets. Capitalized
servicing rights are reported in other assets and are amortized into
noninterest income in proportion to, and over the period of, the estimated
future net servicing income of the underlying financial assets. Servicing
assets are evaluated for impairment based upon the fair value of the
rights as compared to amortized cost. Impairment is determined by
stratifying rights by predominant characteristics, such as interest rates
and terms. Fair value is determined using prices for similar assets with
similar characteristics, when available, or based upon discounted cash
flows using market-based assumptions. Impairment is recognized through a
valuation allowance for an individual stratum, to the extent that fair
value is less than the capitalized amount for the stratum.
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INCOME TAXES:

The Company recognizes income taxes under the asset and liability method.
Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are established for
the temporary differences between the accounting basis and the tax basis
of the Company's assets and liabilities at enacted tax rates expected to
be in effect when the amounts related to such temporary differences are
realized or settled.

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS:

SFAS No. 107, "Disclosures About Fair Value of Financial Instruments,"
requires that the Company disclose estimated fair value for its financial
instruments. Fair value methods and assumptions used by the Company in
estimating its fair value disclosures are as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents: The carrying amounts reported in the balance
sheets for cash and cash equivalents approximate those assets' fair
values.

Securities (including mortgage-backed securities): Fair values for
securities are based on quoted market prices, where available. If quoted
market prices are not available, fair values are based on quoted market
prices of comparable instruments.

Loans receivable: For variable-rate loans that reprice frequently and with
no significant change in credit risk, fair values are based on carrying
values. The fair values for other loans are estimated using discounted
cash flow analyses, using interest rates currently being offered for loans
with similar terms to borrowers of similar credit quality.

Loans held-for-sale: Fair values of loans held-for-sale are based on
commitments on hand from investors or prevailing market prices.

Accrued interest receivable: The carrying amount of accrued interest
receivable approximates its fair wvalue.
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Deposit liabilities: The fair values disclosed for interest and
non—-interest checking, passbook savings and money market accounts are, by
definition, equal to the amount payable on demand at the reporting date
(i.e., their carrying amounts). Fair values for fixed-rate certificates of
deposit are estimated using a discounted cash flow calculation that
applies interest rates currently being offered on certificates to a
schedule of aggregated expected monthly maturities on time deposits.

Federal Home Loan Bank advances: Fair values for Federal Home Loan Bank
advances are estimated using a discounted cash flow technique that applies
interest rates currently being offered on advances to a schedule of
aggregated expected monthly maturities on Federal Home Loan Bank advances.

Other borrowed funds: Other borrowed funds consist of treasury tax and
loan deposits which generally are repaid within one to 120 days from the
transaction date. The carrying amount of other borrowed funds approximates
its fair value.

Off-balance sheet instruments: The fair value of commitments to originate
loans is estimated using the fees currently charged to enter similar
agreements, taking into account the remaining terms of the agreements and
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the present creditworthiness of the counterparties. For fixed-rate loan
commitments and the unadvanced portion of loans, fair value also considers
the difference between current levels of interest rates and the committed
rates. The fair value of letters of credit is based on fees currently
charged for similar agreements or on the estimated cost to terminate them
or otherwise settle the obligation with the counterparties at the
reporting date.

STOCK BASED COMPENSATION:

At December 31, 2003, the Company has three stock-based employee
compensation plans which are described more fully in Note 11. The Company
accounts for those plans under the recognition and measurement principles
of APB Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees," and
related Interpretations. No stock-based employee compensation is reflected
in net income, as all options granted under this plan has an exercise
price equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the date
of grant. The following table illustrates the effect on net income and
earnings per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition
provisions of SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," to
stock-based employee compensation for the years ended December 31:

2003
Net income, as reported $725,732
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value based method for all awards,
net of related tax effects
Pro forma net income $725,732
Earnings per share:
Basic - as reported $ 4.13
Basic - pro forma 4.13
Diluted - as reported 4.04
Diluted - pro forma 4.04

EARNINGS PER SHARE:

Basic earnings per share represents income available to common
stockholders divided by the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects
additional common shares that would have been outstanding if dilutive
potential common shares had been issued, as well as any adjustment to
income that would result from the assumed issuance. Potential common
shares that may be issued by the Company relate solely to outstanding
stock options, and are determined using the treasury stock method.
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RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS:

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146 "Accounting for Costs
Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities" ("SFAS No. 106"). This
Statement requires that a liability for a cost associated with an exit or
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disposal activity be recognized and measured initially at fair value only
when the liability is incurred. SFAS No. 146 is effective for exit or
disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002. This
Statement did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated
financial statements.

In October 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 147 "Acquisitions of Certain
Financial Institutions™ ("SFAS No. 147"), an Amendment of SFAS Nos. 72 and
144 and FASB Interpretation No. 9. SFAS No. 72 "Accounting for Certain
Acquisitions of Banking or Thrift Institutions" and FASB Interpretation
No. 9 "Applying APB Opinions No. 16 and 17 When a Savings and Loan
Association or a Similar Institution Is Acquired in a Business Combination
Accounted for by the Purchase Method" provided interpretive guidance on
the application of the purchase method to acquisitions of financial
institutions. Except for transactions between two or more mutual
enterprises, SFAS No. 147 removes acquisitions of financial institutions
from the scope of both Statement 72 and Interpretation 9 and requires that
those transactions be accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 141
"Business Combinations" and SFAS No. 142 "Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets." Thus, the requirement in paragraph 5 of Statement 72 to recognize
(and subsequently amortize) any excess of the fair value of liabilities
assumed over the fair value of tangible and identifiable intangible assets
acquired as an unidentifiable intangible asset no longer applies to
acquisitions within the scope of SFAS No. 147. In addition, SFAS No. 147
amends SFAS No. 144 "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets" to include in its scope long-term customer-relationship
intangible assets of financial institutions such as depositor- and
borrower-relationship intangible assets and credit cardholder intangible
assets. Consequently, those intangible assets are subject to the same
undiscounted cash flow recoverability test and impairment loss recognition
and measurement provisions that SFAS No. 144 requires for other long-lived
assets that are held and used.

Paragraph 5 of SFAS No. 147, which relates to the application of the
purchase method of accounting, is effective for acquisitions for which the
date of acquisition is on or after October 1, 2002. The provisions in
paragraph 6 related to accounting for the impairment or disposal of
certain long-term customer-relationship intangible assets are effective on
October 1, 2002. Transition provisions for previously recognized
unidentifiable intangible assets in paragraphs 8-14 are effective on
October 1, 2002, with earlier application permitted. There was no
substantial impact on its consolidated financial statements on adoption of
this Statement.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 45, "Guarantor's
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others" ("FIN 45"). FIN 45 elaborates on the
disclosure to be made by a guarantor in its interim and annual financial
statements about its obligations under certain guarantees that it has
issued. It also clarifies that a guarantor is required to recognize, at
the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the
obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee. FIN 45 clarifies that a
guarantor is required to disclose (a) the nature of the guarantee; (b) the
maximum potential amount of future payments under the guarantee; (c) the
carrying amount of the liability; (d) the nature and extent of any
recourse provisions or available collateral that would enable the
guarantor to recover the amounts paid under the guarantee.

The initial recognition and initial measurement provisions of FIN 45 are
applicable on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after
December 31, 2002. The disclosure requirements in FIN 45 are effective for
financial statements of interim or annual periods ending after December
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15, 2002. The Company adopted the initial recognition and initial
measurement provisions of FIN 45 effective as of January 1, 2003 and
adopted the disclosure requirements effective as of December 31, 2002. The
adoption of this interpretation did not have a material effect on the
Company's financial position or results of operations.
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In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, "Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation - Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of SFAS
Statement No. 123" ("SFAS No. 148"). SFAS No. 148 provides alternative
methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based
method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition,
SFAS No. 148 amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require
prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements
about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and
the effect of the method used on reported results. The transition
provisions and disclosure provisions are required for financial statements
for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. The Company adopted the
disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148 as of December 31, 2002 and
currently uses the intrinsic value method of accounting for stock options.

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, "Amendment of Statement No.
133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities" ("SFAS No. 149"),
which amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for
derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded
in other contracts and for hedging activities under SFAS No. 133,
"Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities." This
Statement (a) clarifies under what circumstances a contract with an
initial net investment meets the characteristic of a derivative, (b)
clarifies when a derivative contains a financing component, (c) amends the
definition of an underlying to conform to language used in FASB
Interpretation No. 45, "Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,"
and (d) amends certain other existing pronouncements. The provisions of
SFAS No. 149 are effective for contracts entered into or modified after
June 30, 2003. There was no substantial impact on the Company's
consolidated financial statements on adoption of this Statement.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, "Accounting for Certain
Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity"
("SFAS No. 150"). This Statement establishes standards for the
classification and measurement of certain financial instruments with
characteristics of both liabilities and equity. SFAS No. 150 requires that
certain financial instruments that were previously classified as equity
must be classified as a liability. Most of the guidance in SFAS No. 150 is
effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31,
2003, and otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first interim
period beginning after June 15, 2003. This Statement did not have any
material effect on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, "Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities" ("FIN 46"), in an effort to expand upon and
strengthen existing accounting guidance that addresses when a company
should include in its financial statements the assets, liabilities and
activities of another entity. In December 2003, the FASB revised
Interpretation No. 46, also referred to as Interpretation 46 (R) ("FIN
46(R)"). The objective of this interpretation is not to restrict the use
of variable interest entities but to improve financial reporting by
companies involved with variable interest entities. Until now, one company
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generally has included another entity in its consolidated financial
statements only if it controlled the entity through voting interests. This
interpretation changes that, by requiring a variable interest entity to be
consolidated by a company only if that company is subject to a majority of
the risk of loss from the variable interest entity's activities or
entitled to receive a majority of the entity's residual returns or both.
The Company 1is required to apply FIN 46, as revised, to all entities
subject to it by the beginning of the first fiscal year or interim period
beginning after December 15, 2004. The adoption of this interpretation is
not expected to have a material effect on the Company's consolidated

financial statements.
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In December 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 132

"Employers' Accounting for Pensions," SFAS No.

(revised 2003),
Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits - an
amendment of SFAS No. 87, SFAS No. 88 and SFAS No.
(revised 2003)"). This Statement revises employers'
pension plans and other postretirement benefit plans.
the measurement or recognition of those plans required by SFAS No.
"Employers'

106"

("SFAS No.
disclosures about

"Employers'

132

It does not change

87,
Accounting

for Settlements and Curtailments of Defined Benefit Pension Plans and for

Termination Benefits," and SFAS No. 106, "Employers'

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions."
disclosure requirements contained in SFAS No.

Accounting for
This Statement retains the
"Employers'

Disclosures

About Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits," which it replaces. It
requires additional disclosures to those in the original Statement 132
about assets, obligations, cash flows and net periodic benefit cost of
defined benefit pension plans and other defined benefit postretirement
plans. This Statement is effective for financial statements with fiscal
years ending after December 15, 2003 and interim periods beginning after
December 15, 2003. Adoption of this Statement did not have a material
impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 3 - INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES

Debt and equity securities have been classified in the consolidated balance
sheets according to management's intent. The amortized cost of securities and
their approximate fair values are as follows as of December 31:

Gains In

Accumulated
Amortized Other
Cost Comprehensive
Basis Income
Available-for-sale securities:
December 31, 2003:
Debt securities issued by U.S. government
corporations and agencies $ 5,046,572 S 45,907
Debt securities issued by states of the United
States and political subdivisions of the states 11,061,895 276,487
Corporate debt securities 2,271,168 28,047
Mortgage-backed securities 17,483,799 98,840
Asset-backed securities 4,664,887 41,909
Marketable equity securities 4,000,000
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December 31, 2002:
Debt securities issued by states of the United
States and political subdivisions of the states$
Corporate debt securities
Mortgage-backed securities
Asset-backed securities
Marketable equity securities

Held-to-maturity securities:
December 31, 2003:
Debt securities issued by states of the United
States and political subdivisions of the states$
Mortgage-backed securities
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December 31, 2002:
Debt securities issued by states of the United
States and political subdivisions of the states
Mortgage-backed securities

$44,528,321

6,777,040
2,015,916
15,380,651
5,633,844
4,000,000

752,754
4,068

Amortized
Cost
Basis

$ 753,287
513,358

The scheduled maturities of debt securities were as follows as of December 31,

2003:

Due in one year

Due after one year through five years
Due after five years through ten years
Due after ten years

Available-For-

$ 1,130,439
4,561,476
4,576,421
8,365,092

S 491,190 $
S 226,816 $
64,191
208,161
62,089
$ 561,257 $
S 46,045 $
14
S 46,059 $
Gains In Loss
Accumulated Accun
Other ot
Comprehensive Compre
Income In
$ 46,513 $
10,191
$ 56,704 $
Sale Held
Amortized

Cost Basi

650,00
102,75
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Mortgage-backed securities 17,503,907 4,06
Asset-backed securities 4,706,201
$40,843,536 $ 756, 82

The aggregate fair value and unrealized losses of securities that have been in a
continuous unrealized-loss position for less than twelve months and for twelve
months or more, and are not other than temporarily impaired, are as follows as
of December 31, 2003:

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Longer
Fair Unrealized Fair Unreal
Value Losses Value Loss

Debt securities issued by U.S.
government corporations
and agencies S 953,307 S 13,455 S S
Debt securities issued by states of
the United States and political

subdivisions of the states 3,770,667 79,363
Corporate debt securities 896,170 3,830
Mortgage-backed securities 7,900,704 77,721 45,950 1
Asset-backed securities 237,844 595
Marketable equity securities 3,277,487 722

Total temporarily impaired
securities $13,758,692 S 174,964 $ 3,323,437 S 723

The Company reported a net unrealized loss on available for sale securities of
$361,239 at December 31, 2003 compared to a net unrealized gain of $367,898 at
December 31, 2002. Securities in a unrealized loss position for less that twelve
months are the result of the current interest rate environment and are not due
to unfavorable credit ratings. These securities are considered to be temporarily
impaired. Five securities were in an unrealized loss position for twelve months
or more. Of these five securities, four impaired with an unrealized loss at
approximately 22% of amortized cost. These four securities consist of FNMA and
FHIMC preferred stock. Due to the adjustable rate on these securities, the
impairments are a function of the current interest rate environment and their
values are expected to rise when interest rates rise. Company management does
not consider their securities to be other than temporarily impaired as of
December 31, 2003.
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During 2003, there were no sales of available-for-sale securities. During 2002,
proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securities amounted to $5,329,508.
Gross realized gains and gross realized losses on those sales amounted to
$128,919 and $60,916, respectively. The tax expense applicable to these net
realized gains amounted to $26,487.

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, securities with carrying amounts totaling
$6,346,099 and $1,353,997 were pledged to secure treasury, tax and loan, public
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funds on deposit and borrowings at the Federal Reserve Discount Window and
Federal Home Loan Bank.

Securities of issuers which exceeded 10% of stockholders' equity as of December
31, 2003 are as follows:

Issuer

Federal National Mortgage Association preferred stock

NOTE 4 - LOANS

Loans consisted of the following as of December 31:

Commercial, financial and agricultural
Obligations of states and political subdivisions in the U.S.

Real estate - construction and land development
Real estate - residential

Real estate - commercial

Consumer

Other

Allowance for loan losses
Unearned income

Net loans

Certain directors and executive officers of the Company and companies in which

they have significant ownership interest were customers of the Bank during 2003.

Total loans to such persons and their companies amounted to $1,989,392 as of
December 31, 2003. During 2003 principal advances of $1,154,911 were made and
principal payments totaled $526,149.

Changes in the allowance for loan losses were as follows for the years ended
December 31:

Balance at beginning of period

Provision for loan losses

Recoveries of loans previously charged off
Loans charged off

Balance at end of period

Amortized
Cost Basis

$3,000,000

S 6,494,067
208,748
1,984, 34¢
30,325,854
12,783,228
5,265,795
13,039
57,075,077
(698,222
(48,832

$680,414

36,000

20,021
(38,213)
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The following table sets forth information regarding nonaccrual loans and
accruing loans 90 days or more overdue as of December 31:

200
Total nonaccrual loans $ 15,
Accruing loans which are 90 days or more overdue $560,
71
Information about loans that meet the definition of an impaired loan in
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 114 is as follows as of December
31:
2003
Recorded Related
Investment Allowance
In Impaired For Credit
Loans Losses
Loans for which there is a related allowance for credit losses S 4,317 $ 1,079
Loans for which there is no related allowance for credit losses 0
Totals $ 4,317 $ 1,079

Average recorded investment in impaired loans during the
years ended December 31 $140,482

Related amount of interest income recognized during the time,
in the years ended December 31 that the loans were impaired

Total recognized $ 4,150

Amount recognized using a cash-basis method of
accounting $ 4,150

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, there was one loan outstanding, with a balance
of $262,205 and $283,858, respectively, that was restructured in a troubled debt
restructuring before January 1, 1995, the effective date of SFAS No. 114. This
loan was not impaired based on the terms specified by the restructuring
agreement. Interest income recognized on this loan amounted to $13,341 in 2003
and $26,053 in 2002. Interest income that would have been recognized on this
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loan during the year ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 had it been current under
its original terms amounted to $14,430 and $20, 954, respectively.

Mortgage servicing rights of $357,318 were capitalized in 2003. Amortization of
mortgage servicing rights was $32,323 in 2003. The balance of capitalized
mortgage servicing rights included in other assets at December 31, 2003 was
$304,188.

Following is an analysis of the aggregate changes in the valuation allowance for
mortgage servicing rights for the year ended December 31, 2003:

Balance, beginning of year S

Additions 51,174
Reductions (30,367)
Balance, end of year $ 20,807

Management estimates that the carrying value of those rights at December 31,
2003 approximates fair wvalue.

As of December 31, 2003 the Company serviced loans for others with unpaid
principal balances of $34,208,164.
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NOTE 5 - PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT

The following is a summary of premises and equipment as of December 31:

2003 2002

Land S 48,460 S 48,460
Buildings 1,008,244 998,843
Leasehold improvements 463,004 463,004
Furniture and equipment 1,269,780 1,225,742
2,789,488 2,736,049

Accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,576,634) (1,381,325)
$ 1,212,854 $ 1,354,724

NOTE 6 - DEPOSITS

The aggregate amount of time deposit accounts in denominations of $100,000 or
more as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 was $8,049,365 and $7,867,718,
respectively.

For time deposits as of December 31, 2003, the scheduled maturities for years
ended December 31 are:

2004 $16,717,782
2005 3,194,954
2006 3,226,292
2007 6,745,357
2008 546,748
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Certain directors and executive officers of the Company and companies in which
they have a significant ownership interest were customers of the Bank. Total
deposits to such persons and their companies amounted to $1,985,614 and
$1,495,183 as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

NOTE 7 - FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANK ADVANCES

Advances consist of funds borrowed from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston
(FHLB) .

Maturities of advances from the FHLB for the five years ending after December
31, 2003 and thereafter are summarized as follows:

AMOUNT
2004 $ 6,302,837
2005 1,299,365
2006 1,595,508
2007 2,323,900
2008 1,676,704
Thereafter 10,121,135
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As of December 31, 2003, the following advances from the FHLB were redeemable at
par at the option of the FHLB:

MATURITY DATE OPTIONAL REDEMPTION DATE

November 15, 2004 February 17, 2004 and quarterly thereafter
March 28, 2007 March 29, 2004 and quarterly thereafter
April 27, 2009 January 26, 2004 and quarterly thereafter
April 27, 2009 April 26, 2004 and quarterly thereafter
February 8, 2010 February 9, 2004 and quarterly thereafter
March 8, 2010 March 8, 2004 and quarterly thereafter
March 15, 2010 March 15, 2004 and quarterly thereafter
December 15, 2010 March 15, 2004 and quarterly thereafter
December 20, 2010 March 22, 2004 and quarterly thereafter
December 27, 2010 March 26, 2004 and quarterly thereafter
January 24, 2011 January 22, 2004 and quarterly thereafter
February 28, 2011 February 26, 2004 and quarterly thereafter
March 1, 2011 March 1, 2006 and quarterly thereafter
March 7, 2011 March 5, 2004 and quarterly thereafter

As of December 31, 2003 a $400,000 advance maturing on April 9, 2007 is subject
to maturity on January 8, 2004 and each quarter thereafter if the strike rate of
7%, specified in the advance agreement, is lower than the one month LIBOR.

Amortizing advances are being repaid in equal monthly payments and are being
amortized from the date of the advance to the maturity date on a direct
reduction basis.
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Borrowings from the FHLB are secured by a blanket lien on qualified collateral,
consisting primarily of loans with first mortgages secured by one to four family
properties, certain unencumbered investment securities and other qualified
assets.

At December 31, 2003, the interest rates on FHLB advances ranged from 1.21
percent to 6.96 percent. At December 31, 2003, the weighted average interest
rate on FHLB advances was 4.56 percent.

NOTE 8 - OTHER BORROWED FUNDS

Other borrowed funds consist of treasury tax and loan deposits which generally
are repaid within one to 120 days from the transaction date.

NOTE 9 - INCOME TAXES

The components of income tax expense are as follows for the years ended December
31:

2003 2002

Current:
Federal $117,298 $213,809
State 58,402 83,402
175,700 297,211

Deferred:
Federal 107,303 (23,910)
State 28,239 (8,271)
Valuation allowance 31,424
135,542 (757)
Total income tax expense $311,242 $296,454
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The reasons for the difference between the tax at the statutory federal income
tax rate and the effective tax rate are summarized as follows for the years
ended December 31:

2003

% of

Incom

Federal income tax at statutory rate 34.0
Increase (decrease) in tax resulting from:

Tax—exempt income (13.9

Dividends received deduction (2.5

Unallowable deductions 1.5
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Merger expenses 6.5

Other items (1.1
State tax, net of federal tax benefit 5.5
Valuation allowance

Effective tax rate 30.0

The Company had gross deferred tax assets and gross deferred tax liabilities as
follows as of December 31:

2003
Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for loan losses $ 201,781
Interest on non-performing loans 101
Security writedown
Capital loss carryforward 31,424
Deferred expense 4,611
Net unrealized holding loss on available-for-sale equity securities 281,419
Gross deferred tax assets 519, 336
Valuation allowance (312,843
206,493
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation (90,270
Net unrealized holding gain on available-for-sale debt securities (122,776
Mortgage servicing asset (119,485
Gross deferred tax liabilities (332,531
Net deferred tax liabilities $(126,038

As of December 31, 2003, the Company had no operating loss and tax credit
carryovers for tax purposes. The Company has capital loss carryovers of $80,000
which expire in 2008.

NOTE 10 - EMPLOYEE STOCK OWNERSHIP PLAN

The Company has an Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP) which is a defined
contribution plan covering all employees of the Company who have been credited
with at least 1,000 hours of service for the plan year. Allocations of Company
contributions, plan earnings and forfeitures are based on the ratio which the
compensation of each participant bears to the compensation of all participants
in the ESOP. Vesting is based on years of service. After three years of service,
participants are twenty percent vested and after seven years of service,
participants are fully vested.

Upon termination of service, participants may elect to receive their benefits in
whole shares of Company stock, cash or a combination of both.
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In 2002 the ESOP distributed 43 shares of Company stock to a terminated
participant. The Company subsequently purchased the 43 shares from the
terminated participant along with 2 other shares at a total cost of $2,138.

At December 31, 2003, 6,133 of the total allocated ESOP shares were subject to
repurchase obligations by the Plan for pending payouts and diversification

purposes.

The ESOP shares were as follows as of December 31:

2003 2002
Shares allocated to participants 23,225 23,225
Total ESOP shares 23,225 23,225

The Company recognized contribution expense related to the ESOP in the amount of

$54,804 for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002.

NOTE 11 - STOCK OPTION PLANS

The Company sponsors the 1998 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the "Incentive
Plan"), the 1998 Stock Option Plan for Directors (the "Directors' Plan") and the
2002 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the "2002 Plan"). A summary of the Plans

is as follows.

Under the Incentive Plan and the 2002 Plan, full-time employees, including

officers,
shares of
price per

may be granted incentive or nonqualified stock options to purchase
common stock. For the incentive stock options, the option exercise
share may not be less than one hundred percent of the fair market

value of common stock at grant date. For the nonqualified stock options, the
option exercise price per share may not be less than the greater of fifty
percent of the fair market value of common stock at grant date or the par value,
if any, of the shares. Under both plans, the period during which stock options
shall be exercisable may not exceed ten years from the date of grant. The
maximum aggregate number of shares issuable over the term of the plans may not
exceed 14,700 shares and 6,750 shares for the Incentive Plan and the 2002 Plan,
respectively.

Eligibility for participation in the Directors' Plan is limited to directors of
the Company. Directors who are newly elected to the Board receive an automatic
grant of an option to purchase 250 shares of common stock on the date they
become a director (or, if elected by the Board, on the date of the annual
meeting of the stockholders immediately following such date). The option
exercise price per share may not be less than one hundred percent of the fair
market value of common stock at grant date. No option may be exercised until six
months after it is granted, and options must be exercised within the period of
ten years following the grant date. The maximum number of shares issuable over
the term of the plan may not exceed 3,750 shares.

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes option - pricing model with the following weighted-average
assumptions used for the grants in the year ended December 31, 2002: Dividend
yield of 1.0 percent; expected volatility of 9.35 percent; risk-free interest
rate of 4.93 percent; and expected life of 10 years. No options were granted in
2003.
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A summary of the status of the Plans is presented below as of and for the years

ended December 31:

Fixed Options

Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted

Exercised

Forfeited

Outstanding at end of year

Options exercisable at year-end
Weighted-average fair value of

options granted during the year

Weighted-Average

Exercise Price Shares
$39.25 15,595

0 2,650

38.48 0

0 0

$39.40 18,245
$39.40 16,845
$14.00

The following table summarizes information about fixed stock options outstanding

as of December 31, 2003:

Number
Exercise Price Outstanding

$37.00 7,390
38.50 1,400
39.00 3,120
42.75 1,515
47.50 1,865

15,290

NOTE 12 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

O J oy U1 b

O J W N

years
years
years
years
years

years

Options Outstanding

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Contractual Life

Options Exer

Weighted-Average Number Weig

Exercise Price Exercisable Exe
$37.00 7,390
38.50 1,400
39.00 3,120
42.75 1,515
47.50 1,865
39.40 15,290

The Company has a 401 (k) plan covering substantially all employees. Under the
Plan, the Company contributes 50% of the first 7.5% of all eligible
participants' contributions. The Company may also contribute to the Plan a
discretionary profit sharing contribution in an amount determined by the
Company. Total contributions under this Plan amounted to $75,787 and $70,201 for

the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002,

NOTE 13 - POST RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATION

respectively.

The Company established a policy to pay the health insurance premiums of retired
employees and their spouses at age 65 if the employee and his/her spouse were

receiving this benefit as of January 1,
reserves the right to alter or discontinue this post-retirement benefit at any

1999.

The policy states that management
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time. The health insurance benefits that the Company pays are capped at the
September 1, 1999 premium rate. Future premium increases will require
contributions from the retirees and their spouses. The Company recognized
$36,774 in benefit expense under this post-retirement benefit obligation for the
years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002.

NOTE 14 - CHANGE IN CONTROL PLAN

On September 28, 1998 the Board of Directors approved a Change in Control Plan.
The Plan provides for each full-time employee to continue to be compensated if
terminated within three years of the occurrence of a Change in Control, as they
have been for an applicable period after a Change in Control. Applicable period
shall mean with respect to an officer of the Company holding a position of
vice-president or above for a twenty-four month period; an officer of the
Company holding a position below vice-president for a twelve month period; and
any individual eligible for severance benefits under the Plan but not described
above for a six month period.
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NOTE 15 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Company is obligated under various lease agreements covering banking
premises and equipment. These agreements are considered to be operating leases.
The terms expire between June 2005 and September 2005. Options to renew for
additional terms are included under the banking premises lease agreements. The
total minimum rental due in future periods under these agreements is as follows
as of December 31, 2003:

Years Ending December 31,

2004 $25,140
2005 18,570
Total minimum lease payments $43,710

Certain leases contain provisions for escalation of minimum lease payments
contingent upon increases in real estate taxes and percentage increases in the
consumer price index. The total rental expense amounted to $36,008 and $38,606
for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The Company entered into an agreement with a third party in which the third
party is to provide the Company with data processing services and other related
services. Under the agreement, the Company is obligated to pay monthly minimum
processing fees equal to $8,089 through March 2006 and the Company may cancel
the agreement at any time, provided the Company pays a lump sum termination fee
equal to the average monthly billing, exclusive of pass through cost, for the
previous twelve months multiplied by the number of months remaining in the
contract term.

Related to the merger agreement with Salisbury Bancorp, Inc., see Note 20,
company management anticipates canceling this third party data processing
services agreement if the merger consummates and incurring a termination fee
based on the formula as described above. The termination fee will be expensed
when the termination occurs.

NOTE 16 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company is party to financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk in the
normal course of business to meet the financing needs of its customers. These
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financial instruments include commitments to originate loans, standby letters of
credit, commercial letters of credit and unadvanced funds on loans. The
instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit risk in excess of
the amount recognized in the balance sheets. The contract amounts of those
instruments reflect the extent of involvement the Company has in particular
classes of financial instruments.

The Company's exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the
other party to the financial instrument for loan commitments, standby letters of
credit and commercial letters of credit is represented by the contractual
amounts of those instruments. The Company uses the same credit policies in
making commitments and conditional obligations as it does for on-balance sheet
instruments.

Commitments to originate loans are agreements to lend to a customer provided
there is no violation of any condition established in the contract. Commitments
generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may
require payment of a fee. Since many of the commitments are expected to expire
without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily
represent future cash requirements. The Company evaluates each customer's
creditworthiness on a case-by-case basis. The amount of collateral obtained, if
deemed necessary by the Company upon extension of credit, is based on
management's credit evaluation of the borrower. Collateral held varies, but may
include secured interests in mortgages, accounts receivable, inventory,
property, plant and equipment and income producing properties.

Standby letters of credit are conditional commitments issued by the Company to
guarantee the performance by a customer to a third party. The credit risk
involved in issuing letters of credit is essentially the same as that involved
in extending loan facilities to customers. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the
maximum potential amount of the Company's obligation was $12,800 and $0,
respectively, for financial and standby letters of credit. The Company's
outstanding letters of credit generally have a term of less than one year. If a
letter of credit is drawn upon, the Company may seek recourse through the
customer's underlying line of credit. If the customer's line of credit is also
in default, the Company may take possession of the collateral, if any, securing
the line of credit.
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The estimated fair values of the Company's financial instruments, all of which
are held or issued for purposes other than trading, are as follows as of
December 31:

2003
Carrying Fair
Amount Value
Financial assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,816,602 $ 1,816,602
Available-for-sale securities 44,121,023 44,121,023
Held-to-maturity securities 756,822 802,881
Other stock investment
Federal Reserve Bank stock 56,300 56,300
Federal Home Loan Bank stock 1,250,300 1,250,300
Loans, net 56,328,023 57,612,000

$

Carrying
Amount

3,648,297
34,118,645
1,266,645

100, 000

56,300
1,250,300
60,110, 720
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Loans held-for-sale 180,000 181,837
Accrued interest receivable 583,673 583,673

Financial liabilities:

Deposits 74,983,026 75,610,000 72,
FHLB advances 23,319,449 24,350,000 21,
Other borrowed funds 97,696 97,696

The carrying amounts of financial instruments shown in the above table are
included in the consolidated balance sheets under the indicated captions, except
for other stock investment which is included in other assets. Accounting
policies related to financial instruments are described in Note 2.

The amounts of financial instrument liabilities with off-balance sheets credit
risk are as follows as of December 31:

2
Commitments to originate loans $
Standby letters of credit
Commercial letters of credit
Unadvanced portions of loans:
Home equity 8,
Commercial lines of credit 2,
Construction
Consumer (including credit card loans) 2,
$15,

858,500
518,932

935,410
773,649
100,000

536,000
12,800
150,000

603,334
738, 544
888, 381
083,187

There is no material difference between the notional amounts and the estimated
fair values of the off-balance sheet liabilities.

NOTE 17 - SIGNIFICANT GROUP CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Most of the Company's business activity is with customers located within the
state. There are no concentrations of credit to borrowers that have similar
economic characteristics. The majority of the Company's loan portfolio is
comprised of loans collateralized by real estate located in the state of
Connecticut and Berkshire County of Massachusetts.
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NOTE 18 - REGULATORY MATTERS

The Company and its subsidiary the Bank are subject to various regulatory
capital requirements administered by the federal banking agencies. Failure to
meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory - and possibly
additional discretionary - actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have
a direct material effect on the Company's and the Bank's financial statements.
Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt
corrective action, the Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve
quantitative measures of their assets, liabilities and certain off-balance-sheet
items as calculated under regulatory accounting practices. Their capital amounts
and classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators
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about components, risk weightings and other factors.

Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy
require the Company and the Bank to maintain minimum amounts and ratios (set
forth in the table below) of total and Tier 1 capital (as defined in the
regulations) to risk-weighted assets (as defined), and of Tier 1 capital (as
defined) to average assets (as defined). Management believes, as of December 31,
2003, that the Company and the Bank meet all capital adequacy requirements to
which they are subject.

As of December 31, 2003, the most recent notification from the Office of the
Comptroller of the Currency categorized the Bank as well capitalized under the
regulatory framework for prompt corrective action. To be categorized as well
capitalized the Bank must maintain minimum total risk-based, Tier 1 risk-based
and Tier 1 leverage ratios as set forth in the table. There are no conditions or
events since that notification that management believes have changed the Bank's
category.

The Company and the Bank's actual capital amounts and ratios are also presented
in the table as of December 31.

For Capital
Actual Adequacy Purposes

(Dollar amounts in thousan

December 31, 2003:
Total Capital (to Risk Weighted Assets)

Consolidated $8,826 13.07% $5,402 >=8.0%

The Canaan National Bank 8,664 12.83 5,402 >=8.0
Tier 1 Capital (to Risk Weighted Assets)

Consolidated 8,128 12.04 2,701 >=4.0

The Canaan National Bank 7,966 11.80 2,701 >=4.0
Tier 1 Capital (to Average Assets)

Consolidated 8,128 7.53 4,317 >=4.0

The Canaan National Bank 7,966 7.38 4,317 >=4.0
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For Capital
Actual Adequacy Purposes

(Dollar amounts in thousan

December 31, 2002:
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Total Capital (to Risk Weighted Assets)
Consolidated $8,628 13.86% $4,980
The Canaan National Bank 8,536 13.71 4,980

Tier 1 Capital (to Risk Weighted Assets)
Consolidated 7,948 12.77 2,490
The Canaan National Bank 7,856 12.62 2,490

Tier 1 Capital (to Average Assets)
Consolidated 7,948 7.67 4,145
The Canaan National Bank 7,856 7.58 4,145

The declaration of cash dividends is dependent on a number of factors, including
regulatory limitations, and the Company's operating results and financial
condition. The stockholders of the Company will be entitled to dividends only
when, and if, declared by the Company's Board of Directors out of funds legally
available therefore. The declaration of future dividends will be subject to
favorable operating results, financial conditions, tax considerations, and other
factors.

The Bank, as a National Bank is subject to the dividend restrictions set forth
by the Comptroller of the Currency. Under such restrictions, the Bank may not,
without the prior approval of the Comptroller of the Currency, declare dividends
in excess of the sum of the current year's earnings (as defined) plus, the
retained earnings (as defined) from the prior two years. As of December 31, 2003
the Bank could declare dividends up to $1,831,259, without the approval of the
Comptroller of the Currency.

NOTE 19 - EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS)

Reconciliation of the numerators and the denominators of the basic and diluted
per share computations for net income are as follows as of December 31:

Income
(Numerator)
Year ended December 31, 2003
Basic EPS
Net income and income available to common stockholders $725,732
Effect of dilutive securities, options
Diluted EPS
Income available to common stockholders and assumed
conversions $725,732
Year ended December 31, 2002
Basic EPS
Net income and income available to common stockholders $739,362
Effect of dilutive securities, options
Diluted EPS
Income available to common stockholders and assumed
conversions $739,362
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NOTE 20 - MERGER AGREEMENT

On November 17, 2003, Salisbury Bancorp, Inc. ("Salisbury"), parent company of
Salisbury Bank & Trust Company and the Company executed a definitive agreement
(the "Agreement") for Salisbury to acquire the Company, with Salisbury being the
surviving corporation.

Under the terms of the Agreement, which was unanimously approved by the Board of
Directors, the shareholders of the Company will be entitled to receive merger
consideration consisting of $31.20 in cash and 1.3371 shares of Salisbury common
stock for every share of Company stock, subject to possible adjustment.

The merger is subject to approval by state and federal bank supervisory agencies
and the Company's shareholders.

NOTE 21 - PARENT COMPANY ONLY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The following condensed financial statements are for Canaan National Bancorp,
Inc. (Parent Company Only) and should be read in conjunction with the

Consolidated Financial Statements of Canaan National Bancorp, Inc. and
Subsidiary.

82

CANAAN NATIONAL BANCORP, INC.
(Parent Company Only)
BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2003 and 2002

ASSETS

Checking account in The Canaan National Bank
Investment in subsidiary

Due from subsidiary

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common stock, par value $.01 per share; authorized 300,000 shares; issued and
outstanding, 177,418 shares as of December 31, 2003 and
175,501 shares as of December 31, 2002
Paid in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income

Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

$ 160,240
8,189,078
1,144

$ 1,774
1,070,898
7,807,864

(530,074)
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CANAAN NATIONAL BANCORP, INC.
(Parent Company Only)
STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002

94,411

2003
Dividend income from subsidiary $ 99,901
Filing fees 1,840
Printing and stationery 1,609
Other expense 12,019
15,468
Income before income tax benefit
and equity in undistributed net income of subsidiary 84,433
Income tax benefit (1,144
Income before equity in undistributed net income of subsidiary 85,577
Equity in undistributed net income of subsidiary 640,155
Net income $ 725,732
84
CANAAN NATIONAL BANCORP, INC.
(Parent Company Only)
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002
2003
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 725,732
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided
by operating activities:
Undistributed income of subsidiary (640,155)
Decrease (increase) in due from subsidiary 3,363

$ 739,362

(644,951)
(142)
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Net cash provided by operating activities 88,940

Cash flows from financing activities:

Retirement of shares of common stock (52,320)
Issuance of shares of common stock 2,480
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 114,951
Dividends paid (80, 688)
Net cash used in financing activities (15,577)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 73,363
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 86,877
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 160,240
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CANAAN UNAUDITED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
CANAAN NATIONAL BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

March 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003

ASSETS

Cash and due from banks
Interest bearing demand deposits with other banks

Cash and cash equivalents

Investments in available-for-sale securities (at fair value)

Investments in held-to-maturity securities (fair values of $802,631 as of
March 31, 2004 and $1,057,197 as of March 31, 2003)

Federal Reserve Bank stock, at cost

Federal Home Loan Bank stock, at cost

Loans, net of allowance for loan losses of $693,708 as of March 31, 2004
and $695,680 as of March 31, 2003

Loans held-for-sale

Premises and equipment

Accrued interest receivable

Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Deposits:
Noninterest-bearing
Interest-bearing

(247,365)
193,377

(76,166)

(35,885)
122,762

March 31,
2004

(unaudited

$ 2,

2,
45,

1,

56,

1,

s 13,
59,

110

513, 9

64,7
578, 7
204,14

754, 6
56,3
291,2

451, 0
180, 0
158, 7
544, 6
620, 3

730, 7
947, 5
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Total deposits
Federal Home Loan Bank advances
Other borrowed funds
Other liabilities

Total liabilities
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock, par value $.01 per share; authorized 300,000 shares; issued and
outstanding, 177,418 shares as of March 31, 2004 and 175,300
shares as of March 31, 2003
Paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed
consolidated financial statements.
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CANAAN NATIONAL BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Three Months Ended March 31, 2004 and 2003

(Unaudited)
Interest and dividend income:
Interest and fees on loans $
Interest on debt securities:
Taxable
Tax—exempt
Dividends

Other interest

Total interest and dividend income

Interest expense:
Interest on deposits
Interest on Federal Home Loan Bank advances
Interest on other borrowed funds

Total interest expense

Net interest and dividend income
Provision for loan losses

Net interest and dividend income after provision for loan losses

73,678,2
25,823, 9
102, 8
367, 9

1,7
1,070, 8
7,949, 7
(335, 2

957,299

255,434
115,951
32,248
341

232,503
264,278
153

864,339
3,000

861,339
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Other income:
Service charges on deposit accounts
Gain on sales of loans, net
Servicing income
Other income

Total other income

Other expense:
Salaries and employee benefits
Occupancy expense
Equipment expense
Data processing
Professional fees
Operation of other real estate owned
Printing and stationery
Other expense

Total other expense

Income before income taxes
Income taxes

Net income

Earnings per common share
Earnings per common share, assuming dilution

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed

Cash flows fr

Net income

consolidated financial statements.
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CANAAN NATIONAL BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Three Months Ended March 31, 2004 and 2003
(Unaudited)

om operating activities:

75,360
20,635
24,496

9,857

400,759
53,573
64,756
81,833
20,443
(10, 665)

3,326
107,933

74,591

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Amortiza
Provisio
Change 1
Net decr
Deprecia
Decrease
Deferred
Decrease
Decrease

tion of securities, net
n for loan losses
n unearned income
ease in loans held-for-sale
tion and amortization

in interest receivable

tax expense

(increase) in prepaid expenses
in income tax receivable
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Decrease in other assets 1
Increase in mortgage servicing rights (11
Increase in taxes payable

Decrease in accrued expenses (€
Decrease in interest payable (1

Increase (decrease) in other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities 574

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of available-for-sale securities (1,907
Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale securities 1,119
Proceeds from maturities of held-to-maturity securities 2
Purchases of Federal Home Loan Bank stock (40
Loan originations and principal collections, net (137

Recoveries of loans previously charged off
Capital expenditures

Net cash used in investing activities (963

Cash flows from financing activities:

Net decrease in demand deposits, NOW and savings accounts (435
Net (decrease) increase in time deposits (869
Net increase in short term advances from Federal Home Loan Bank 3,402
Principal payments on long-term advances from Federal Home Loan Bank (897
Net increase (decrease) in other borrowed funds 5
Dividends paid (53

Issuance of shares of common stock
Retirement of shares of common stock

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,151
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 762
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 1,816
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 2,578

Supplemental disclosures:
Interest paid $ 498
Income taxes paid 26

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed
consolidated financial statements.
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CANAAN NATIONAL BANCORP, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)

NOTE 1 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION
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The accompanying condensed consolidated interim financial statements are
unaudited and include the accounts of Canaan , those of Canaan Bank, its
wholly-owned subsidiary and Canaan Bank's subsidiary, CNB Insurance Agency. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP)
for interim financial information and with the instructions to SEC Form 10-Q.
Accordingly, they do not include all the information and footnotes required by
GAAP for complete financial statements. All significant intercompany accounts
and transactions have been eliminated in the consolidation. These financial
statements reflect, in the opinion of Management, all adjustments, consisting of
only normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of Canaan's
financial position and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the
periods presented. Operating results for the three months ended March 31, 2004
are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year
ending December 31, 2004. These financial statements should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto
included in this proxy statement/prospectus.

The year-end condensed balance sheet data was derived from audited financial
statements, but does not include all disclosures required by GAAP.

NOTE 2 —-COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130, "Reporting Comprehensive
Income," establishes standards for disclosure of comprehensive income, which
includes net income and any changes in equity from non-owner sources that are
not recorded in the income statement (such as changes in the net unrealized
gains (losses) on securities). The purpose of reporting comprehensive income is
to report a measure of all changes in equity that result from recognized
transactions and other economic events of the period other than transactions
with owners in their capacity as owners. Canaan's one source of other
comprehensive income is the net unrealized gain (loss) on securities.

Comprehensive Income Three months ended
March 31
2004 2003
Net income $ 195 S 168
Net unrealized gains (losses)
on securities during period 195 (97)
Comprehensive income $(390) s 71
89

Results of Operations
Comparison of the Quarters Ended March 2004 and 2003

Overview

The reported earnings for Canaan were $195,000 in the first quarter of
2004, an increase of $27,000 or 16.07% above the first quarter of 2003 earnings
of $168,000. As a result, earnings per share increased $.14 or 14.58% to $1.10
in 2004. This compares to earnings per share of $.96 in the first quarter of
2003. The majority of improvement in net income is due to the recording of gains
on sales of loans and increased loan servicing income.
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Canaan is "well capitalized". Canaan's risk-based capital ratios at March
31, 2004, which include the risk-weighted assets and capital of the Canaan Bank,
were 13.45% for Tier 1 capital and 14.58% for total capital. Canaan's leverage
ratio was 7.72% at March 31, 2004. This compares to a Tier 1 capital to risk
weighted assets ratio at March 31, 2003 of 12.86%, a total capital to risk
weighted assets ratio of 13.97%, and a leverage ratio of 7.80%.

Net Interest and Dividend Income

Canaan earns income from two basic sources. The primary source is through
the management of its financial assets and liabilities and the second is by
charging fees for services provided. The first source involves functioning as a
financial intermediary. Canaan accepts funds from depositors or borrows funds
and either lends the funds to borrowers or invests those funds in various types
of securities. The second source is fee income, which is discussed in the
noninterest income section of this analysis.

Net interest income is the difference between the interest and fees earned
on loans, interest and dividends earned on securities (Canaan's earning assets)
and the interest expense paid on deposits and borrowed funds, primarily in the
form of advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank. The amount by which interest
income will exceed interest expense depends on two factors: (1) the volume or
balance of earning assets compared to the volume or balance of interest-bearing
deposits and borrowed funds and (2) the interest rate earned on those interest
earning assets compared with the interest rate paid on those interest-bearing
deposits and borrowed funds. For this discussion, net interest income is
presented on a fully taxable-equivalent ("FTE") basis. FTE interest income
restates reported interest income on tax exempt loans and securities as if such
interest were taxed at the applicable State and Federal income tax rates for all
periods presented.

Three Months

Ended
(dollars in thousands) March 31
2004 2003
Interest and Dividend Income
(financial statements) $ 1,361 $ 1,496
Tax Equivalent Adjustment 60 43
Total Interest Income (on an FTE basis) 1,421 1,539
Interest Expense (497) (579)
Net Interest Income-FTE S 924 S 960

Canaan's first quarter 2004 total interest and dividend income on an FTE
basis of $1,421,000 was $118,000 or 7.67% less than the total interest and
dividend on an FTE basis of $1,539,000 in 2003. Although there was an increase
in earning assets, this decrease in interest and dividend income is primarily
the result of an economic environment with lower interest rates which produced a
large number of mortgages being refinanced into the secondary market. The
refinancings produced a change in the mix of earning assets, which increased
investment in securities and decreased loans outstanding. An increase in tax
exempt securities has resulted in an increase in the tax equivalent adjustment
to $60,000 for the first quarter of 2004 as compared to $43,000 for 2003.

90

115



Edgar Filing: SALISBURY BANCORP INC - Form S-4

Interest expense on deposits in the first quarter of 2004 decreased
$80,000 or 25.56% and totaled $233,000. This compares to $313,000 for the
corresponding period in 2003. Although deposits increased, generally lower
interest rates resulted in the decrease in interest expense. Interest expense
for Federal Home Loan Bank advances decreased slightly by $2,000 to $264,000 in
the first quarter of 2004 compared to interest expense of $266,000 in the first
quarter of 2003. As with deposits, lower interest rates resulted in lower
interest expense on borrowings. Because interest margins continue to be
pressured by generally lower interest rates and by aggressive competition, net
interest income on an FTE basis decreased $36,000 or 3.75% to $924,000 for the
quarter ended March 31, 2004, compared to $960,000 for the quarter ended March
31, 2003.

Net interest margin is net interest and dividend income expressed as a
percentage of average earning assets. It is used to measure the difference
between the average rate of interest and dividends earned on assets and the
average rate of interest that must be paid to support those assets. To maintain
its net interest margin, Canaan must manage the relationship between interest
earned and paid. Canaan's first quarter 2004 net interest margin on an FTE basis
was 3.54%, compared to 3.90% for the corresponding period in 2003.

Noninterest Income

Noninterest income totaled $130,000 for the quarter ended March 31, 2004
as compared to $102,000 for the gquarter ended March 31, 2003, an increase of
$28,000 or 27.45%. This increase is primarily the result of increased fees
generated from the refinancing activities in the secondary market. Net gain on
sales of loans and loan servicing income totaled $21,000 and $24,000,
respectively for the first quarter 2004, as compared to $0 and $13,000 for the
same time frame in 2003. Canaan continues to seek to increase noninterest income
due to its importance as a potential contributor to profitability.

Noninterest Expense

Noninterest expense decreased 9.30% to $722,000 for the quarter ended
March 31, 2004 as compared to $796,000 for the corresponding period in 2003.
Professional fees, which includes legal fees, decreased $39,000 or 66.10% and
totaled $20,000 in the gquarter ended March 2004 as compared to $59,000 for the
same period in 2003. Recoveries of expenses on a property that was heading to
foreclosure netted $11,000 in the first quarter of 2004 as compared to $0 in
2003. Other operating expenses totaled $108,000 for the quarter ended March 31,
2004 compared to $121,000 for the corresponding period in 2003.

Income Taxes

For the first quarter of 2004, Canaan's income tax provisions totaled
$75,000, an effective tax rate of 27.65%. This compares to an income tax
provision of $50,000 in the first quarter of 2003, reflecting an effective tax
rate of 23.08%.

Net Income

Net income totaled $195,000 for the first quarter of 2004. This was an
increase of $27,000 or 16.07% and reflects basic earnings per share of $1.10 per
share for the quarter. This compared to basic earnings per share of $.96 for the

same period in 2003.

Financial Condition
Comparison of March 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003

Total assets at March 31, 2004 were $108,660,000 compared to $107,087,000
at December 31, 2003, an increase of $1,573,000 or 1.47%.
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Securities Portfolio

Canaan manages the securities portfolio in accordance with the investment
policy adopted by the Board of Directors. The primary objectives are to earn
interest and dividend income, provide liquidity to meet cash flow needs and to
manage interest rate risk and asset-quality diversification of Canaan's assets.
Canaan continues to use arbitrage strategy by borrowing funds and investing them
at a rate of return higher than the borrowing cost in order
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to generate additional interest income from the securities portfolio. The
securities portfolio also acts as collateral for deposits of public agencies. As
of March 31, 2004, the securities portfolio, including Federal Reserve Bank and
Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston stock, totaled $47,307,000. This represents an
increase of $1,123,000 or 2.43% when comparing the portfolio total of
$46,184,000 at year—-end 2003. The increase has been the result of an economic
environment of low interest rates that has created refinancing opportunities to
longer term fixed rate products that are offered by the secondary mortgage
market.

The make up of the securities portfolio is diversified among U.S.
Government sponsored agencies, mortgage backed securities, corporate bonds,
preferred stock, and securities issued by states of the United States and
political subdivisions of the states. At March 31, 2004, securities totaling
$45,204,000 were classified as available-for-sale and securities totaling
$755,000 were classified as held-to-maturity.

Securities are classified in the portfolio as either Available-for-Sale or
Held-to-Maturity. The securities reported as available-for-sale are stated at
fair value in the financial statements of Canaan. Unrealized holding gains and
losses (accumulated other comprehensive income/loss) are not included in
earnings, but are reported as a net amount (less expected tax) in a separate
component of capital until realized. At March 31, 2004, the unrealized loss net
of tax was $335,000. This compares to an unrealized loss of net of tax of
$530,000 at December 31, 2003. The securities reported as
securities-held-to-maturity are stated at amortized cost.

Lending

Loans receivable, net of allowance for loan losses, increased slightly to
$56,451,000 at March 31, 2004 compared to $56,328,000 at December 31, 2003.
Canaan offers a wide variety of loan types and terms along with competitive
pricing to customers. The largest dollar volumes of loan activity continue to be
in the residential mortgage area.

Provisions and Allowance for Loan Losses

Total gross loans at March 31, 2004 were $57,145,000, which compares to
total gross loans of $57,026,000 at December 31, 2003. At March 31, 2004,
approximately 80% of Canaan Bank's loan portfolio related to real estate
products, consistent with approximately 79% of the portfolio related to real
estate at December 31, 2003. There were no material changes in the composition
of the loan portfolio during this period.

Credit risk is inherent in the business of extending loans. Canaan Bank
monitors the quality of the portfolio to ensure that loan quality will not be
sacrificed for growth. Because of the risk associated with extending loans,
Canaan Bank maintains an allowance for credit losses through charges to
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earnings. The loan loss provision for the first quarter 2004 was $3,000. The
overall level of nonperforming loans remains low as a percentage of total loans,
with a decrease of $466,000 in nonperforming loans from December 31, 2003 to
March 31, 2004.

Canaan Bank evaluates the adequacy of the allowance on a monthly basis. No
material changes have been made in the estimation methods or assumptions that
Canaan Bank used in making this determination during the quarter ended March 31,
2004. Such evaluations are based on assessments of credit quality and "risk
rating" of loans by senior management, which is submitted to the Board of
Directors for approval. Loans are initially risk rated when originated. If there
is deterioration in the credit, the risk rating is adjusted accordingly.

The allowance also includes a component resulting from the application of
the measurement criteria of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 114,
Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan ("SFAS 114"). Impaired loans
receive individual evaluation of the allowance necessary on a monthly basis and
loans to be considered for impairment are defined in Canaan Bank's Loan Policy.
Loans are considered impaired when it is probable that Canaan Bank will not be
able to collect all principal and interest due according to the terms of the
note. Any such commercial loans will be considered impaired under any of the
following circumstances:

1. Loans on non-accrual status;

2. Loans over 90 days delinquent; or

3. Troubled debt restructures consummated after January 1, 1994;
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These loans will be measured on a loan-by-loan basis by either the present
value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loan's effective interest
rate, the loan's obtainable market price, or the fair value of collateral if the
loan is collateral dependent.

In addition, a risk of loss factor is applied in evaluating categories of
loans generally as part of the periodic analysis of the Allowance for Loan
Losses. This analysis reviews the allocations of the different categories of
loans within the portfolio and it considers historical loan losses and
delinquency figures as well as any recent delinquency trends.

The credit card delinquency and loss history is separately evaluated and
given a special loan loss factor because management recognizes the higher risk
involved in such loans. Concentrations of credit and local economic factors are
also evaluated on a periodic basis. Historical average net losses by loan type
are examined as well as trends by type. Canaan Bank's loan mix over the same
period of time is also analyzed. A loan loss allocation is made for each type of
loan multiplied by the loan mix percentage for each loan type to produce a
weighted average factor. There have been no reallocations within the allowance
during the quarters ended March 31, 2004 and 2003.

At March 31, 2004 the allowance for loan losses totaled $694,000,
representing 186.56% of nonperforming loans, which totaled $372,000, and 1.21%
of total loans of $57,145,000. This compared to $698,000 representing 100.58% of
nonperforming loans, which totaled $694,000 and 1.22% of total loans of
$57,026,000 at December 31, 2003. A total of $8,000 in loans was charged off
during the first quarter 2004, as compared to $38,000 during the year ended
December 31, 2003. A total of $1,000 of previously charged off loans was
recovered during the quarter ended March 31, 2004. Recoveries for fiscal year
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2003 totaled $20,000. Management believes that the allowance for loan losses is
adequate. While management estimates loan losses using the best available
information, no assurances can be given that additions to the allowance will not
be necessary based on changes in economic and real estate market conditions,
further information obtained regarding problem loans, identification of
additional problem loans or other factors. Additionally, with expectations of
Canaan Bank to grow its existing portfolio, future additions to the allowance
may be necessary to maintain adequate coverage ratios.

Deposits

Canaan offers a variety of deposit accounts with a range of interest rates
and terms. Deposits at March 31, 2004 totaled $73,678,000, compared to
$74,983,000 at December 31, 2003. This decrease of $1,305,000 or 1.74% can be
primarily attributed to the outflow of non-core deposits. The flow of deposits
is influenced significantly by general economic conditions, changes in money
market rates, prevailing interest rates and the aggressive competition from
non-banking entities.

Borrowings

As part of its operating strategy, Canaan utilizes advances from the
Federal Home Loan Bank to supplement deposit growth and fund its asset growth, a
strategy that is designed to increase interest income. These advances are made
pursuant to various credit programs, each of which has its own interest rate and
range of maturities. At March 31, 2004, Canaan had $25,824,000 in outstanding
advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank, compared to $23,319,000 at December
31, 2003. Management expects that it will continue this strategy of
supplementing deposit growth with advances from Federal Home Loan Bank of
Boston.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the most significant market risk affecting Canaan.
Interest rate risk is defined as an exposure to a movement in interest rates
that could have an adverse effect on net interest income. Net interest income is
sensitive to interest rate risk to the degree that interest bearing liabilities
mature or reprices on a different basis than earning assets.

In an attempt to manage its exposure to changes in interest rates, Canaan
Bank's assets and liabilities are managed in accordance with policies
established and reviewed by Canaan Bank's Board of Directors. Canaan Bank's
Asset/Liability Management Committee monitors asset and deposit levels,
developments and trends in interest rates, liquidity and capital. One of the
primary financial objectives is to manage interest rate risk and control
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the sensitivity of earnings to changes in interest rates in order to prudently
improve net interest income and manage the maturities and interest rate
sensitivities of assets and liabilities.

To quantify the extent of these risks both in its current position and in
actions it might take in the future, interest rate risk is monitored using gap
analysis which identifies the differences between assets and liabilities which
mature or reprices during specific time frames and model simulation which is
used to "rate shock" Canaan's asset and liability balances to measure how much
of Canaan's net interest income is "at risk" from sudden rate changes.

An interest rate sensitivity gap is defined as the difference between the
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amount of interest-earning assets maturing or repricing within a specific time
period and the amount of interest-bearing liabilities maturing or repricing
within that same period. A gap is considered positive when the amount of
interest rate sensitive assets exceeds the amount of interest rate sensitive
liabilities. A gap 1is considered negative when the amount of interest rate
sensitive liabilities exceeds the amount of interest rate sensitive assets. At
March 31, 2004, Canaan was asset sensitive (positive gap). This would suggest
that the during a period of rising interest rates Canaan would be in a better
position to invest in higher yielding assets resulting in growth in interest
income. To the contrary, during a period of falling interest rates, a positive
gap would result in a decrease in interest income. The overall exposure of
interest rate risk at March 31, 2004 was low.

Liquidity

Liquidity is the ability to raise funds on a timely basis at an acceptable
cost in order to meet cash needs. Adequate liquidity is necessary to handle
fluctuations in deposit levels, to provide for customers' credit needs, and to
take advantage of investment opportunities as they are presented. Canaan manages
liquidity primarily with readily marketable investment securities, deposits and
loan repayments. Canaan Bank is a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank of
Boston. This enhances the liquidity position by providing a source of available
borrowings.

Capital

At March 31, 2004, Canaan had $8,687,000 in shareholders' equity compared
to $8,350,000 at December 31, 2003. This represents an increase of $337,000 or
4.04%. Under current regulatory definitions, Canaan and Canaan Bank are
considered to be "well capitalized" for capital adequacy purposes. As a result,
Canaan Bank pays the lowest federal deposit insurance premiums possible. One
primary measure of capital adequacy for regulatory purposes is based on the
ratio of capital to risk weighted assets. This method of measuring capital
adequacy helps to establish capital requirements that are more sensitive to the
differences in risk associated with various assets. It takes into account
off-balance sheet exposure in assessing capital adequacy and it minimizes
disincentives to holding ligquid, low risk assets. At quarter—-end 2004, Canaan
had a risk-based capital ratio of 14.58% compared to 13.86% at December 31,
2003. Maintaining strong capital is essential to bank safety and soundness.
However, the effective management of capital resources requires generating
attractive returns on equity to build value for shareholders while maintaining
appropriate levels of capital to fund growth, meet regulatory requirements and
be consistent with prudent industry practices. Management believes that the
capital ratios of Canaan and Canaan Bank are adequate to continue to meet the
foreseeable capital needs of the institution.
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DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF CANAAN
Management and Board of Directors

The following table sets forth the name and age of each Officer, his or
her principal occupation for the last five (5) years and the year in which
he/she was first appointed an Executive Officer of Canaan.

Executive Officer
Name Age Position of Canaan since:
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Gerard J. Baldwin 59 President 1992 (1)
Melanie Neely 47 Secretary/Treasurer 1995 (2)
(1) Mr. Baldwin is also the President and Chief Executive Officer of Canaan

Bank and has been an Executive Officer of Canaan Bank since 1989.

(2) Ms. Neely is also Vice President and Cashier of Canaan Bank and has been
an Executive Officer of Canaan Bank since 1999.

Board of Directors

The Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws of Canaan provide for a Board
of Directors of not less than seven (7) or more than twenty five (25) members,
as determined from time to time by resolution of the Board of Directors. The
Board of Directors has set the number of directorships at seven (7). The Board
of Directors of Canaan is divided into three (3) classes as nearly equal in
number as possible. Classes of directors serve for staggered three (3) year
terms. A successor class is to be elected at each annual meeting of shareholders
when the terms of office of the members of one class expire. Vacant
directorships may be filled, until the expiration of the term of the vacated
directorship, by the vote of a majority of the directors then in office.

The following table sets forth certain information, as of December 31,
2003, with respect to the directors of Canaan.

Positions Held Director Term
Name Age with Canaan Since Expiring
Louis E. Allyn, II 56 Director 1991 2004
Gerard J. Baldwin 59 President, 1992 2005

Chief Executive Officer
and Director

Dana A. Bartholomew 64 Director 1991 2005
Ann S. Byrne 61 Director 1995 2004
Robert S. Drucker 61 Director 1995 2006
Linda M. Patz 41 Director 2002 2005
Jean R. Perotti 64 Chairperson 1989 2004

Presented below is additional information concerning the directors of Canaan.
Unless otherwise stated, all directors have held the position described for at
least five (5) years.

Louis E. Allyn, II is President of Allyndale Corporation. He has been a director
of Canaan Bank since 1991.

Gerard Baldwin is President and Chief Executive Office of Canaan and Canaan
Bank. Prior to that he served as Vice President and Senior Lending Officer of
Canaan Bank. He has been a director of Canaan Bank since 1992.
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Dana A. Bartholomew is President of Sheffield Water Company. He has been a
director of Canaan Bank since 1991.

Ann S. Byrne is owner of Ann's Nursery for Babies, Shrope Foundation and Pact,
Inc. She has been a director of Canaan Bank since 1995.

Robert S. Drucker is Proprietor of Bob Clothing and Barrington Outfitters. He
has been a director of Canaan Bank since 1995.

Linda M. Patz is a partner in the law firm Drury & Patz.
of Canaan Bank since 2002.

Jean R. Perotti is Comptroller of Perotti Plumbing & Heating.
of the Board. She has been a director since 1989.
Directors' Fees

During 2003, the Chairman received an annual retainer of $2,500 and the
remaining directors received an annual retainer of $1,060. In addition,

directors received $265 for each Board of Directors meeting attended and $160
for each committee meeting attended. Director Baldwin received no additional

She has been a director

She is Chairperson

compensation for his service as director or member of any board committee during

2003.
Executive Compensation
Summary Compensation Table

The following table provides certain information regarding the
compensation paid to certain executive officers of Canaan and Canaan Bank for
services rendered in all capacities during the fiscal years ended December 31,
2003, 2002, and 2001. No other current executive officer of Canaan or Canaan
Bank received cash compensation in excess of $100,000 during the year ended
December 31, 2003. Canaan Bank paid all compensation expense.

Annual

Name and Principal Compensation

Position Year Salary ($) Bonus ($)
Gerard J. Baldwin 2003 $107,230 $19,586
President and 2002 102,598 18,679
Chief Executive Officer 2001 100,039 20,385
of the Company and the Bank
Darrel S. Long 2003 S 74,478 $ 9,225
Vice President, and 2002 71,148 8,552
Sr. Operations Officer of the Bank 2001 70,425 9,645
Melanie K. Neely 2003 $ 51,841 $ 7,183
Secretary & Treasurer of the 2002 48,460 6,541
Company and Vice President/ 2001 45,578 6,956
Cashier of the Bank
Randy Brintnell (5) 2003 $ 73,199 $ 9,146
Vice President and Loan 2002 68,464 8,155
Origination Officer of the Bank 2001

All Other

Compensation($)

S4,647(4)
4,548 (3)
4,516 (2)

$2,784 (4)
2,310(3)
1,470(2)

$2,213(4)

2,063 (3)
1,970(2)

$3,088(4)
2,873 (3)
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(1) Compensation above does not include accrual of benefits under Canaan
Bank's ESOP plan.

(2) Canaan Bank's matching contribution to the 401 (k) plan for 2001.
(3) Canaan Bank's matching contribution to the 401 (k) plan for 2002.
(4) Canaan Bank's matching contribution to the 401 (k) plan for 2003.
(5) Randy Brintnell was hired on January 7, 2002.

96
Insurance

In addition to the cash compensation paid to the executive officers of
Canaan and Canaan Bank, the executive officers receive group life, long term
disability and medical insurance coverage. However, these plans do not
discriminate in scope, term, or operation, in favor of officers or directors of
Canaan or Canaan Bank and are available generally to all full-time employees.

Stock Option and Incentive Plans

The Board of Directors and the Shareholders adopted the 1998 Stock Option
Plan for Directors which provides for the issuance of a maximum of Three
Thousand Seven Hundred and Fifty (3,750) shares to Directors. Each of the nine
(9) Directors serving during 1998 have been granted an option to purchase Two
Hundred and Fifty (250) shares of Common Stock at Thirty Seven Dollars ($37.00).
Directors appointed since 1998 were granted options to purchase Two Hundred and
Fifty (250) shares of Common Stock at Thirty Eight Dollars and Fifty Cents
($38.50) and Two Hundred and Fifty (250) shares of Common Stock at Forty Seven
Dollars and Fifty Cents ($47.50). All options were granted at the fair market
value at the time of the grant. Two Hundred and Fifty (250) of the
aforementioned options have been exercised. Options must be exercised within ten
(10) years. The Plan will remain in effect for a period of ten (10) years after
the Effective Date of the Plan, which is February 23, 1998.

The Board of Directors and the Shareholders adopted the 1998 Stock Option
and Incentive Plan which provides for the issuance of a maximum of Fourteen
Thousand Seven Hundred (14,700) shares to selected full-time employees. As of
December 31, 2003, the Stock Option Committee, which is composed of non-employee
Directors, has granted options to purchase Seven Thousand Two Hundred and Thirty
Five (7,235) Shares of Common Stock at Thirty Seven Dollars ($37.00), Two
Thousand One Hundred and Fifteen (2,115) Shares of Common Stock granted at
Thirty Eight Dollars and Fifty Cents ($38.50), Four Thousand (4,000) Shares of
Common Stock granted at Thirty Nine Dollars ($39.00) and One Thousand Seven
Hundred and Forty Five (1,745) Shares of Common Stock granted at Forty Two
Dollars and Seventy Five Cents ($42.75). All options were granted at the fair
market value at the time of the grant. Three Hundred and Ninety Five (395) of
the aforementioned Options expired due to termination and have been reissued as
permitted under the plan. Three Thousand Five Hundred and Twenty Five (3,525) of
the aforementioned Options have been exercised. Options must be exercised within
ten (10) years. The Plan will remain in effect for a period of ten (10) years
after the Effective Date of the Plan, which is February 23, 1998.

The Board of Directors and the Shareholders adopted the 2002 Stock Option

and Incentive Plan which provides for the issuance of a maximum of Six Thousand
Seven Hundred and Fifty (6,750) shares to selected full-time employees. As of
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December 31, 2003, the Stock Option Committee, which is composed of non-employee
Directors, has granted options to purchase One Thousand Seven Hundred and Sixty
Five (1,765) Shares of Common Stock at Forty Seven Dollars and Fifty Cents
($47.50) . All options were granted at the fair market value at the time of the
grant. One Hundred and Fifty (150) of the aforementioned options have been
exercised. Options must be exercised within ten (10) years. The Plan will remain
in effect for a period of ten (10) years after the effective date of the Plan,
which is March 18, 2002.

401 (k) Plan

Canaan has a 401 (k) plan covering substantially all employees. Under the
Plan, the company contributes 50% of the first 7.5% of all eligible
participants' contributions. Canaan may also contribute to the Plan a
discretionary profit sharing contribution in an amount determined by Canaan.

Change in Control Plan

Canaan Bank's Change in Control Plan provides benefits to all regular
full-time employees of Canaan Bank. If an employee's employment is terminated by
the employer within three years of a "Change in Control" other than for "Cause"
or by the employee within three years of a Change in Control for "Good Reason,"
the employee is entitled to certain severance benefits. The severance benefits
include payment of salary, profit sharing, bonus (if any) and the employee's
matching contributions to the 401 (k) plan, plus continuation of all benefits and
service credits under welfare and pension plans. The amount of salary, profit
sharing and bonus payments are determined at the greater of such amounts for the
twelve months prior to the Change in Control or the twelve months prior to the
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termination. Such payments continue for 24 months for officers holding a
position of vice president or higher, twelve months for other officers and six
months for other employees. The provisions of the Change in Control Plan are
triggered by a Change in Control, such as the merger contemplated by the merger
agreement. The benefits are not payable if the employee is terminated for
"Cause," which is defined as (i) committing an intentional act of fraud,
embezzlement or theft in connection with the employee's duties or in the course
of the employee's employment; (ii) committing intentional wrongful damage to the
property of Canaan Bank; or (iii) intentionally and wrongfully disclosing
confidential information. If an employee terminates their employment, they are
not entitled to severance benefits, unless they terminate for "Good Reason,"
which includes (i) the employer's failure to elect, reelect or maintain the
employee in any office or position they had prior to the Change in Control; (ii)
a significant adverse change in the nature or scope of the employee's authority,
power, functions or duties; (iii) a reduction in pay or a failure in increase
pay on a percentage basis equal to the average percentage increase of all other
employees; (iv) a failure to continue in effect, without reduction in benefits
level and/or reward opportunities, any material compensation or employee benefit
plan, program or practice; and (v) requiring the employee to be based more than
25 miles from the employee's principal place of business before the Change in
Control.

Securities Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers

The following table sets forth certain information as of December 31, 2003
regarding the number of shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by each
director and executive officer of Canaan and by all directors and executive
officers of Canaan as a group.
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Number of Shares (1) Percentage of Class (2)
Louis E. Allyn, II 518 (3) .29%
Gerard J. Baldwin 5,311 (4) 2.99%
Dana A. Bartholomew 1,500(5) .85%
R. Randy Brintnell 1,613(6) 91%
Ann S. Byrne 747 (7) L42%
Robert S. Drucker 3,100(8) 1.75%
Darrel S. Long 445 (9) .25%
Melanie K. Neely 1,579 (10) .89%
Linda M. Patz 135(11) .08%
Jean R. Perotti 3,657(12) 2.06%
(A1l Directors and Executive 18,605 10.49%
Officers of Canaan
as a group of (10) persons)
(1) The shareholdings also include, in certain cases, shares owned by or in

trust for a directors spouse and/or children or grandchildren, and in
which all beneficial interest has been disclaimed by the director.

(2) Percentages are based upon the 177,418 shares of Canaan's Common Stock
outstanding and entitled to vote on March 7, 2003. The definition of
beneficial owner includes any person who, directly or indirectly, through
any contract, agreement or understanding, relationship or otherwise has or
shares voting power or investment power with respect to such security.

(3) All 518 shares are owned individually by Mr. Allyn.

(4) Includes 1,550 shares owned individually by Mr. Baldwin; 3,252 shares in
ESOP; 309 shares in 401K; and 200 shares owned by his spouse.

(5) All 1,500 shares are owned jointly by Mr. Bartholomew with his spouse.

(6) Includes 1,600 shares owned jointly by Mr. Brintnell with his spouse, and
13 shares in ESOP.

(7) All 747 shares are owned jointly by Mrs. Byrne with her spouse.
(8) All 3,100 shares are owned individually by Mr. Drucker.
98
(9) Includes 20 shares owned jointly by Mr. Long with his spouse; and 225

shares in ESOP; and 200 shares owned by his mother.

(10) Includes 163 shares owned individually by Ms. Neely, and 1,416 shares in
ESOP.

(11) All 135 shares are owned jointly by Mrs. Patz with her spouse.
(12) 1Includes 1,620 shares owned individually by Mrs. Perotti; 347 shares owned
by her spouse; and 1,228 shares are owned by the Perotti Profit Sharing

Plan, a plan of which Mrs. Perotti is the Trustee; and 462 shares owned by
her children.
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Principal Shareholders of Canaan

The following table includes certain information as of December 31, 2003
regarding the principal shareholders of Canaan. With the exception of the
shareholder listed below, Canaan is not aware of any beneficial owner of five
percent (5%) or more of Canaan's Common Stock.

Number of Shares

Beneficially Owned Percent of Outst

Name and Address or Controlled Common Stoc
Canaan National Bank Employee 23,225 13.09%
Stock Ownership Trust, Trustee
for Canaan National Bank Employee
Stock Ownership Plan
100 Main Street, P.0O. Box 757
Canaan, Connecticut 06018

(*) Percentages are based upon the 177,418 shares of Common Stock

outstanding. The definition of a beneficial owner of a security
includes any person who, directly or indirectly, through any
contract, arrangement, understanding, relationship or otherwise has
or shares voting power or investment power with respect to such
security.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Canaan and the Bank have had, and expect to have in the future,
transactions in the ordinary course of business with directors, officers,
principle shareholders and their associates on substantially the same terms as
those available for comparable transactions with others.

Jean R. Perotti is Chairman of the Board of Directors and Controller of
Perotti Plumbing. Canaan has engaged Perotti Plumbing in past years and during
2003.

Linda M. Patz is a director of Canaan and a partner in the law firm of
Drury & Patz, LLP. Canaan has engaged Ms. Patz in past years but her services
were not used in 2003.

Robert S. Drucker is a director of Canaan and owner of Bob's Clothing.
Canaan has purchased merchandise from Bob's Clothing in past years and during
2003.

Some of the directors and executive officers of Canaan and Canaan Bank, as
well as firms and companies with which they are associated, are or have been
customers of Canaan Bank and as such have had banking transactions with Canaan
Bank. As a matter of policy, loans to directors and executive officers are made
in the ordinary course of business on substantially the same terms, including
interest rates, collateral and repayment terms, as those prevailing at the time
for comparable transactions with other persons and do not involve more than the
normal risk of collectibility or present other unfavorable features.
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Since January 1, 2003, the highest aggregate outstanding principal amount
of all loans extended by Canaan Bank to its directors, executive officers and

126



Edgar Filing: SALISBURY BANCORP INC - Form S-4

all associates of such persons as a group was $2,342,000 representing an
aggregate principal amount equal to 28.27% of the equity capital accounts of
Canaan Bank.

Controls and Procedures

Based upon an evaluation within the 90 days prior to the filing date of
this report, Canaan's Chief Executive Officer and Secretary/Treasurer concluded
that Canaan's disclosure controls and procedures are effective. There have been
no significant changes in Canaan's internal controls or in other factors that
could significantly affect Canaan's internal controls subsequent to the date of
the evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses.

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK AND
COMPARISON OF SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Set forth below is a description of Salisbury's capital stock, as well as
a summary of the material differences between the rights of holders of Canaan's
common stock and their prospective rights as holders of Salisbury's common
stock. If the merger agreement is approved and the merger takes place, the
holders of Canaan's common stock will become holders of Salisbury's common
stock. As a result, Salisbury's certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as
amended, and the applicable provisions of the Connecticut Business Corporation
Act, referred to in this section as the "Connecticut corporation law," will
govern the rights of current holders of Canaan's common stock. The rights of
those shareholders are governed at the present time by the certificate of
incorporation and the bylaws of Canaan and the applicable provisions of the
Delaware General Corporation Law (the "Delaware corporation law").

The following comparison is based on the current terms of the governing
documents of Salisbury and Canaan and on the provisions of the Connecticut
corporation law and the Delaware corporation law. The discussion is intended to
highlight important similarities and differences between the rights of holders
of Salisbury's common stock and Canaan's common stock.

Salisbury's Common Stock

Salisbury is authorized to issue 3,000,000 shares of common stock, par
value $.10 per share. As of May 28, 2004, 1,424,078 shares of Salisbury's common
stock were outstanding. Each share of Salisbury's common stock has the same
relative rights and is identical in all respects to each other share of
Salisbury's common stock. Salisbury's common stock is non-withdrawable capital,
is not of an insurable type and is not insured by the FDIC or any other
governmental entity.

Holders of Salisbury's common stock are entitled to one vote per share on
each matter properly submitted to shareholders for their vote, including the
election of directors. Salisbury's common stock is not subject to additional
calls or assessments by Salisbury, and all shares of Salisbury's common stock
currently outstanding are fully paid and nonassessable. For a discussion of the
voting rights of Salisbury's common stock, its lack of preemptive rights, the
classification of Salisbury's Board of Directors and provisions of Salisbury's
certificate of incorporation and bylaws that may prevent a change in control of
Salisbury or that would operate only in an extraordinary corporate transaction
involving Salisbury or its subsidiaries, see "--Certificate of Incorporation and
Bylaw Provisions."

Holders of Salisbury's common stock and any class or series of stock
entitled to participate with it are entitled to receive dividends declared by
the Board of Directors of Salisbury out of any assets legally available for
distribution. No dividends or other distributions may be declared or paid,
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however, unless all accumulated dividends and any sinking fund, retirement fund
or other retirement payments have been paid, declared or set aside on any class
of stock having preference as to payments of dividends over Salisbury's common

stock.

In the unlikely event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of
Salisbury, the holders of Salisbury's common stock and any class or series of
stock entitled to participate with it would be entitled to receive all remaining
assets of Salisbury available for distribution, in cash or in kind, after
payment or provision for payment of all debts
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and liabilities of Salisbury and after the liquidation preferences of all
outstanding shares of any class of stock having preference over Salisbury's
common stock have been fully paid or set aside.

Canaan's Common Stock

The certificate of incorporation of Canaan authorizes 300,000 shares of
Canaan's common stock, par value $.01 per share, of which 177,418 shares were
outstanding as of June 1, 2004. In addition, as of June 1, 2004, there were
outstanding options to purchase Canaan's common stock granted to officers and
other employees of Canaan for 15,290 shares of Canaan's common stock.

Each share of Canaan's common stock has the same relative rights and is
identical in all respects with all other shares of Canaan's common stock. As
with Salisbury's common stock, Canaan's common stock is non-withdrawable
capital, is not of an insurable type and is not insured by the FDIC or any other
governmental entity.

Holders of Canaan's common stock are entitled to one vote per share on
each matter properly submitted to shareholders for their vote, including the
election of directors. Holders of Canaan's common stock have distribution and
liquidation rights similar to those of holders of Salisbury's common stock. All
shares of Canaan's common stock currently outstanding are fully paid and
nonassessable. For a discussion of the voting rights of Canaan's common stock,
its lack of preemptive rights and provisions in Canaan's certificate of
incorporation which may prevent a change in control of Canaan, see
"-—Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaw Provisions."

Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaw Provisions

The following discussion is a general summary of provisions of Salisbury's
certificate of incorporation and bylaws, and a comparison of those provisions to
similar types of provisions in the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of
Canaan. The discussion is necessarily general and, for provisions contained in
Salisbury's certificate of incorporation and bylaws or in Canaan's certificate
of incorporation and bylaws, reference should be made to the documents in
question. Certain provisions in Salisbury's certificate of incorporation and
bylaws are intended to enhance the negotiating ability of the Board of Directors
in order to serve the best interests of the shareholders and may make it more
difficult for third parties to acquire or to exercise control of Salisbury, even
if some shareholders consider an acquisition to be in their own interest. The
Board of Directors is not aware at this time of any attempt by any person or
entity to gain control of Salisbury.

Directors. Certain provisions of Salisbury's certificate of incorporation
and bylaws impede change in majority control of Salisbury's Board of Directors.
Salisbury's certificate of incorporation provides that the Board of Directors
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will consist of not less than seven (7) members and not more than twelve (12)
members and will be divided into three (3) classes, with directors in each class
elected for three (3) year terms. The Board of Directors may increase the number
of directors by no more than two (2) in each fiscal year, and may decrease the
number of directors at any time (but to not less than seven (7) directors). No
decrease in the number of directors will shorten the term of any incumbent
director. Salisbury's certificate of incorporation and bylaws also impose
restrictions on the ability of shareholders to nominate candidates for the Board
of Directors, requiring, in general, not less than thirty (30) nor more than
fifty (50) days prior written notice of such nominations which contains
specified information about the proposed nominee and about the person making the
nomination. The certificate of incorporation and the bylaws provide that
vacancies created by an increase in the number of directorships can be filled
for the unexpired term by the Board of Directors. Vacancies occurring for any
other reasons, such as death or resignation, would be filled by the remaining
directors. The effect of these provisions would prevent a new majority
shareholder from increasing the size of the Board of Directors and from then
filling the vacancies created by such increase. They would also prevent a new
majority shareholder from filling any vacancies on the Board of Directors
arising by resignation, death or other reason.

Salisbury's certificate of incorporation and bylaws provide that any
director of Salisbury may be removed from office at any time with cause by the
affirmative vote of at least two-thirds (?) of the Directors then in office.

Canaan's certificate of incorporation provides that the number of
directors shall be determined as set forth in the bylaws. Canaan's bylaws
provide that the Board of Directors shall consist of not less than five (5) nor
more than twenty-five (25) members, with the exact number of directors to be
fixed within the minimum and maximum limitations by resolution of a majority of
the entire Board of directors or by majority vote of the shareholders at the
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annual meeting. The Board of Directors may increase the number of directorships
to a number which exceeds the number fixed by shareholders, but not to more than
twenty-five (25).

Canaan's bylaws provide that any vacancy on the Board of Directors or a
newly created directorship resulting from an increase in the number of
directorships may be filled by a majority of the directors then in office,
although less than a quorum, and any director so chosen shall hold office for
the remainder of the full term of the class in which the new directorship was
creased or the wvacancy occurred.

Canaan's certificate of incorporation provides that directors may be
removed only for cause by a two-thirds (?) vote of the total votes eligible to
be voted by shareholders at a meeting called for that purpose.

Call of Special Meetings. Salisbury's certificate of incorporation
provides that a special meeting of shareholders may be called at any time but
only by the Chairman, the President or by the Board of Directors. Shareholders
are not authorized to call a special meeting. Canaan's certificate of
incorporation provides that a special meeting of the shareholders may be called
only by the Chairman of the Board or the President or by the Board of Directors.

Shareholder Action without a Meeting. Salisbury's certificate of
incorporation provides that shareholders may act by written consent without a
meeting but only if the consent is unanimous. Canaan's certificate of
incorporation provides that shareholder action may not be taken except at a duly
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called meeting of shareholders, except action may be taken by a consent in
writing which is unanimous.

Limitation on Liability of Directors and Indemnification. Salisbury's
certificate of incorporation provides that to the fullest extent permitted by
law, no director shall have any personal liability to the corporation or its
shareholders for monetary damages for breach of their fiduciary duty as a
director, provided that the provisions will not eliminate or limit the liability
of a director in certain circumstances. Specifically, liability will not be
eliminated or limited (i) for any breach of the director's duty of loyalty to
the corporation or its shareholders; (ii) for acts or omissions not in good
faith or which involve intentional misconduct or knowing violations of law;

(iii) for any unlawful payment of dividends, unlawful stock purchase or unlawful
redemption; or (iv) for any transaction from which the director derived an
improper personal benefit.

Canaan's certificate of incorporation provides that no director shall be
personally liable to the corporation or its shareholders for monetary damages if
the director acted in good faith and in a manner reasonably believed to be in or
not opposed to the best interest of Canaan and, with respect to any criminal
action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was
unlawful.

Salisbury's certificate of incorporation and bylaws provide that the
corporation shall indemnify its directors, officers, employees and agents to the
maximum extent permitted by the Connecticut Business Corporation Act. The
Connecticut Business Corporation Act provides for four (4) types of
indemnification: permissible; mandatory; obligatory; and court ordered.
Permissible indemnification for a director requires the director's conduct to
have been taken in good faith and in the reasonable belief that such conduct was
in the best interest of Salisbury. Mandatory indemnification is required under
the Connecticut Business Corporation Act regardless of the provisions of a
corporation's certificate of incorporation or bylaws only when the director has
been "wholly successful on the merits or otherwise, in the defense of an action
to which he was a party because he is or was a director." Obligatory
indemnification occurs by reason of specific provisions in a certificate of
incorporation, bylaw, board resolution or contract. Court ordered
indemnification arises when a court orders indemnification based upon its
finding that mandatory indemnification or obligatory indemnification exists or
because the court concludes that it would be fair and reasonable to indemnify
the director. The indemnification provisions of Salisbury provide
indemnification to directors, except with regard to the following five (5)
exceptions: (a) knowing and culpable violations of law; (b) receipt of improper
personal economic gain; (c) lack of good faith and conscious disregard for duty
under circumstances in which the director was aware that his or her conduct or
omission created an unjustifiable risk of serious injury to Salisbury; (d)
sustained and unexcused inattention that amounts to an abdication of duty; or
(e) unlawful distributions.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities
Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of
the corporation pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, Salisbury
has been advised that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against
public policy as expressed
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in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for
indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by Salisbury of
expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of
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Salisbury in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is
asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the
securities being registered, Salisbury will, unless in the opinion of its
counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court
of appropriate jurisdiction the questions whether such indemnification by it is
against public policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final
adjudication of such issue.

Likewise, Canaan's bylaws provide for indemnification of directors,
officers, trustees, employees and agents of Canaan, and for those serving in
those roles with other business organizations or entities, in the event that the
person was or is a party to any threatened, pending or completed civil,
criminal, administrative, arbitrative or investigative action, suit or
proceeding, other than an action by or in the right of Canaan, by reason of the
fact that the person is or was serving in that kind of capacity for or on behalf
of Canaan. The bylaws provide that Canaan will indemnify any person of this kind
against expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines, penalties and
amounts paid in settlement if the person acted in good faith and in a manner the
person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of
Canaan, and, for any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to
believe his conduct was unlawful. Similarly, the bylaws provide that Canaan will
indemnify these persons for expenses reasonably incurred and settlements
reasonably paid in actions, suits, or proceedings brought by or in the right of
Canaan, if the person acted in good faith and in a manner the person reasonably
believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of Canaan; provided,
however, that indemnification may be made against expenses for any claim, issue
or matter as to which the person is adjudged to be liable to Canaan or against
amounts paid in settlement only to the extent that there is a determination made
by the appropriate party set forth in Canaan's bylaws that the person to be
indemnified is, in view of all the circumstances of the case, fairly and
reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses or amounts paid in
settlement. Canaan's bylaws permit it to pay expenses incurred in connection
with any such a matter in advance of the final disposition if the person gives
an undertaking to repay such amount advanced if it is determined that they are
not entitled to be indemnified. In addition, Canaan's bylaws permit the
corporation to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or
was a director, officer, trustee, employee, or agent of Canaan or is acting in
this kind of capacity for another business organization or entity at Canaan's
request, against any liability asserted against the person and incurred in that
capacity, or arising out of that status, whether or not Canaan would have the
power or obligation to indemnify him against that kind of liability under the
indemnification provisions of Canaan's bylaws.

Cumulative Voting. Neither Salisbury nor Canaan shareholders have
cumulative voting rights in the election of directors.

Preemptive Rights. Salisbury's certificate of incorporation provides that
shareholders do not have any preemptive rights regarding Salisbury's securities.
Similarly, Canaan shareholders do not have any preemptive rights regarding
Canaan securities.

Notice of Meetings. Salisbury's bylaws require that notice be given not
less than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days prior to each annual or special
meeting of shareholders. Canaan's bylaws require that notice of an annual or
special meeting be given not less than twenty (20) nor more than fifty (50) days
prior to a meeting.

Quorum. Salisbury's bylaws provide that the holders of one-third of the
capital stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote at a meeting
constitutes a quorum. Canaan's bylaws provide that the presence of the holders
of one-third of the issued and outstanding shares of stock of the company
entitled to vote at a meeting constitutes a quorum.
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General Vote. Salisbury's bylaws provide that any matter brought before a
meeting of shareholders will be decided by the affirmative vote of a majority of
the votes cast on the matter except as otherwise required by law or Salisbury's
certificate of incorporation or bylaws. Canaan's bylaws provide that any matter
brought before any meeting of shareholders will be decided by the vote of the
holders of a majority of the votes cast on the matter, except as otherwise
required by law or Canaan's certificate of incorporation or bylaws.

Record Date. Salisbury's bylaws provide that the record date for
determination of shareholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting and
for other specified purposes may not be less than ten (10) nor more than sixty
(60) days before the date of the meeting or other action. Canaan's bylaws
provide that the Board of Directors may
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set a record date for determination of shareholders entitled to notice of or to
vote at a meeting and for other specified purposes which shall not be more than
fifty (50) nor less than twenty (20) days before such meeting nor more than
fifty (50) days prior to the particular event requiring such determination is to
occur.

Salisbury - Fair Price Provision. Salisbury's certificate of incorporation
requires that, unless otherwise required by law, certain "business combinations"
with a holder (hereinafter referred to as an "Interested Shareholder") of ten
percent (10%) or more of the voting power of common stock (hereinafter referred
to as the "Voting Stock") must be approved by "super-majority" votes of
shareholders. The purpose of this provision is to discourage "front load" or
two-tier acquisitions. In this type of acquisition, one price is offered in a
tender offer for a controlling block of stock and then a much lower price and/or
less desirable form of consideration is offered for the remainder of the
outstanding stock.

Under the provisions of the Salisbury's certificate of incorporation,
three (3) votes are necessary before a business combination with an Interested
Shareholder can occur. First, the Board of Directors must approve the
transaction. Second, the holders of at least eighty percent (80%) of the voting
power of the outstanding Voting Stock must approve the transaction. Third, the
holders of at least two-thirds (?) of the voting power of the outstanding Voting
Stock other than that controlled by the Interested Shareholder must approve the
transaction.

The term "business combination" encompasses six categories of
transactions. The first includes any merger, consolidation or share exchange by
Salisbury or any subsidiary with any Interested Shareholder or related persons.
The second category includes any sale, lease, exchange, mortgage or other
disposition of assets to an Interested Shareholder within any twelve month
period which is not in the usual and regular course of business, if the assets
have a book value of ten percent (10%) or more of either the total market value
of the outstanding stock of Salisbury or Salisbury's net worth as of the end of
the most recent fiscal quarter. The third category is the issuance or transfer
to an Interested Shareholder, on a non-pro rata basis, of stock having a market
value equal to five percent (5%) or more of the total market value of all shares
of stock of Salisbury. The fourth category is a liquidation or dissolution
proposed by or on behalf of an Interested Shareholder or related person. The
fifth category is any reclassification of securities or recapitalization which
increases an Interested Shareholder's proportionate ownership of Salisbury's
equity or convertible securities. The sixth category is the receipt by an
Interested Shareholder of loans, advances, guarantees, pledges or other
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financial assistance from Salisbury.

Salisbury's certificate of incorporation exempts from the super-majority
voting requirements described above any business combination with an Interested
Shareholder if the transaction is approved by Salisbury's Board of Directors
before the Interested Shareholder first becomes an Interested Shareholder.

Salisbury's certificate of incorporation also exempts from the foregoing,
super-majority voting requirements for business combinations described in the
first category set forth above (that is, mergers, consolidations and share
exchanges) which satisfy certain "fair price" and procedural provisions. Five
(5) basic conditions must be met in order for this exemption to apply. The first
condition requires that shareholders whose stock is acquired in the second or
later stage of an acquisition must receive at least as much as the highest price
the Interested Shareholder paid for shares within the prior two years, and in
some cases a higher price, as determined by various formulas specified in the
exemptive provision. These prices may bear no relation to the then-current
market value of Salisbury's stock. The second condition is that the
consideration in the business combination must be cash or the same form of
consideration as the Interested Shareholder previously paid. The requirement
prevents the use of cash in the "first tier" of an acquisition and less valuable
securities in the "second tier". The third condition provides that prior to the
business consolidation, there was no reduction in the annual rate of dividends
paid on Salisbury's stock and/or increase in the annual rate of dividends paid
should there be a reverse stock split or any similar transaction unless the
Interested Shareholder voted as a director of the corporation against such
action. In addition, the third condition provides that the Interested
Shareholder shall not have become the beneficial owner of any additional shares
of stock. The fourth condition is designed to ensure that an Interested
Shareholder has not, through the exercise of influence over Salisbury, enhanced
his position or brought about actions detrimental to the other shareholders.
Thus, any receipt by the Interested Shareholder of specified financial or tax
benefits (such as loan, advances, pledges or guarantees provided by Salisbury),
will prevent the use of the "fair price" exemption. The fifth condition requires
that a proxy or information statement complying with the provisions of the
Exchange Act be mailed to Salisbury's shareholders at least thirty (30) days
prior to the consummation of the business combination, whether or not such proxy
or information statement is required under the Exchange Act.
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In the event that the requisite approval of the Board of Directors was
given or the "fair price" and procedural requirements were met with respect to a
particular business combination, the normal voting requirements of law would
apply. Under Connecticut law, a merger, consolidation, sale of all or
substantially all of the assets of Salisbury or the adoption of a plan of
dissolution of Salisbury would require the approval of the holders of a majority
of the outstanding shares of Salisbury's common stock. A reclassification of
Salisbury's securities involving an amendment to its certificate of
incorporation would require the approval of the holders of a majority of
Salisbury's capital stock entitled to vote thereon. A sale of less than
substantially all of the assets of Salisbury, a merger of Salisbury with a
company in which it owns ninety percent (90%) of the outstanding capital stock,
or a reclassification of Salisbury's securities not involving an amendment to
its certificate of incorporation would not require shareholder approval.

Salisbury - Board of Director Approval of a Business Combination or Stock
Purchase. Salisbury's certificate of incorporation prevents an Interested
Shareholder from engaging in any "business combination" with Salisbury for a
period of five (5) years following the date on which it first became an
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Interested Shareholder (i.e., the date on which it first acquired ten percent
(10%) or more of the Voting Stock). A "business combination" is defined in the
same way as for the purposes of the fair price provision discussed above.
Nevertheless, a business combination with an Interested Shareholder may occur
before the termination of the five (5) year period if the Board of Directors of
Salisbury gives its approval, before the date on which the Interested
Shareholder becomes an Interested Shareholder, to either the proposed business
combination or the proposed acquisition of the Voting Stock. Moreover, the
majority of the non-employee members of the Board of Directors (of which there
must be at least two) must also give their prior approval. The purpose of this
provision is to effectively require any potential acquiror of Salisbury to seek
the approval of the Board of Directors of Salisbury before launching a takeover
attempt.

In the event that the requisite prior Board of Director approval is
obtained with respect to a particular business combination, the normal voting
requirements of Connecticut law would apply. Under such law, a merger,
consolidation, or sale of all or substantially all of the assets of Salisbury or
the adoption of the plan of dissolution of Salisbury would require the approval
of a majority of the outstanding shares of Salisbury's capital stock. A
reclassification of Salisbury's securities involving an amendment to its
certificate of incorporation would require the approval of the holders of a
majority of Salisbury's capital stock entitled to vote thereon.

Salisbury - Anti-Greenmail. Salisbury's certificate of incorporation
requires approval by the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of
voting stock before Salisbury may directly or indirectly purchase or otherwise
acquire any voting stock beneficially owned by a holder of 5% or more of
Salisbury's voting stock, if the holder has owned the shares for less than two
years. Any shares beneficially held by the person are required to be excluded in
calculating majority shareholder approval. This provision would not apply to a
pro rata offer made by Salisbury to all of its shareholders in compliance with
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the rules and regulations under that
statute or a purchase of voting stock by Salisbury if the Board of Directors has
determined that the purchase price per share does not exceed the fair market
value of that voting stock.

Canaan - Shareholder Approval for Acquisitions of Control. Canaan's
certificate of incorporation provides that no individual, firm, corporation or
other entity, including any such persons or entities acting in concert for a
common purpose, may acquire control of Canaan unless such acquisition of control
has been approved in advance by the vote of the holders of at least two-thirds
(?) of the outstanding shares of common stock at a meeting of shareholders
called for such purpose. However, if at least two-thirds (?) of the directors
then in office approve the acquisition of control, the vote of the holders of a
majority of the outstanding shares of common stock may approve the acquisition.
Control, for purposes of this provision, means the power to vote or dispose of
more than fifteen percent (15%) of the common stock. In addition, no person or
entity may acquire control unless they have first obtained all required
regulatory approvals.

Canaan - Higher Vote Required for Certain Business Combinations. Canaan's
certificate of incorporation requires that the affirmative vote of the holders
of at least eighty percent (80%) of the outstanding shares of common stock
approve certain business combinations with Interested Shareholders. An
"Interested Shareholder" is a shareholder that beneficially owns ten percent
(10%) or more of the outstanding common stock. A business combination is any
merger, consolidation or share exchange; any sale, lease, exchange, mortgage,
pledge, transfer or other disposition of assets having a book value in excess of
five percent (5%) of the market value of all of Canaan's common stock or its net
worth; any purchase, exchange, lease or other acquisition by Canaan of more than
five percent (5%) of the assets or business of the Interested Shareholder; or
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the issuance or transfer to an Interested
105

Shareholder by Canaan of its common stock having a market value of more than
five percent (5%) of the total market value of Canaan's common stock. The eighty
percent (80%) vote is not required if the business combination is approved by a
majority of the directors then in office who are not affiliated with the
Interested Shareholder and if the aggregate value of the consideration received
by shareholders is equal in amount to the highest price paid by the Interested
Shareholder in acquiring Canaan's common stock and is in the same form as paid
by the Interested Shareholder in acquiring the common stock. If these conditions
are met, the normal voting requirements of Delaware law would apply, which
require approval by the holders a majority of the outstanding shares of Canaan's
common stock, except as described under "--Canaan - Shareholder Approval of
Acquisitions of Control."

Criteria for Evaluating Offers. Salisbury's certificate of incorporation
provides that the Board of Directors, when evaluating any acquisition offer,
shall give due consideration to all relevant factors, including, without
limitation, the economic effects of acceptance of the offer on depositors,
borrowers and employees of its insured institution subsidiaries and on the
communities in which its subsidiaries operate or are located, as well as on the
ability of its subsidiaries to fulfill the objectives of insured institutions
under applicable federal statutes and regulations.

Canaan's certificate of incorporation provides that the Board of
Directors, when evaluating any offer to make a tender offer or exchange offer
for Canaan stock, merge or consolidate Canaan with another entity or purchase or
otherwise acquire the properties and assets of Canaan, may, in connection with
the exercise of its judgment in determining what is in the best interests of
Canaan and its shareholders, give due consideration to all relevant factors,
including, without limitation, the economic effects of acceptance of the offer
on depositors and borrowers of its insured institution subsidiaries and on the
communities in which its subsidiaries operate or are located, as well as on the
ability of its subsidiaries to fulfill the objectives of insured institutions
under applicable federal and state statutes and regulations.

Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws. Approval of an
amendment to Salisbury's certificate of incorporation requires the approval of
the holders of only a majority of the outstanding shares of Salisbury's capital
stock entitled to vote thereon. However, Article Eighteenth of the certificate
of incorporation requires that any amendment by the provisions of Salisbury's
certificate of incorporation relating to various Board of Director provisions,
provisions relating to restrictions on the acquisition of ten percent (10%) or
more of Salisbury's common stock, business combinations with interested
shareholders, meetings of shareholders, the removal of directors with cause, and
the procedure for the amendment of the foregoing provisions be approved by
eighty percent (80%) of the outstanding shares of Salisbury's capital stock
entitled to vote thereon. If there is an Interested Shareholder, the amendment
must also be approved by sixty percent (60%) of voting power of Salisbury's
issued and outstanding shares of capital stock entitled to vote thereon held by
shareholders other than the Interested Shareholder.

Salisbury's bylaws provide that, except as otherwise provided by law or
the bylaws, Salisbury's bylaws may be amended or repealed by (i) the Board by
the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors then in office, or (ii) by
the shareholders of Salisbury, at any annual meeting of shareholders or special
meeting of shareholders called for such purpose, by the affirmative vote of at
least a majority of the shares present in person or represented by proxy at such
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meeting and entitled to vote on such amendment or repeal, voting together as
class; provided, however, that in order to amend or repeal or to adopt any
provision inconsistent with certain provisions of the bylaws regarding
shareholder meetings, directors and bylaw amendments the affirmative vote of
sixty percent (60%) of the voting power of all the issued and outstanding shares
is required to effectuate such amendments.

Canaan's certificate of incorporation requires that any proposed amendment
to the certificate of incorporation be first approved by two-thirds (2/3) of the
directors then in office and approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of
at least a majority of the shares entitled to vote thereon. However, Article 15
of the certificate of incorporation requires that any amendment to the
provisions of Canaan's certificate of incorporation relating to directors,
amendment of the bylaws, special meetings, approval of acquisitions of control,
criteria for evaluating certain officers, business combinations with interested
shareholders, or this portion of Article 15, must be approved by the affirmative
vote of the holders of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the shares entitled to vote
thereon. In addition, Article 15 of the certificate of incorporation requires
that any amendment to provisions relating to certain business combinations or
this portion of Article 15 must be approved by the affirmative vote of the
holders of at least eighty percent (80%) of the shares entitled to vote thereon.
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Canaan's certificate of incorporation and bylaws provide that the bylaws
may be adopted, altered, amended or repealed by the vote of at least two-thirds
(2/3) of the directors then in office or by the affirmative vote of the holders
of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the shares eligible to be voted thereon at a
meeting duly called for such purpose.

Applicable Law

The following discussion is a general summary of particular federal and
state statutory and regulatory provisions that may be deemed to have an
anti-takeover effect.

Connecticut Takeover Statute and Regulatory Restrictions on Acquisitions
of Stock. Section 33-844 of the Connecticut Business Corporation Act applies to
Connecticut corporations, such as Salisbury, with a class of voting stock
registered on a national securities exchange and restricts transactions which
may be entered into by the corporation and some of its shareholders. Section 844
provides, in general, that a shareholder acquiring more than 10% of the
outstanding voting stock of a corporation subject to the statute and that
person's affiliates and associates, referred to in this section as an interested
shareholder, may not engage in specified business combinations, as discussed
below, with the corporation for a period of five years after the date on which
the shareholder became an interested shareholder unless the business combination
is approved by the corporation's board of directors and a majority of the
non-employee directors of the Company. Section 843 defines the term business
combination to include a wide variety of transactions with or caused by an
interested shareholder or its affiliates in which the interested shareholder
receives or could receive a benefit on other than a pro rata basis with other
shareholders, including mergers, consolidations, specified types of asset sales,
specified issuances of additional shares to the interested stockholder,
transactions with the corporation which increase the proportionate interest of
the interested shareholder or transactions in which the interested shareholder
receives specified other benefits.

Connecticut banking statutes prohibit any person from directly or
indirectly offering to acquire or acquiring voting stock of a
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Connecticut-chartered bank, like Salisbury Bank, or a holding company of that
kind of entity, like Salisbury, that would result in the person becoming,
directly or indirectly, the beneficial owner of more than ten percent (10)% of
any class of voting stock of that entity unless the person had previously filed
an acquisition statement with the Connecticut Commissioner of Banking and the
offer or acquisition has not been disapproved by the Connecticut Commissioner.

Delaware Business Combinations Statute. Section 203 of the Delaware
corporation law restricts certain business combinations which may be entered
into by Delaware corporations, such as Canaan, and certain of its shareholders.
Canaan's certificate of incorporation provide that Canaan expressly elects to be
governed by Section 203. Section 203 provides, in essence, that a shareholder
acquiring more than fifteen percent (15%) of the outstanding voting stock of a
corporation subject to the statute and that person's affiliates and associates,
referred to as an interested stockholder, but less than eighty-five percent
(85%) of its shares, may not engage in specified business combinations with the
corporation for a period of three years after the date on which the shareholder
became an interested stockholder unless before that date the corporation's board
of directors approved either the business combination or the transaction in
which the shareholder became an interested stockholder or at or after that time
the business combination is approved by the corporation's board of directors and
authorized at an annual or special meeting of shareholders by the affirmative
vote of the holders of at least two-thirds (?) of the outstanding voting stock
of the corporation not owned by the interested stockholder. Section 203 defines
the term business combination to include a wide variety of transactions with or
caused by an interested stockholder in which the interested stockholder receives
or could receive a benefit on other than a pro rata basis with other
shareholders, including mergers, consolidations, specified types of asset sales,
specified issuances of additional shares to the interested stockholder,
transactions with the corporation which increase the proportionate interest of
the interested stockholder or transactions in which the interested stockholder
receives specified other benefits.

Federal Law. Federal law provides that, subject to some exemptions, no
person acting directly or indirectly or through or in concert with one or more
other persons may acquire control of an insured institution or holding company
of an insured institution, without giving at least sixty (60) days prior written
notice providing specified information to the appropriate federal banking
agency. In the case of Salisbury and Salisbury Bank, the appropriate federal
banking agency is the FRB and the FDIC, respectively, and in the case of Canaan
and Canaan Bank, the appropriate federal banking agencies are the OCC and the
FDIC, respectively. Control is defined for this purpose as the power, directly
or indirectly, to direct the management or policies of an insured institution or
to vote twenty-five percent (25%) or more of any class of voting securities of
an insured institution. Control is presumed to
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exist where the acquiring party has voting control of at least ten percent (10%)
of any class of the institution's wvoting securities and other conditions are
present. The FRB, OCC or the FDIC may prohibit the acquisition of control if the
agency finds, among other things, that:

o the acquisition would result in a monopoly or substantially lessen
competition;
o the financial condition of the acquiring person might jeopardize the

financial stability of the institution; or

o the competence, experience or integrity of any acquiring person or
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any of the proposed management personnel indicates that it would not
be in the interest of the depositors or the public to permit the
acquisition of control by that person.

Federal law also provides that, subject to some exceptions, a bank holding
company may not acquire more than 5 percent of the voting stock of a bank, and a
new holding company may not be formed to acquire control of a bank, without the
prior approval of the FRB. Control is defined for this purpose in a similar
manner as discussed in the preceding paragraph. The FRB may not approve the
acquisition of control if it finds that the acquisition of control would result
in a monopoly or would further an attempt to monopolize the business of banking
in any part of the United States or if the acquisition of control would
substantially lessen competition or tend to create a monopoly and the
anticompetitive effects are not clearly outweighed by the public benefits of the
proposed transaction. The FRB also may not approve the acquisition of control if
the company fails to provide the FRB with adequate assurances regarding the
availability of information concerning the operations or activities of the
company and any affiliate of the company that the FRB determines to be
appropriate. The FRB also must take into consideration:

o the financial resources and future prospects of the companies and
banks concerned, and the convenience and needs of the community to
be served;

o the managerial resources of a company or bank, including the
competence, experience, and integrity of officers, directors, and
principal shareholders;

o the company's record of meeting the credit needs of its entire
community, including low-and moderate-income neighborhoods; and

o the effectiveness of the company in combating money laundering
activities.

INFORMATION REGARDING SALISBURY

Information regarding Salisbury's business, current directors and
executive officers, the principal holders of its voting securities, executive
compensation, certain relationships and related transactions and financial
statements is set forth in Salisbury's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2003 and Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31,
2004, which are incorporated in this document by reference and included as
Appendix E and Appendix F, respectively.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

Salisbury files annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy statements
and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission. You may read
and copy any reports, statements or other information that Salisbury files with
the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, N.W.,
Washington, D.C. 20549. You may obtain information on the operation of the
Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an
Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other
information about issuers that file electronically with the SEC. The address of
the SEC's Internet site is http://www.sec.gov. Salisbury can be found on the
Internet at http://www.salisbury-bank.com. Salisbury's common stock is traded on
the American Stock Exchange under the trading symbol SAL.
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Salisbury has filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-4
under the Securities Act relating to Salisbury's common stock to be issued to
Canaan's shareholders in the merger. As permitted by the rules and regulations
of the SEC, this proxy statement/prospectus does not contain all the information
set forth in the registration statement. You can obtain that additional
information from the SEC's principal office in Washington, D.C. or the SEC's
Internet site as described above. Statements contained in this proxy
statement/prospectus or in any document incorporated by reference into this
proxy statement/prospectus about the contents of any contract or other document
are not necessarily complete and, in each instance where the contract or
document is filed as an exhibit to the registration statement, reference is made
to the copy of that contract or document filed as an exhibit to the registration
statement, with each statement of that kind in this proxy statement/prospectus
being qualified in all respects by reference to the document.

INCORPORATION OF DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE

The SEC allows Salisbury to incorporate by reference information into this
proxy statement/prospectus, which means that Salisbury can disclose important
information to you by referring you to another document filed separately with
the SEC. The information that Salisbury incorporates by reference is considered
a part of this proxy statement/prospectus, except for any information superseded
by information presented in this proxy statement/prospectus. This proxy
statement/prospectus incorporates important business and financial information
about Salisbury that is not included in or delivered with this document.

This proxy statement/prospectus incorporates by reference the documents
listed below that Salisbury has filed with the SEC:

Filings Period of Report or Date Fil

o Annual Report on Form 10-K (included as Appendix D) Year ended December 31, 2003
filed on March 30, 2004

o Current Report on Form 8-K Filed on April 30, 2004

o Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (included as Appendix E) Quarter ended March 31, 2004

filed on May 14, 2004

Salisbury also incorporates by reference additional documents that the
company may file with the SEC between the date of this document and the date of
the Canaan special meeting. These documents may include periodic reports, such
as annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current
reports on Form 8-K, as well as proxy statements.

These documents are available without charge to you if you call or write
to: John F. Perotti, President and Chief Executive Officer of Salisbury Bancorp,
Inc., 5 Bissell Street, P.O. Box 1868, Lakeville, Connecticut 06039, telephone
(860) 435-9801.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

We have made forward-looking statements in this document, and in documents
that we incorporate by reference. These kinds of statements are subject to risks
and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements include the information concerning
possible or assumed future results of our operations. When we use words like
believes, expects, anticipates or similar expressions, we are making
forward-looking statements.

You should note that many factors, some of which are discussed elsewhere
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in this document and in the documents that we incorporate by reference, could
affect our future financial results and could cause those results to differ
materially from those expressed in our forward-looking statements. These factors
include the following:

o the effect of economic conditions;

o inability to realize expected cost savings in connection with
business combinations and other acquisitions;

o higher than expected costs related to integration of combined or
merged businesses;
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o deposit attrition;
o adverse changes in interest rates;
o change in any applicable law, rule, regulation or practice with

respect to tax or accounting issues or otherwise; and
o adverse changes or conditions in capital or financial markets.

The forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this document,
and we assume no obligation to update the forward-looking statements or to
update the reasons why actual results could differ from those projected in the
forward-looking statements.

No person is authorized to give any information or to make any
representation not contained in this document, and, if given or made, that
information or representation should not be relied upon as having been
authorized. This document does not constitute an offer to sell, or a
solicitation of an offer to purchase, any of Salisbury's common stock offered by
this document, or the solicitation of a proxy, in any jurisdiction in which it
is unlawful to make that kind of offer or solicitation. Neither the delivery of
this document nor any distribution of Salisbury's common stock offered pursuant
to this proxy statement/prospectus shall, under any circumstances, create an
implication that there has been no change in the affairs of Canaan or Salisbury
or the information in this document or the documents or reports incorporated by
reference into this document since the date of this document.

OTHER MATTERS

We do not expect that any matters other than those described in this
document will be brought before the special meeting. If any other matters are
presented, however, it is the intention of the persons named in the Canaan proxy
card, to vote proxies in accordance with the determination of a majority of
Canaan's Board of Directors, including, without limitation, a motion to adjourn
or postpone the special meeting to another time and/or place for the purpose of
soliciting additional proxies in order to approve the merger agreement or
otherwise.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements of Salisbury at December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001 and for each of the years in the three-year period ended December
31, 2003 have been incorporated by reference into this document and in the
registration statement in reliance on the report of Shatswell, MacLeod &
Company, P.C., independent certified public accountants, which is incorporated
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by reference into this document and into the registration statement by reference
to Salisbury's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003
and upon the authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

The consolidated financial statements of Canaan at December 31, 2003 and
2002 and for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2003
have been included in this document in reliance on the report of Shatswell,
MacLeod & Company, P.C., independent certified public accountants, and have been
so included in reliance upon the report of that firm given upon their authority
as experts in accounting and auditing.

INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

A representative of Shatswell, MacLeod & Company, P.C., will be present at
the Canaan special meeting. The representative will have the opportunity to make
a statement if he/she desires to do so and is expected to be available to
respond to appropriate questions.

LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of Salisbury's common stock to be issued in the merger has

been passed upon by Cranmore, FitzGerald & Meaney, Hartford, CT. Day, Berry &

Howard, Hartford, CT will be passing upon certain tax matters for Salisbury and
Canaan in connection with the merger.
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

This AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER, dated as of November 17, 2003 (this

"Agreement"), is entered into by and between Salisbury Bancorp, Inc., a
Connecticut corporation ("Salisbury") and Canaan National Bancorp, Inc., a
Delaware corporation ("Canaan").

WHEREAS, the Boards of Directors of Salisbury and Canaan have determined that it
is advisable and in the best interests of their respective companies and
shareholders to consummate the business combination transaction provided for
herein in which Canaan will, subject to the terms and conditions set forth
herein, merge with and into Salisbury, with Salisbury being the Surviving
Corporation (as hereinafter defined) (the "Merger");

WHEREAS, prior to the consummation of the Merger, Salisbury and Canaan will
respectively cause Salisbury Bank and Trust Company ("Salisbury Bank"), a
Connecticut chartered bank and trust company and wholly-owned subsidiary of
Salisbury, and The Canaan National Bank, a national bank and wholly-owned

subsidiary of Canaan ("Canaan National Bank"), to enter into a merger agreement,
in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (the "Subsidiary Bank Merger
Agreement"), providing for the merger (the "Bank Merger") of Canaan National

Bank with and into Salisbury Bank, with Salisbury Bank being the "Surviving
Bank" of the Bank Merger, and the Bank Merger to be consummated immediately
after consummation of the Merger;

WHEREAS, as an inducement to Salisbury to enter into this Agreement, Canaan will
enter into an option agreement, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B (the
"Option Agreement"), with Salisbury immediately following the execution of this
Agreement pursuant to which Canaan will grant Salisbury an option to purchase,
under certain circumstances, an aggregate of 48,000 newly issued shares of
common stock, par value $.01 per share, of Canaan ("Canaan Common Stock") upon
the terms and conditions therein contained; and

WHEREAS, the parties desire to make certain representations, warranties and
agreements in connection with the Merger and also to prescribe certain
conditions to the Merger;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, representations,
warranties and agreements contained herein, and intending to be legally bound
hereby, the parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
THE MERGER

1.1 THE MERGER. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, in
accordance with the State of Connecticut Business Corporation Act, as amended
(the "Connecticut Corporation Law"), at the Effective Time (as defined in
Section 1.2 hereof), Canaan shall merge into Salisbury, with Salisbury being the
surviving corporation (hereinafter sometimes called the "Surviving Corporation")
in the Merger. Upon consummation of the Merger, the corporate existence of
Canaan shall cease, and the Surviving Corporation shall continue to exist as a
Connecticut corporation.

1.2 EFFECTIVE TIME. The Merger shall become effective on the date and at the
time set forth in the certificate of merger (the "Certificate of Merger"),

substantially in the form attached as Exhibit D hereto, which shall be filed
with the Secretaries of State of the States of Connecticut and Delaware on or
before the Closing Date. The term "Effective Time" shall be the date and time
when the Merger becomes effective, as set forth in the Certificate of Merger.

1.3 EFFECTS OF THE MERGER. At and after the Effective Time, the Merger shall
have the effects set forth in Sections 33-820 and 33-821 of the Connecticut
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Corporation Law.
1.4 CONVERSION OF CANAAN COMMON STOCK.

(a) At the Effective Time, subject to Sections 1.4(b) and 1.4(c) hereof, each
share of Canaan Common Stock issued and outstanding prior to the Effective Time
(excluding shares held by stockholders who perfect their dissenters' rights of
appraisal as provided in Section 1.5(h) hereof) shall, by virtue of this
Agreement and without any action on the part of the holder thereof, be converted
into the right to receive a combination of (i) 1.3371 shares (the "Exchange

Ratio") of Salisbury common stock, par value $.01 per share ("Salisbury Common
Stock") (the "Stock

A-4
Consideration"), plus (ii) $31.20 in cash (without interest) (the "Cash
Consideration"), subject to possible adjustment as provided in Section 1.5

hereof. The Cash Consideration and the Stock Consideration are sometimes
referred to herein collectively as the "Merger Consideration."

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, no fraction of a
share of Salisbury Common Stock will be issued. Instead, Salisbury shall pay to
each holder of Canaan Common Stock who would otherwise be entitled to a fraction
of a share of Salisbury Common Stock an amount in cash equal to (i) the fraction
of a share of Salisbury Common Stock to which such holder would otherwise be
entitled, multiplied by (ii) the actual market value of Salisbury Common Stock,
which shall be deemed to be the average of the daily closing prices per share
for Salisbury Common Stock for the fifteen consecutive trading days on which
shares of Salisbury Common Stock are actually traded (as reported on the
American Stock Exchange) ending on the third trading day preceding the Closing
Date. Following consummation of the Merger, no holder of Canaan Common Stock
shall be entitled to dividends or any other rights in respect of any such
fraction.

(c) All shares of Canaan Common Stock that are held by Salisbury, if any, other
than shares held in a fiduciary capacity or in satisfaction of a debt previously
contracted, shall be canceled. In addition, no Dissenters' Shares as hereinafter
defined shall be converted into the Merger Consideration pursuant to this
Section 1.4 but instead shall be treated in accordance with the provisions set
forth in Section 1.5(h) of this Agreement.

1.5 EXCHANGE OF CANAAN COMMON STOCK AND DISSENTERS' RIGHTS.

(a) (RESERVED)

(b) (RESERVED)

(c) (RESERVED)

(d) (RESERVED)

(e) (RESERVED)

(f) All of the shares of Canaan Common Stock exchanged for the Merger
Consideration pursuant to this Article I shall no longer be outstanding and
shall automatically be canceled and shall cease to exist, and each Certificate
previously representing any such shares of Canaan Common Stock shall thereafter
represent the right to receive the Merger Consideration for each share of Common

Stock represented by such Certificate. If prior to the Effective Time Salisbury
should split or combine its common stock, or pay a dividend or other
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distribution in such common stock, then the Merger Consideration shall be
appropriately adjusted to reflect such split, combination, dividend or
distribution.

(g) At the Effective Time, all shares of Canaan Common Stock that are owned by
Canaan as treasury stock and all shares of Canaan Common Stock that are owned
directly or indirectly by Salisbury or Canaan or any of their respective
Subsidiaries and other than any shares of Canaan Common Stock held by Salisbury
or Canaan or any of their respective Subsidiaries in respect of a debt
previously contracted shall be canceled and shall cease to exist and no cash or
other consideration shall be delivered in exchange therefor. All shares of
Salisbury Common Stock that are owned by Canaan or any of its Subsidiaries shall
become treasury stock of Salisbury.

(h) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary and unless
otherwise provided by applicable law, shares of Canaan Common Stock that are
issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time and that are
owned by shareholders who have properly objected within the meaning of Section
262 (d) of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the "DGCL") (the "Dissenters'
Shares"), shall not be converted into the right to receive shares of Salisbury
Common Stock, unless and until such shareholders shall have failed to perfect or
shall have effectively withdrawn or lost their right of payment under applicable
law, in which event such Dissenters' Shares shall thereupon be deemed to have
been converted into and to have become exchangeable, as of the Effective Time,
for the right to receive, without any interest thereon, the Merger Consideration
upon surrender in the manner provided in Section 1.4(a) of the Agreement.

(i) Canaan shall give Salisbury (i) prompt notice of any objections filed
pursuant to Section 262 (d) of the DGCL that are received by Canaan, withdrawals
of such objections and any other instruments served in connection with such
objections pursuant to the DGCL and received by Canaan and (ii) the opportunity
to direct all negotiations and proceedings with respect to objections under the
DGCL consistent with the obligations of Canaan thereunder. Canaan shall not,
except with the prior written consent of Salisbury, (x) make any payment with
respect to any such objection, (y) offer to settle or settle any such objections
or (z) waive any failure to timely deliver a written objection in accordance
with the DGCL, subject to Canaan's legal duties and obligations thereunder.

1.6 OPTIONS.

Unless exercised prior to the Effective Time, each option granted by Canaan to
purchase shares of Canaan Common Stock which has not been properly exercised
shall terminate and expire and thereafter shall be of no effect or value.
Options for Canaan Common Stock, as reflected on Schedule 1.6 of the Canaan
Disclosure Schedule, which are properly exercised prior to the Effective Time
shall be included in the Canaan Common Stock and shall be converted into Merger
Consideration at the Effective Time.

1.7 CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION. At the Effective Time, the Certificate of
Incorporation of Salisbury, as in effect at the Effective Time, shall be the
Certificate of Incorporation of the Surviving Corporation.

1.8 BYLAWS. At the Effective Time, the Bylaws of Salisbury, as in effect
immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall be the Bylaws of the Surviving
Corporation.

1.9 DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS. At the Effective Time, the directors and officers of
Salisbury immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the directors and
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officers of the Surviving Corporation. As of the Effective Time, Salisbury shall
increase the size of its Board of Directors by two (2) members, and thereupon
Salisbury shall invite two (2) of the current independent Directors of Canaan to
serve as directors of Salisbury and Salisbury Bank until the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be held in 2005, at which time they shall be nominated to serve
as members of the Board of Directors of Salisbury and Salisbury Bank for a
period to terminate no earlier than the annual meeting of Salisbury stockholders
next following the second anniversary of the Effective Time; provided, however,
that Salisbury shall have no obligation to invite any person to serve on
Salisbury or Salisbury Bank's Boards of Directors if they are not members in
good standing of Canaan's Board of Directors immediately prior to the Effective
Time.

1.10 TAX CONSEQUENCES. It is intended that the Merger shall constitute a
reorganization within the meaning of Section 368 (a) of the Code, and that this
Agreement shall constitute a "plan of reorganization" for the purposes of the
Code.

1.11 ACCOUNTING TREATMENT. It is intended that the Merger shall be accounted for
as a "purchase transaction" under generally accepted accounting principles
("GAAP") .

ARTICLE II
EXCHANGE OF SHARES

2.1 SALISBURY TO MAKE MERGER CONSIDERATION AVAILABLE. At or prior to the
Effective Time, Salisbury shall deposit, or shall cause to be deposited, with
the Exchange Agent for the benefit of the holders of Certificates, for exchange
in accordance with this Article II, certificates representing the shares of
Salisbury Common Stock and the cash sufficient in the aggregate for the Exchange
Agent to make full payment of the Merger Consideration (such cash and
certificates for shares of Salisbury Common Stock, being hereinafter referred to
as the "Exchange Fund") to be issued pursuant to Section 1.4 and paid pursuant
to Section 2.2(a). There shall be a written agreement between Salisbury and the
Exchange Agent in which the Exchange Agent expressly undertakes the obligations
to pay the Merger Consideration as provided herein. Canaan shall have the right
to review the agreement with the Exchange Agent prior to its execution.

2.2 EXCHANGE.

(a) As soon as practicable after the Effective Time, the Exchange Agent shall
mail to each holder of record of a Certificate or Certificates a form letter of
transmittal (which shall specify that delivery shall be effected, and risk of
loss and title to the Certificates shall pass, only upon delivery of the
Certificates to the Exchange Agent) and

instructions for use in effecting the surrender of the Certificates in exchange
for the Merger Consideration and the cash in lieu of fractional shares into
which the shares of Canaan Common Stock represented by such Certificate or
Certificates shall have been converted pursuant to this Agreement. Canaan shall
have the right to review both the letter of transmittal and the instructions
prior to such documents being finalized. Upon surrender of a Certificate for
exchange and cancellation to the Exchange Agent, together with such letter of
transmittal, duly executed, the holder of such Certificate shall be entitled to
receive promptly in exchange therefor (x) a certificate representing that number
of whole shares of Salisbury Common Stock and cash to which such holder of
Canaan Common Stock shall have become entitled pursuant to the provisions of
Article I hereof and (y) a check representing the Cash Consideration and the
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amount of cash in lieu of fractional shares, if any, which such holder has the
right to receive in respect of the Certificate surrendered pursuant to the
provisions of Article I, and the Certificate so surrendered shall forthwith be
canceled. No interest will be paid or accrued on the cash and unpaid dividends
and distributions, if any, payable to holders of Certificates.

(b) No dividends or other distributions declared after the Effective Time with
respect to Salisbury Common Stock and payable to the holders of record thereof
shall be paid to the holder of any unsurrendered Certificate until the holder
thereof shall surrender such Certificate in accordance with this Article ITI.
After the surrender of a Certificate in accordance with this Article II, the
record holder thereof shall be entitled to receive any such dividends or other
distributions, without any interest thereon, which theretofore had become
pavable with respect to shares of Salisbury Common Stock represented by such
Certificate. No holder of an unsurrendered Certificate shall be entitled, until
the surrender of such Certificate, to vote the shares of Salisbury Common Stock
into which the Canaan Common Stock shall have been converted.

(c) If any certificate representing shares of Salisbury Common Stock is to be
issued in a name other than that in which the Certificate surrendered in
exchange therefor is registered, it shall be a condition of the issuance thereof
that the Certificate so surrendered shall be properly endorsed (or accompanied
by an appropriate instrument of transfer) and otherwise in proper form for
transfer, and that the person requesting such exchange shall pay to the Exchange
Agent in advance any transfer or other taxes required by reason of the issuance
of a certificate representing shares of Salisbury Common Stock in any name other
than that of the registered holder of the Certificate surrendered, or shall
establish to the satisfaction of the Exchange Agent that such tax has been paid
or is not payable.

(d) As of the close of business on the day immediately prior to the Effective
Time, there shall be no transfers on the stock transfer books of Canaan of the
shares of Canaan Common Stock which were issued and outstanding immediately
prior to the Effective Time. If, after the Effective Time, Certificates
representing such shares are presented for transfer to the Exchange Agent, they
shall be canceled and exchanged for certificates representing shares of
Salisbury Common Stock as provided in this Article II.

(e) Any portion of the Exchange Fund that remains unclaimed by the shareholders
of Canaan for six months after the Effective Time shall be returned to
Salisbury. After such funds have been returned to Salisbury, any shareholders of
Canaan who have not theretofore complied with this Article II shall thereafter
look only to Salisbury for payment of the Merger Consideration, cash in lieu of
fractional shares and unpaid dividends and distributions on Salisbury Common
Stock deliverable in respect of each share of Canaan Common Stock such
shareholder holds as determined pursuant to this Agreement, in each case,
without any interest thereon. Notwithstanding the foregoing, none of Salisbury,
Canaan, the Exchange Agent or any other person shall be liable to any former
holder of shares of Canaan Common Stock for any amount properly delivered to a
public official pursuant to applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar
laws.

(f) In the event any Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon
the making of an affidavit of that fact by the person claiming such Certificate
to be lost, stolen or destroyed and, if required by Salisbury, the posting by
such person of a bond in such amount as Salisbury may reasonably direct as
indemnity against any claim that may be made against it with respect to such
Certificate, the Exchange Agent will issue in exchange for such lost, stolen or
destroyed Certificate the shares of Salisbury Common Stock and cash in lieu of
fractional shares deliverable in respect thereof pursuant to this Agreement.

2.3 DISCLOSURE SCHEDULE. Prior to the execution and delivery hereof, Canaan has
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delivered to Salisbury a schedule (the "Canaan Disclosure Schedule"), and
Salisbury has delivered to Canaan a schedule (the "Salisbury Disclosure
Schedule"), in each case setting forth, among other things, items of which

disclosure is necessary or appropriate either in response to an express
disclosure requirement contained in a provision hereof or as an

exception to one or more of such party's representations or warranties contained
in Articles III or IV, as applicable, or to one or more of its covenants
contained in Article V; provided, however, that the mere inclusion of an item in
a Disclosure Schedule as an exception to a representation or warranty shall not
be deemed an admission by a party that such item represents a material exception
or fact, event or circumstance or that such item has had or would have a
Material Adverse Effect (as defined in Section 9.13) with respect to such party.

2.4 STANDARDS. No representation or warranty of Canaan contained in Article III
or of Salisbury contained in Article IV shall be deemed untrue or incorrect for
any purpose under this Agreement, and no party hereto shall be deemed to have
breached a representation or warranty for any purpose under this Agreement, as a
consequence of the existence or absence of any fact, circumstance or event
unless such fact, circumstance or event, individually or when taken together
with all other facts, circumstances or events inconsistent with any
representations or warranties contained in Article III, in the case of Canaan,
or Article IV, in the case of Salisbury, has had or would be reasonably certain
to have a Material Adverse Effect with respect to Canaan or Salisbury,
respectively.

ARTICLE III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF CANAAN

Canaan hereby makes the following representations and warranties to Salisbury as
set forth in this Article III, each of which is being relied upon by Salisbury
as a material inducement to enter into and perform this Agreement. All of the
disclosure schedules of Canaan referenced below and thereby required of Canaan
pursuant to this Agreement, which disclosure schedules shall be cross-referenced
to the specific sections and subsections of this Agreement and delivered
herewith, are referred to herein as the "Canaan Disclosure Schedule."

3.1 CORPORATE ORGANIZATION.

(a) Canaan is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good
standing under the laws of the State of Delaware. Canaan has the corporate power
and authority to own or lease all of its properties and assets and to carry on
its business as it is now being conducted, and is duly licensed or qualified to
do business in each jurisdiction in which the nature of its business conducted
by it or the character or location of any properties or assets owned or leased
by it makes such licensing or qualification necessary. Canaan is duly registered
as a bank holding company with the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
System ("FRB") under the Banking Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended
("BHCA") . The Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of Canaan, copies of which
are included in Section 3.1 (a) of the Canaan Disclosure Schedule, are true,
correct and complete copies of such documents as in effect as of the date of
this Agreement.

(b) Canaan National Bank is a national bank duly organized and validly existing
and in good standing under the laws of the United States of America. The deposit
accounts of Canaan National Bank are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (the "FDIC") through the Bank Insurance Fund (the "BIF") to the
fullest extent permitted by law, and all premiums and assessments required in
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connection therewith have been paid by Canaan National Bank. CNB Insurance
Agency, Inc., is the only Subsidiary of Canaan National Bank, and other than
Canaan National Bank, Canaan has no subsidiaries. Canaan National Bank has the
corporate power and authority to own or lease all of its properties and assets
and to carry on its business as it is now being conducted and is duly licensed
or qualified to do business in each jurisdiction in which the nature of its
business conducted by it or the character or the location of any properties or
assets owned or leased by it makes such licensing or qualification necessary.
The Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws of each of Canaan National Bank, and
CNB Insurance Agency, Inc., copies of which have previously been delivered to
Salisbury, are true, correct and complete copies of such documents as in effect
as of the date of this Agreement.

3.2 CAPITALIZATION.

(a) The authorized capital stock of Canaan consists of 3,000,000 shares of
Canaan Common Stock. As of the date hereof, there are: (x) 177,418 shares of
Canaan Common Stock issued and outstanding and no shares of Canaan Common Stock
are held in Canaan's treasury; (y) 15,290 shares of Canaan Common Stock reserved
for issuance upon exercise of outstanding stock options under the Canaan Stock
Plans; and (z) 48,000 shares of Canaan Common Stock reserved for issuance upon
exercise of the option to be issued to Salisbury pursuant to the Option
Agreement. As of the date hereof, no shares of Canaan Preferred Stock are
outstanding. All of the issued and outstanding shares of Canaan Common Stock
have been duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid, nonassessable
and free of

preemptive rights, with no personal liability attaching to the ownership
thereof. Except for the Option Agreement and outstanding options under the
Canaan Stock Plans, Canaan does not have and is not bound by any outstanding
subscriptions, options, warrants, calls, commitments or agreements of any
character calling for the purchase or issuance of any shares of Canaan Common
Stock or Canaan Preferred Stock or any other equity security of Canaan or any
securities representing the right to purchase or otherwise receive any shares of
Canaan Common Stock or any other equity security of Canaan. The names of the
optionees, the date of each option to purchase Canaan Common Stock granted, the
number of shares subject to each such option, the expiration date of each such
option, and the price at which each such option may be exercised under the
Canaan Stock Plans are set forth in Section 3.2 (a) of the Canaan Disclosure
Schedule. Except as set forth at Section 3.2(a) of the Canaan Disclosure
Schedule, since December 31, 2002 Canaan has not issued any shares of its
capital stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable for any shares
of its capital stock, other than pursuant to the exercise of director or
employee stock options granted under the Canaan Stock Plans.

(b) Section 3.2 (b) of the Canaan Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true, correct
and complete list of all direct or indirect Subsidiaries of Canaan as of the
date of this Agreement. Except as set forth at Section 3.2 (b) of the Canaan
Disclosure Schedule, Canaan owns, directly or indirectly, all of the issued and
outstanding shares of capital stock of each of its Subsidiaries, free and clear
of all liens, charges, encumbrances and security interests whatsoever, and all
of such shares are duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid,
nonassessable and free of preemptive rights, with no personal liability
attaching to the ownership thereof. No Canaan Subsidiary has or is bound by any
outstanding subscriptions, options, warrants, calls, commitments or agreements
of any character calling for the purchase or issuance of any shares of capital
stock or any other equity security of such Subsidiary or any securities
representing the right to purchase or otherwise receive any shares of capital
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stock or any other equity security of such Subsidiary.
3.3 AUTHORITY; NO VIOLATION.

(a) Canaan has full corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this
Agreement and the Option Agreement and to consummate the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution and delivery of this Agreement
and the Option Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby and thereby have been duly and validly approved by the Board of Directors
of Canaan. The Board of Directors of Canaan has directed that this Agreement and
the transactions contemplated hereby be submitted to Canaan's shareholders for
approval at a meeting of such shareholders and, except for the adoption of this
Agreement by the requisite vote of Canaan's shareholders, no other corporate
proceedings on the part of Canaan (except for matters related to setting the
date, time, place and record date for the meeting) are necessary to approve this
Agreement or the Option Agreement or to consummate the transactions contemplated
hereby or thereby. This Agreement has been, and the Option Agreement will be,
duly and validly executed and delivered by Canaan and (assuming due
authorization, execution and delivery by Salisbury of this Agreement and by
Salisbury of the Option Agreement) will constitute valid and binding obligations
of Canaan, enforceable against Canaan in accordance with their terms, except as
enforcement may be limited by general principles of equity whether applied in a
court of law or a court of equity and by bankruptcy, insolvency and similar laws
affecting creditors' rights and remedies generally.

(b) Canaan National Bank has full corporate power and authority to execute and
deliver the Subsidiary Bank Merger Agreement and to consummate the transactions
contemplated thereby. The execution and delivery of the Subsidiary Bank Merger
Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby have
been duly and validly approved by the Board of Directors of Canaan National Bank
and by Canaan as the sole shareholder of Canaan National Bank. All corporate
proceedings on the part of Canaan National Bank necessary to consummate the
transactions contemplated thereby will have been taken prior to the Effective
Time. The Subsidiary Bank Merger Agreement, upon execution and delivery by
Canaan National Bank, will be duly and validly executed and delivered by Canaan
National Bank and will (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by
Salisbury Bank) constitute a valid and binding obligation of Canaan National
Bank, enforceable against Canaan National Bank in accordance with its terms,
except as enforcement may be limited by general principles of equity, whether
applied in a court of law or a court of equity, and by bankruptcy, insolvency
and similar laws affecting creditors' rights and remedies generally.

(c) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Option
Agreement by Canaan or the Subsidiary Bank Merger Agreement by Canaan National
Bank, nor the consummation by Canaan or Canaan National Bank, as the case may
be, of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, nor compliance by Canaan
or Canaan

National Bank with any of the terms or provisions hereof or thereof, will (i)
violate any provision of the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws of Canaan or
the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws of Canaan National Bank, or (ii)
assuming that the consents and approvals referred to in Section 3.4 hereof are
duly obtained, (x) violate any Laws (as defined in Section 9.13) applicable to
Canaan or Canaan National Bank, or any of their respective properties or assets,
or (y) violate, conflict with, result in a breach of any provision of or the
loss of any benefit under, constitute a default (or an event which, with notice
or lapse of time, or both, would constitute a default) under, result in the
termination of or a right of termination or cancellation under, accelerate the
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performance required by, or result in the creation of any lien, pledge, security
interest, charge or other encumbrance upon any of the respective properties or
assets of Canaan or Canaan National Bank under, any of the terms, conditions or
provisions of any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, deed of trust, license,
lease, agreement or other instrument or obligation to which Canaan or Canaan
National Bank is a party, or by which they or any of their respective properties
or assets may be bound or affected, except in the case of clause (ii) for such
matters as would not, individually or in the aggregate, be reasonably expected
to have a Material Adverse Effect on Canaan or Canaan National Bank or any
Subsidiaries of either, or materially impair their ability to consummate the
transactions contemplated by the Agreement.

3.4 CONSENTS AND APPROVALS.

(a) Except for (i) the filing of applications and notices, as applicable, as to
the Merger with the FRB under the BHCA and with the Office of the Comptroller of
the Currency (the "OCC") or the FDIC with respect to the Bank Merger Act, as to
the Bank Merger with Salisbury Bank, (ii) the filing of applications and notices
with the Banking Commissioner of the State of Connecticut (the "Connecticut
Commissioner"), as well as any other applications and notices to state officials
related to the Merger and the Bank Merger (the "State Banking Approvals"), (iii)
the filing with the Connecticut Commissioner of an acquisition statement
pursuant to Section 36a-184 of the Banking Law of the State of Connecticut prior
to the acquisition of more than 10% of Canaan Common Stock pursuant to the
Option Agreement, 1f not exempt, (iv) the filing of any required applications or
notices with the FDIC and OCC as to any subsidiary activities of Canaan National
Bank which becomes a service corporation or operating subsidiary of Salisbury
Bank and approval of such applications and notices, (v) the filing with the
United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") of a registration
statement on Form S-4 by Salisbury to register the shares of Salisbury Common
Stock to be issued in connection with the Merger (including the shares of
Salisbury Common Stock that may be issued upon the exercise of the options
referred to in Section 1.5 hereof), which will include the Proxy
Statement/Prospectus to be used in soliciting the approval of shareholders of
Canaan at a meeting to be held in connection with this Agreement and the
transactions contemplated hereby (the "Proxy Statement/Prospectus"), (vi) the
filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of the State of
Connecticut pursuant to the Connecticut Corporation Law; (vii) the filing of the
Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of the State of Delaware pursuant to
the DGCL, (viii) the filing of the Subsidiary Bank Merger Agreement with the
FDIC, Connecticut Commissioner and the Secretary of the State of Connecticut,
(ix) such filings and approval as may be required to be made or obtained under
the securities or "Blue Sky" laws of various states or with Nasdag (or such
other exchange as may be applicable), (x) the filing of the required application
and notices to American Stock Exchange ("AMEX"), and (xi) such filings,
authorizations or approvals as may be set forth in Section 3.4 (a) of the Canaan
Disclosure Schedule, no consents or approvals of or filings or registrations
with any court, administrative agency or commission or other governmental
authority or instrumentality (each a "Governmental Entity"), or with any third
party are necessary in connection with (1) the execution and delivery by Canaan
of this Agreement and the Option Agreement, (2) the consummation by Canaan of
the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, (3) the execution and
delivery by Canaan National Bank of the Subsidiary Bank M